
 

1 
 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting Homes for Londoners 

Date Tuesday 13 June 2017 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Committee Room 5, City Hall,           
The Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

 
Agendas and summary minutes of the meetings of the Homes for Londoners Board will be published on the 
GLA’s website at https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngovmb/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=423 
(except in those cases where information in the papers may be exempt from disclosure under the Freedom of 
Information Act). Meetings of the Board will not be held in public and are only open to those invited to attend 
by the Chair. 

 
Members of the Homes for Londoners Board: 
Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London (Chair) 
James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development (Deputy Chair) 
Mark Boleat, Vice-Chair, London Councils 
Mike Brown MVO, Commissioner, Transport for London 
Hugh Bullock, Chairman, Gerald Eve 
Mayor Sir Steve Bullock, Lead Member for Housing, London Councils 
Cllr Ravi Govindia CBE, Conservative Group Lead on Housing, London Councils 
Cllr Claire Kober OBE, Chair, London Councils 
David Lunts, Executive Director, Housing and Land, GLA 
David Montague CBE, Chair, g15 
Liz Peace CBE 

 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 
 The Chair to invite Board members to declare any interests which they may have in any of the 

items set out on the agenda. 
 
[Note: In accordance with the GLA’s Code of Ethics for staff, officers must make a declaration 
of interest on any issue on which they are advising the Mayor which affects an interest held 
by them - or any person related to them or with whom they have a close personal relationship 
whether financial or otherwise - and ensure that the details are recorded in the Authority’s 
Register of Interests.] 
 
 

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngovmb/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=423


2 
 

3 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 28 March 2017 (Part reserved)  
(Pages 1 - 10) 

 
 

4 Actions Arising (Pages 11 - 12) 

 
 

5 Engagement with the New Government (Pages 13 - 14) 

 
 

6 London Housing Strategy (Part reserved) (Pages 15 - 20) 

 
 

7 Homes for Londoners Affordable Homes Programme 2016-21: 2017 
Bidding Round (Pages 21 - 22) 

 
 

8a New Delivery Models: Homes for Londoners Sub-Group Report  
(Pages 23 - 40) 

 
 

8b Overseas Investment: Homes for Londoners Sub-Group Report  
 (Pages 41 - 136) 
 
 

8c Skills and Capacity of the Construction Industry: Homes for Londoners 
 Sub-Group Update (Pages 137 - 142) 
 
 

9 New Homes for Londoners Sub-Groups (Pages 143 - 144) 

 
 

10 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Homes for Londoners Board is scheduled for Thursday 21 September 

at 10:00am in Committee Room 4 at City Hall. 
 
 

11 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting Homes for Londoners Board 
Date Thursday 28 March 2017 
Time 10.00am 
Place Committee Room 5, City Hall,      

The Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Agendas and summary minutes of the meetings of the Homes for Londoners Board will be published on  
the GLA’s website:https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngovmb/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=423 
(except in those cases where information in the papers may be exempt from disclosure under the 
Freedom of Information Act).  
 

Present 
Members: 
James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development (in the Chair) 
David Lunts, GLA Executive Director for Housing and Land 
Mark Boleat, Vice Chair, London Councils 
Hugh Bullock, Chairman, Gerald Eve 
Mayor Sir Steve Bullock, Lead Member for Housing, London Councils 
Cllr Ravi Govindia CBE, Conservative Group Lead on Housing, London Councils 
Cllr Claire Kober OBE, Chair, London Councils 
David Montague CBE, Chair, g15 
Liz Peace CBE 
 
Others in attendance: 
Graeme Craig, Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London 
Jamie Ratcliff, GLA Assistant Director – Programme, Policy and Services 
Simon Powell, GLA Assistant Director – Strategic Projects and Property 
Dick Sorabji, Corporate Director (Policy & Public Affairs), London Councils 
Jennifer Peters, GLA Strategic Planning Manager 
Ed Williams, GLA Monitoring Officer (Clerk) 
 
 

1     Apologies and Chair's Announcements  

 
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London (as Chair of the 

Board) and Mike Brown MVO, Commissioner, Transport for London (TfL). 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngovmb/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=423


Greater London Authority 
Homes for Londoners Board 

28 March 2017 

 

2   Declarations of Interest  

 
2.1   There were no declarations of pecuniary interests.  
 
 

3  
 
3.1 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 December 2016 (Part reserved)  
 
It was noted that Mark Boleat should have been referred to as Vice Chair of London 
Councils. 

 
DECISION: 
That, subject to correcting Mark Boleat’s title, the minutes of the meeting of the 
Board held on 8 December 2016 be agreed as a correct record. 

4  
 
4.1 
 
 
 

5 

Actions Arising 
 
DECISION: 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

Board Terms of Reference 
 

5.1 The Deputy Chair and Clerk confirmed that the changes proposed in the paper were in 
response to Board members’ comments at the previous meeting and to reflect that the 
Deputy Mayor’s Housing Investment and Policy Panel’s focus as a forum for GLA/Councils 
liaison offered a forum where the planned business for each Homes for Londoners Board 
meeting would be discussed prior to being determined. 

 
5.2   DECISION: 

That, subject to revising the reference to borough leaders to “four borough 
representatives (nominated by London Councils)”, the revised draft terms of 
reference were approved. 

Action: Clerk 
 

 

6   Towards a New London Housing Strategy and London Plan 

 
6.1 Jamie Ratcliff, GLA Assistant Director for Programme Policy and Services, introduced the 

paper. Jennifer Peters, Strategic Planning Manager, then gave a presentation to the Board.  
 

6.2 DECISION: 
 

That the presentation be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



Greater London Authority 
Homes for Londoners Board 

28 March 2017 

 

7  Increasing Land Supply through joint GLA – Housing Association 
Initiatives 
 

7.1 David Montague introduced the paper. 
 
7.2 DECISION: 

 
That the paper be noted. 

 
 

8 Homes for Londoners Sub-Group updates 
 

8.1 Jamie Ratcliff introduced the paper, and then Liz Peace CBE, Hugh Bullock and Mayor Sir 
Steve Bullock gave oral updates on the work of each of the sub-groups. 

 
8.2 DECISION: 

 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

9  Dates of Next Meeting 

 
9.1 It was noted that the next meeting of the Homes for Londoners Board was scheduled for 

Tuesday 13 June 2017 at 10.00am in Committee Room 5, City Hall. 
 
 

10  Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  

 
10.1 There were no items of urgent business. 
 
 

11  Close of Meeting 

 
11.1 The meeting closed at 11.57am. 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Ed Williams, Clerk to the Board,  

Telephone: 020 7983 4399, Email: ed.williams@london.gov.uk  
 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 5

This paper is reserved from publication as it is considered 
that it may be exempt from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act.



This page is intentionally left blank



Homes for Londoners Board 
 
 
Date of meeting: 13 June 2017 
  
Title of paper: Actions Arising 
  
To be presented by: Ed Williams, Clerk to the Board 
  
Cleared by: James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and 

Residential Development and  
Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director –Programme, Policy 
and Services (on behalf of David Lunts, Executive 
Director of Housing & Land) 

  
Classification: Public 
 
 
1 Executive Summary  
 
1.1 This report updates the Board on actions arising from its previous meetings. 

  
 

2 Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the update on actions arising from the previous meetings be noted. 
 
 
3 Actions Arising from previous meetings 

 
3.1 Actions arising from the meeting on 8 December 2016. 

 

Agenda Item Action Status 

8. Executive 
Director’s Report 

It was agreed that the progress on TfL sites 
would be included within future reports. 

Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director, Policy 
Programme and Services 

 

In progress: 
A set of key 
performance indicators 
is being developed to 
cover the housing and 
land activity of the 
GLA group (including 
TfL). 
 

 
3.2 Actions arising from the meeting on 28 March 2017. 
 

Agenda Item Action Status 

5. Board Terms 
of Reference 
 

Reference to borough leaders to be revised 
to read “four borough representatives 
(nominated by London Councils)”. 
Ed Williams, Clerk 

Complete:  
Final Terms of 
Reference published 
on Homes for 
Londoners web page.  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 
4 Financial Comments  

 
4.1 None directly arising from the recommendations outlined in this report. 
 

 
5 Next Steps 

 
5.1 Outlined elsewhere within this report. 
 
 
Appendices: 
None. 

Page 12



Homes for Londoners Board 

Date of meeting: 13 June 2017 

Title of paper: Engagement with the New Government 

To be presented by: David Lunts, Executive Director of Housing & Land 

Cleared by:  James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and 
Residential Development and  
Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director –Programme, Policy 
and Services (on behalf of David Lunts, Executive 
Director of Housing & Land) 
 

Classification: Public  
 

1 Executive Summary  

1.1 By the date of this Board meeting the outcome of the general election of 8 
June 2017 will be known.  A presentation on the housing policies in the 
relevant manifesto(s) will be given at the meeting. 
 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 The Board is asked to: 

a) Note the presentation given at the meeting; and 

b) Discuss how best to engage with the new Government on shared housing 
priorities. 
 

3 Introduction and Background 

3.1 On 18 April 2017 the Prime Minister proposed that a General Election should 
be held on 8 June 2017.   This was approved by Parliament on 19 April 2017. 

3.2 A presentation will be given at the meeting setting out the main housing-
related policies of the winning party (or parties in case of a hung parliament or 
coalition). Both the Labour and Conservative parties devoted more attention 
to housing in their manifestos for this election than has been the case for 
decades, in line with the increased prominence of the issue in both public 
polling and political debate.  
 

4 Objectives & Expected Outcomes 

4.1 Not applicable. 

 

Appendices: 
None. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Homes for Londoners Board 

Date of meeting: 13 June 2017 

Title of paper: London Housing Strategy 

To be presented by: James Clark, Housing Policy Manager 

Cleared by:  James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and 
Residential Development and  
Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director –Programme, Policy 
and Services (on behalf of David Lunts, Executive 
Director of Housing & Land) 
 

Classification: Public (with reserved appendix: information to be 
published at a later date) 

 

1 Executive Summary  

1.1 GLA officers are preparing a draft London Housing Strategy (LHS) for 
consultation with the public. This is due to be published in early August 2017. 
Following a detailed discussion at the 28 March 2017 Board meeting about the 
issues the draft Strategy should address, this item provides an update on 
progress. A presentation will also be provided at the meeting.  Board members 
will have an opportunity to see the draft Strategy before it is published. 
 

2 Recommendations 

2.1 The Board is asked to: 

a) Note the paper and the presentation given at the meeting; and 

b) Provide any further feedback to assist officers in preparing the draft 
Strategy. 
 

3 Introduction and Background 

3.1 At its 28 March 2017 meeting, the Board considered a paper that set out the 
key housing challenges and opportunities that the draft London Housing 
Strategy and draft London Plan need to address. Board members provided 
extensive, detailed feedback on the draft paper. This is summarised below, 
along with details of how the draft Strategy will respond.  

3.2 While work is underway, a detailed structure of the draft Strategy has been 
agreed and is provided as an appendix to this paper (reserved from publication). 

3.3 The GLA has established a steering group, made up of representatives of the 
Board and other organisations, to provide feedback and discuss issues pertinent 
to development of the draft Strategy. The steering group has considered a 
range of issues and its feedback will be taken into account in preparing the 
draft Strategy. There are a small number of topics that would benefit from fuller 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



discussion at the Board. These will be covered by the presentation to be given 
at the meeting.  

3.4 The statutory process for writing and consulting on the draft London Plan is 
considerably lengthier than for the draft London Housing Strategy. It is 
therefore proposed that the former is discussed again by the Board at its 
September meeting.  
 
 

4 Issues for Consideration - Feedback from 28 March 2017 Board Meeting 

4.1 Key themes discussed at the previous meeting, and how we will address these, 
are summarised in table 1 below. 

Theme Our response 

The draft Strategy should 
chart a long-term plan to 
solve the housing crisis. 

The draft Strategy needs to set a framework for long-term 
action across multiple political cycles. While the Mayor has a 
statutory duty to include actions he will take, the draft 
Strategy will be written and structured in a way that means it 
remains applicable in the long-term. 

Increasing the number of 
small sites and increasing 
the number of small 
builders are inextricably 
linked. 

The draft Strategy will address both. Since the previous Board 
meeting we have engaged with representatives of smaller 
builders (including the Federation of Master Builders) to 
understand constraints facing their members. 

Good quality homes and 
neighbourhoods are 
central to public 
acceptance of more 
housing supply. 

We will structure the draft Strategy so that an entire chapter is 
dedicated to ensuring that new homes and neighbourhoods 
are good quality, inclusive and sustainable, and that public 
concerns about new housing supply (such as impact of 
overseas buyers, and lack of social infrastructure) are 
addressed head-on.  

Town centre regeneration 
presents a big 
opportunity to support 
housing delivery. 

Town centre regeneration and intensification is one of the key 
routes through which London will increase its housing supply 
over the medium to long term. The draft Strategy will 
recognise this and propose measures to address the barriers to 
doing so – including split land ownership and infrastructure 
issues.  

Diversifying the 
housebuilding industry 
(including housing 
associations, councils and 
Build to Rent) will help us 
build more homes. 

While the contribution to housing supply made by the current 
major developers is an essential part of new delivery, the draft 
Strategy will make it clear that we need to diversify who builds 
London’s homes. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Availability of land and 
certainty of rent are 
central to increasing 
supply of affordable 
homes. 

The draft Strategy will commit the Mayor to go further than 
any previous Mayor on intervening in the land market to 
support housing delivery, including specific measures to 
support housing associations to access land. It will also call on 
Government to negotiate a long term rent settlement with 
councils and housing associations as soon as possible. 

Getting density right, 
particularly in terms of 
design and quality, is a 
key challenge for London. 

The draft Strategy (and particularly the draft London Plan) 
will set out a new approach to design-led density, recognising 
that getting this right is central to ensuring we retain public 
support for increased housebuilding and we build new 
communities that are sustainable and desirable places to live. 

Unsure about whether the 
draft Strategy should 
concern itself with 
leasehold issues. 

Almost all new homes in London are flats and are therefore 
sold on a leasehold basis. In addition, there are already around 
two million leaseholders in London. Londoners regularly raise 
issues with the quality of advice and information, and unfair 
service charges and ground rents. Both major political parties 
proposed leasehold reform in their manifestos. While the 
Mayor has few formal powers in this area, we believe the draft 
Strategy needs to take a position on this issue of growing 
importance. 

The draft Strategy needs 
to engage with various 
issues relating to 
homelessness. 

Many issues were raised in discussion, including the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, the use of ‘meanwhile’ uses to 
provide accommodation for homeless households, and more 
collaboration to procure private rented accommodation. The 
draft Strategy will encompass all of these issues. 

The draft Strategy should 
address the housing 
needs of older Londoners 

The draft Strategy will include proposals on building new 
homes that are inclusive and accessible to older Londoners, 
including homes that are specifically designed for them or 
come with support to enable older Londoners to live 
independently.  

The issue of whether and 
how to release more 
industrial land for housing 
purposes is vital 

Industrial land has traditionally been a key source of land for 
housing in London, but this needs to be balanced against the 
need to retain employment and space for distribution and 
industry. Mayoral policy on land use will be clarified in the 
forthcoming draft London Plan. 

 

5 Equality Comments 

5.1 In line with statutory requirements, the Mayor’s draft policies will be subject to 
an equalities impact assessment.  
 

6 Key Risks and Issues  

6.1 Not applicable. 

 

Page 17



7 Financial Comments 

7.1 Not applicable. 

 

8 Legal Comments  

8.1 Not applicable. 

 

9 Next steps 

9.1 The next steps following consideration by the Board are summarised below: 

 

Activity Timeline 

Publish the draft London Housing Strategy Late Summer 2017 

 

Appendices: 
Appendix 1- Draft London Housing Strategy structure (reserved from publication).  

Page 18



Document is Restricted

Page 19

This paper is reserved from publication as it is considered 
that it may be exempt from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act.



This page is intentionally left blank



 Homes for Londoners Board 

Date of meeting: 13 June 2017 
 

Title of paper: Homes For Londoners Affordable Homes Programme 
2016-21:  2017 Bidding Round 
 

To be presented by: Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director - Programme, Policy 
and Services 
 

Cleared by:  James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential 
Development and  
Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director –Programme, Policy and 
Services (on behalf of David Lunts, Executive Director of 
Housing & Land) 
 

Classification: Public 
 

1 Executive Summary  

1.1 In the 2016 Autumn Statement, the Mayor successfully secured £3.15bn of 
funding from Government to support delivery of least 90,000 affordable housing 
starts on site by 2021.   

1.2 In November 2016 the Mayor launched the prospectus for his Affordable Homes 
Programme 2016-21, and invited housing providers to submit proposals for GLA 
funding to support schemes to deliver the Mayor’s housing aims and contribute 
towards the target of 90,000 affordable starts by 2021. Bids were received by mid-
April 2017 and assessment of the proposals is ongoing.  The Board will receive a 
presentation summarising bids received and setting out key future issues for the 
programme. 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 The Board is asked to note the paper and presentation. 
  

3 Introduction and Background 

3.1 The Mayor has already announced indicative allocations of 15,000 affordable 
homes through proposed Strategic Partnerships with L&Q and the Hyde Group. 
When combined with existing allocations through other programmes, including 
Housing Zones, this takes expected delivery to approximately half the target of 
90,000 homes by 2021. Further allocations in relation to bids received and with 
other strategic partners are expected to close much of that gap. 

3.2 The level of ambition shown by partners in bidding has been encouraging and 
gives increased confidence in achieving the Mayor’s ambitious affordable housing 
targets. 

3.3 Given the long-term nature of the programme and the fact it is focused on starts 
rather than completions, it has always been the intention to re-open the 
programme for continuous bidding after initial allocations were made.  This 
remains the intention, however given the scale of partner organisations’ ambitions 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



in the initial bidding round, scope for continuous bidding is likely to be more 
limited than initially expected. 

4 Equality Comments 

4.1 No adverse equalities impacts have been identified. The Mayor’s Homes for 
Londoners: Affordable Homes Programme 2016-21 will significantly increase the 
number of affordable homes in London.  The delivery of the Mayor’s 2017-21 
programme will help to implement objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4 of the Mayor’s 
Equalities Framework “Equal Life Chances for All” (June 2014) through the 
creation of new homes and housing products.  
 
 

5 Key Risks and Issues  

5.1 The Mayor has set challenging targets for the delivery of affordable homes.  The 
issues that arise over the delivery period will be reported to the Homes for 
Londoners Board, alongside risk mitigation strategies to address them.  
 

6 Financial Comments 

6.1 Not applicable at this stage. 

 

7 Legal Comments  

7.1 Not applicable at this stage. 

8 Next Steps 

8.1 The indicative next steps are summarised below: 

 

 

 

A 

 

 

 
8.2  An annual profile of targeted delivery will be confirmed in summer 2017 following 

an assessment of proposals from delivery partners. 
 
Appendices 
None. 

Milestone Date 
Assessment of  bid submissions 
 

April - June 2017 

Announcement of first round of allocations 
 

Summer 2017 

Continuous bidding opens 
 

Summer 2017 

Partners in contract 
 

Summer 2017 

End date for project starts on site 
 

31 March 2021 

Page 22



 
 

Homes for Londoners Board 

Date of meeting: 13 June 2017 

Title of paper: New Delivery Models:  Homes for Londoners Sub-Group 
Report 
  

To be presented by: Liz Peace CBE, Chair of the New Delivery Models  
Sub-Group 
 

Cleared by:  James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential 
Development and  
Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director –Programme, Policy and 
Services (on behalf of David Lunts, Executive Director of 
Housing & Land) 
 

Classification: Public 
 

1 Executive Summary  

1.1 The Homes for Londoners Board convened a sub-group to investigate the 
potential of new delivery models to drive an increase in the supply of homes that 
are affordable to ordinary Londoners. This report presents the findings of this 
sub-group.  

1.2 The sub-group considered three possible areas where specific action or 
intervention might improve delivery: 

a) The provision of additional public and private finance through a variety of 
delivery vehicles; 

b) The availability of land of sufficient quantity, quality and in the right 
locations to facilitate the delivery of sufficiently large housing developments 
to be attractive to private sector investors; and 

c) The availability of the appropriate skills to assemble land and to negotiate 
deals between public and private sector landowners and potential finance 
and development partners.  

 
1.3 The sub-group concluded that the availability of finance was not the principal 

problem in achieving the necessary housing numbers in London and that there 
remains additional funding capacity across the public and private sectors to 
finance delivery of large numbers of homes. The real issue was the availability of 
public and private land, at the right price, in the right place, in the hands of 
organisations that are able to build homes at pace. The sub-group agreed the 
private sector could not deliver this without significant change within the current 
operating and legislative contexts for land assembly. The sub-group therefore 
concluded that an increase in site availability could only be delivered through 
further public sector intervention to identify sites, to support the assembly of 
disparate sites and intensification of land uses, to help manage the procurement 
process and to provide the right level of skills needed to affect complex 
negotiations and development deals.  
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8a



 
 

 
 

1.4 The sub-group makes the following recommendations: 

a) Working with the GLA, London boroughs should lead by example to identify 
the potential for assembling disparate public sector sites in their areas into 
larger development opportunities. 

b) As part of the identification of land for housing development, public sector 
bodies should be encouraged to systematically review the potential to 
intensify uses on their own land holdings. They should be required to 
provide to the GLA an audit of sites that shows which land holdings can be 
intensified or released and which cannot for operational or practical reasons. 

c) To support this, the GLA should consider a grant programme to fund the 
identification of public land assembly and intensification opportunities, to be 
supported by a small team at City Hall. 

d) Similarly, public sector bodies should carry out an exercise to identify where 
intensification of private sector land would allow for the delivery of more 
homes. This might be in conjunction with the development of adjacent 
public sector land. A grant programme might also be considered to support 
this activity. 

e) In order to ensure that there are the right skills available to negotiate site 
assembly and potential deals with investors and developers, there is a need 
for a wider pool of suitably qualified individuals to undertake these tasks 
either on behalf of or in support of the boroughs. The sub-group was aware 
of various initiatives already underway at the GLA, London Councils and 
elsewhere. The group recommended that, in order to avoid duplication and 
to ensure skills initiatives are complementary and aligned to achieve land use 
intensification in London, they be coordinated by one body. The GLA, with 
oversight by the Homes for Londoners Board, is well-placed to coordinate 
these initiatives, although it is recognised that the Board will wish to discuss 
this further. 

f) The GLA (overseen by Homes for Londoners Board) should highlight 
guidance and case studies to boroughs on the best ways of dealing with 
problems posed by public procurement arrangements, and particularly 
compliance with the OJEU process.  

g) The GLA (overseen by Homes for Londoners Board) should discuss with 
Government changes to national policy that are needed to allow for more 
effective and faster housing delivery, in particular focusing on the rules 
governing public land disposal and compulsory purchase.   

 
 
2 Recommendations 

2.1 The Board is asked to: 

a) Note the report and the recommendations made by its New Delivery Models 
Sub-Group as set out at paragraph 1.4; and  

b) Discuss how these should be taken forward. 

Page 24



 
 

3 Introduction and Scope 

3.1 There is a clear need to significantly increase the level of housebuilding in 
London and in particular deliver many more genuinely affordable homes, 
contributing towards the Mayor’s long-term strategic aim that half of new homes 
should be genuinely affordable. The current identified level of need is for 49,000 
homes per year and these figures are likely to be revised upwards in the 
forthcoming housing needs assessment.  London is currently only delivering on 
average 55 per cent of the homes needed per year, and this gap between 
housing need and supply is recognised to underpin many of London’s housing 
challenges, including: 

 growing unaffordability of house prices and rents; 

 declining home ownership; 

 growing levels of housing need and homelessness; 

 negative impacts on economic competitiveness and productivity; and 

 changes to London’s social mix. 
 

3.2 The New Delivery Models sub-group was commissioned by the Homes for 
Londoners Board to consider how new business and delivery models may drive an 
increase in and acceleration of the provision of new homes in London. The sub-
group’s Terms of Reference are attached at Appendix 1. The sub-group was 
chaired by Liz Peace CBE and involved a wide group of stakeholders, including 
housebuilders, housing associations, investors, local authorities, London Councils 
and Transport for London (TfL).   
 

3.3 The Terms of Reference for this sub-group were broad, and discussions were 
therefore focussed on specific delivery issues in three key areas:  

a) The provision of additional public and private finance through a variety of 
delivery vehicles; 

b) The availability of land of sufficient quantity, quality and in the right location 
to facilitate the delivery of sufficiently large housing developments to be 
attractive to private sector investors;  

c) The availability of the appropriate skills to assemble land and to negotiate 
deals between public and private sector landowners and potential finance 
and development partners.  

 
3.4 The Memorandum of Understanding on further devolution to London, 

announced alongside the Budget on 8 March 2017, sets out the Government’s 
intention to establish a joint taskforce with the Mayor to pilot a land value 
growth model on a major infrastructure project in London. The sub-group has 
therefore not focussed in depth on this aspect of the Terms of Reference. 
 

3.5 In the context of this report, ‘public sector’ and ‘public sector bodies’ are used to 
describe the wide range of organisations that deliver a government function or 
deliver public service functions to residents. This includes the GLA group, local 
authorities, Government departments and their arms-length public bodies 
(including Network Rail).   

 

Page 25



 
 

3.6 The group identified recommendations in four areas: improving land availability; 
skills and people; knowledge and processes; and London’s powers to deliver. 

 
 
4 Improving Land Availability 
 

The importance of improving land availability 

4.1 The group identified the availability of land in London as the most significant 
barrier to achieving an increase in and acceleration of housing supply in London. 
A shortage of land availability is hampering efforts of local authorities, housing 
associations and private sector housebuilders to deliver the homes that 
Londoners need. It is driving up the cost of development and has led to under-
utilisation of public and private sector development capacity.   
 

4.2 The group agreed that tackling inefficient land use in London could lead to the 
delivery of a significant number of new homes. For example, research by JLL has 
identified the potential to develop 75,000 new homes in London on urban car 
parks.1 Infill sites and rooftop extensions also provide potential for further 
delivery.    

 
4.3 The group therefore agreed the need to focus on increasing the availability of 

public and private land, at the right price in the right places, and getting this 
land into the hands of organisations that want to build homes at pace. The group 
also felt that there was considerable potential for intensification of land uses, on 
both public and private land.     

 
4.4 Private sector developers are operating at their optimal capacity in terms of land 

acquisition, site assembly and land use intensification, given market conditions, 
their business models and regulatory environments. The sub-group therefore 
concluded that a step-change in land availability can currently only be achieved 
by greater public sector intervention.   

 
Better use of public land  

4.5 The group recognised that public land can make an important contribution to 
meeting London’s housing need: the 2013 London Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA) identified capacity for 130,000 homes on public 
land through to 2023. This included a high proportion of GLA-inherited land, 
and the group recognised the progress made by the Mayor in entering into 
contracts on almost all this land with development partners. The group also 
recognised the progress made by the Mayor in unlocking delivery on TfL land, 
including at Kidbrooke (Greenwich), Landmark Court (Southwark), Blackhorse 
Road (Waltham Forest) and Fenwick South (Lambeth), which will collectively 
deliver over 900 homes, 51 per cent of which will be affordable. 
 

4.6 Public land can also play a wider role in enabling land intensification, whilst also 
delivering benefits for the landowner. The group agreed that public land can be 
used to accelerate wider development and increase the delivery of affordable 
homes. Public land is at the core of land assembly models, and the GLA has 
commenced a town centre land assembly pilot with London Borough of 
Redbridge, Swan Housing and Notting Hill Housing Group at Ilford. Bringing 

                                                 
1 JLL (2017): Car park to residential: driving innovation.   

Page 26



 
 

forward public land can also deliver additional benefits for public landowners, 
including long-term revenue streams and affordable key worker housing.   

 
4.7 In order to contribute to meeting London’s housing demand, the sub-group 

recommends that, working with the GLA, London boroughs should lead by 
example to identify the potential for assembling disparate public sector 
sites in their area into larger development opportunities.   

 
4.8 In order to support this, the sub-group agreed that public sector bodies should 

also lead by example by examining how their own land holdings could be most 
efficiently used to bring forward development opportunities. The sub-group 
found that intensification of London’s public land can be constrained by how 
surplus land is defined and identified by landowners. This can lead to retention 
of large numbers of sites which are inefficiently used, and have no prospect of 
redevelopment by the public body. The sub-group endorsed systematic 
approaches, such as that employed by TfL, which focussed on maximising 
development on each site, to include consideration of how operational sites 
could be repurposed for mixed-use through architectural or engineering 
solutions. The sub-group recommends that public sector bodies should be 
encouraged to systematically review the potential to intensify uses on 
their own land holdings. They should be required to provide to the GLA 
an audit of sites that shows which land holdings can be intensified or 
released and which cannot for operational or practical reasons. 

 
4.9 The sub-group notes that bringing forward public sector land for development 

can be challenging. Public landowners do not always engage with the GLA when 
disposing of land and corporate requirements to achieve best value can mean 
that land use is not optimised. The sub-group agreed this must change, and 
supported formalised and regularised engagement with the GLA by London’s 
major public landholders when disposing of land.    

 
4.10 The sub-group recognised that the identification of land assembly and 

intensification opportunities requires resource input. The sub-group heard 
examples of how the One Public Estate (OPE) programme, delivered in 
partnership by the Cabinet Office Government Property Unit and the Local 
Government Association, had brought forward public land for development. OPE 
provides practical and technical support and funding to councils to maximise the 
potential of land holdings. A total of £3.7 million has been allocated to 
programmes in 14 London boroughs through OPE to date (with average funding 
of £56,000 per programme). This funding has identified land opportunities that 
will deliver 8,622 homes by 20262.  

 
4.11 The sub-group agreed that additional grant funding in London has the potential 

to enable and support land use intensification. The sub-group recommends that 
the GLA considers a grant programme to fund the identification of 
public land assembly and intensification opportunities, to be supported 
by a small team at City Hall.    

 
 
 
 

                                                 
2 Government Property Unit, May 2017.  

Page 27



 
 

Private sector land opportunities         

4.12 Whilst public bodies can lead the way by assembling and intensifying the use of 
public land, the sub-group recognised that this could only meet a small 
proportion of London’s total housing need. Better use of private sector land will 
also be essential.    

 
4.13 Collectively, public and private sector organisations hold a vast amount of 

knowledge about the potential for land use intensification and land assembly 
across London. The sub-group agreed that this knowledge needs to be better 
utilised to drive an increase in housebuilding in London. The sub-group 
recommended that public sector bodies should carry out an exercise to 
identify where intensification of private sector land would allow for the 
delivery of more homes. This might be in conjunction with the 
development of adjacent public sector land. A grant programme might 
also be considered to support this activity. 

 
4.14 This exercise should complement and be supported by GLA’s ongoing work to 

build intelligence of development activity and land opportunities across London. 
This work is intended to enable a more proactive brokerage role for the GLA to 
initiate or support interventions to relieve blockages in the land pipeline and 
deliver housing and regeneration.    

 
 
5 Skills and People 
 
5.1 The sub-group found that attracting and retaining staff with the skills to take 

forward development is the most significant resource issue for local authorities 
and housing associations. In particular, the ‘deal-making’ skills required to take 
forward major or complex schemes were thought to be stretched across the 
public sector, hindering land negotiations and efforts to achieve more intensive 
land usage in a timely manner.  The sub-group agreed that there is a need for a 
wider pool of suitably-qualified individuals to undertake these tasks either on 
behalf of, or in support of, the boroughs. 
 

5.2 The sub-group identified a number of initiatives to provide skills and staffing 
resources to  support development, which include: 

a) The Collaborative Delivery Vehicle (CDV) being developed by London 
Councils, on behalf of London boroughs, to increase local authority capacity 
to broker land deals. The vehicle has been conceived as a commercial 
company that would be owned and funded by boroughs, with additional 
investment from the GLA and HCA, to provide advice and consultancy, 
identify land opportunities, undertake brokering of investment deals and 
directly deliver housing through scheme-specific commissioning.   

b) The Public Practice initiative to improve local authority place-making 
capacity, particularly where it supports the delivery of housing. Development 
of this initiative is currently being led by the GLA, in partnership with the 
LGA and East of England LGA. It aims to offer fixed-term placements for 
planning and regeneration practitioners in London and East of England, and 
support collaborative planning and sharing of resources across authorities. It 
also aims to achieve cost savings and greater continuity from a reduction in 
the use of agency staff and short-term commissioning arrangements.   

Page 28



 
 

 
5.3 The sub-group identified potential for overlap in the scope of these initiatives. It 

was agreed that coordination of these resources would deliver better use of 
public resources and would ensure they are aligned with the need to achieve a 
more intensive land use in London.   
 

5.4 The sub-group recognised the importance of compulsory purchase to bring 
forward land where other options had failed, but noted the overall lack of 
capacity across London to exercise these powers. The sub-group agreed that 
establishing a London-hub to focus and share compulsory purchase experience, 
expertise and resource could be of significant benefit and greatly enhance 
capacity. A next step towards this could be for the GLA to explore this as an 
offer to willing boroughs.  

 
5.5 The sub-group recommends that, in order to avoid duplication and to 

ensure skills initiatives are complementary and aligned to achieve land 
use intensification in London, they be coordinated by one body. This is 
referred to hereon as the ‘coordination function’.   

  
5.6 The majority view of the sub-group is that the GLA would be best-placed to 

deliver this coordination function. This would support the delivery of the Mayor’s 
manifesto pledge to work with councils, housing associations and co-operatives 
to help them invest their land and resources effectively. The sub-group further 
suggests that the Homes for Londoners Board should provide oversight given 
that it is a platform for engagement with those with a stake in building new 
homes for Londoners. However, the coordination function could be delivered in a 
number of ways, and it is recognised that the Homes for Londoners Board will 
wish to discuss this further.   

 
 
6 Knowledge and Processes 
 
6.1 Issues relating to public procurement, and particularly requirements under the 

OJEU  were recognised by the sub-group as posing a potential barrier to timely 
development. The sub-group considered approaches to streamline procurement 
processes. This includes the GLA’s London Development Panel, which offers 
development services for public landowners and registered providers through an 
OJEU-procured framework. Joint ventures and investment partnerships provide 
an opportunity for more streamlined public procurement arrangements, and may 
be appropriate where the public body wishes to play an ongoing role in 
development, including by bearing development risk. 

 
6.2 Further information on those delivery models considered by the sub-group is 

presented in Appendix 2. The sub-group recommend that the GLA (overseen 
by the Homes for Londoners Board) should highlight guidance and case 
studies to boroughs on the best ways of dealing with problems posed by 
public procurement arrangements, and particularly compliance with the 
OJEU process.   

 
6.3 The sub-group found that finance was not the principal barrier to land 

intensification:  there remains additional financial resource capacity across the 
sector to deliver homes. The availability of land acts to constrain the allocation of 
this financial resource, which prevents the sector achieving its maximum 

Page 29



 
 

capacity. However, the sub-group recognised that there is scope to further 
discuss housing development finance in London, and that the GLA could help to 
raise awareness of delivery models that may overcome potential barriers to 
development.   

 
 
7 London’s Powers to Deliver 
 
7.1 The sub-group also identified potential constraints on land intensification and 

the delivery of homes in the capital. These include:  

a) Compulsory purchase powers and processes. The sub-group heard that this 
process can be resource-intensive and time consuming, and that there is 
scope for streamlining compulsory purchase of public land. 

b) Legislation requiring public bodies to achieve best consideration when 
disposing of land. The sub-group heard that relaxing this legislation would 
enable sites to be brought forward to deliver housing where this is not the 
most viable use, and in particular could support the delivery of affordable 
housing.   

c) Public land disposal powers in London. The sub-group notes that the GLA 
does not have the same powers as the HCA in England to coordinate the 
disposals of non-operational public land.   

 
7.2 The sub-group recommended that the GLA (overseen by Homes for 

Londoners Board) should discuss with Government changes to national 
policy that are needed to allow for more effective and faster housing 
delivery.   
 
 

8 Equality comments 
 

8.1 The recommendations of the sub-group seek to increase the supply of housing in 
London.  This will help to address problems such as overcrowding and 
homelessness, which evidence indicates disproportionately affect specific groups, 
including Black and Minority Ethnic groups3 and women4. The delivery of high-
quality housing will also promote improved health and wellbeing, given evidence 
of an association between poor housing conditions and poor health.5     
     

8.2 Increasing the supply of affordable housing will help to alleviate poverty. Specific 
protected groups are more likely to experience poverty, including households 
headed by minority ethnic individuals, young people and disabled people, 
refugee and asylum seekers, travellers and gypsy groups, and workless 
households.6    

 
8.3 The Mayor’s policies for housing will be published in the draft London Housing 

Strategy and draft London Plan, both of which will be subject to equality impact 
assessment.   

                                                 
3 DCLG (2016): statutory data on homelessness,  
4 ibid 
5 Shelter (2013): People living in bad housing; Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2004): the impact of 
overcrowding on health and education;  
6 Equality and Human Rights Commission (2016): Is England fair: the state of equalities and human rights 

Page 30



 
 

 
 

9 Next Steps 
 

9.1 Homes for Londoners Board is asked to consider the recommendations outlined 
in this report and direct further work as appropriate.   
 
 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1 -  Terms of reference: Homes for Londoners Board sub-group – New delivery 
models 

Appendix 2 -   Delivery models and case studies identified by the New Delivery Models 
sub-group  

 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

Membership: Homes for Londoners Board sub-group – New Delivery 

Models 

 
 
1. Liz Peace CBE (Chair) 

 
2. Dominic Grace (Head of London Residential Development, Savills) 
 
3. Adam Challis (Head of UK Residential Research, JLL) 

 
4. Waqar Ahmed (Group Director of Finance, L&Q) 

 
5. Jennie Daley, (UK Director of Planning, Taylor Wimpey) 

 
6. Jon Di-Stefano (Chief Executive, Telford Homes) 

 
7. Alan Collett (Executive Chairman, Hearthstone Investments) 

 
8. Andrew Pratt (Senior Advisor, Housing Growth Partnership) 

 
9. Ben Denton (Group Director, Strategy and Business Development, Keepmoat) 

 
10. Jonathan Goring (Managing Director, Lovell) 

 
11. Charlie Ferguson-Davie (Chief Investment Officer, Moorfield) 

 
12. Pete Gladwell (Head of Public Sector Partnerships, Legal and General) 

 
13. Gerald Almeroth (Strategic Director – Resources, London Borough of Sutton) 

 
14. Andrew Sivess (Group Manager Assets & Funding, London Borough of Barking and 

Dagenham) 
 

15. Joanna Killian (Partner and Head of Local Government, KPMG) 
 

16. Robbie Erbmann (Head of Housing Strategy, TfL) 
 

  

Page 33



 
 

 

Terms of reference: Homes for Londoners Board sub-group – new 
delivery models 
 
Context 
 

The long-standing gap between London’s housing requirements and its level of new 
supply suggest that the existing set of housing delivery models are insufficient to meet 
London’s needs.  
 
The ‘pipeline’ of permitted units either under construction or not started continues to 
grow, but delivery is constrained by sales rates (speculative developers), affordable 
housing subsidy (housing associations and councils), or land (Build for Rent providers and 
others?).  
 
Whilst the planning system is approving large numbers of units, the process remains time-
consuming, uncertain and oppositional. Finally, the public sector is unable to capture 
more than a fraction of the land value growth that results from its own investment.  
 

Issues for consideration by the sub-group 
 

 What new business models would drive an increase in housing supply? 

 How could joint ventures between public and private sector be used to increase 

and/or accelerate delivery? 

 What funding/delivery models could enable the public sector to capture land 

value growth as a result of transport or other public sector investment? 

Outputs 
The sub-group should prepare a report for the Board highlighting their findings, with a 
particular focus on which delivery models are worth piloting or investigating further, and 
what legislative or other changes might be required to take them forward.  
 

Who needs to be involved? 
 

It is suggested that Liz Peace chair this sub-group and be supported by the Housing 
Policy team, but that a wider group of stakeholders will also need to be involved. It is 
suggested that these include: 
 

 housebuilders; 

 Build for Rent investors/developers; 

 long-term private sector investors; 

 housing associations; 

 TfL property; and 

 London boroughs. 

 central government. 

Page 34



Appendix 2 
 

 

Delivery models and case studies identified by the New Delivery 
Models sub-group 
 
This appendix presents case studies of new delivery models identified by the sub-group. 
Case studies are presented for information only, and do not constitute legal or financial 
guidance or advice from the GLA.      

 
1. Brighton Council / Hyde Group Limited Liability Partnership  
 

Structure and arrangements 
 
1.1 In this model, Hyde Group Limited (the HA) and Brighton Council (the LA) will 

incorporate a new limited liability partnership (LLP) on a 50:50 basis. The LLP will 
acquire, fund, develop, sell and own (as applicable) discounted rental and Shared 
Ownership homes.  
 

1.2 Each of the LA and HA (the LLP Members) will provide equity to fund the project, 
with the funds provided to the LLP as non-interest bearing loans.  
 

1.3 Each LLP Member is expected to receive a commercial rate of return on its equity 
investment from the profits generated in the LLP as properties are either let or 
sold. Each LLP Member would benefit from a stable long-term index-linked 
revenue stream as rental growth is linked to either CPI or RPI (as applicable).  
 

1.4 The Shared Ownership investment also provides the potential for capital growth, 
through house price inflation linked to staircasing receipts.  
 

1.5 There are also valuable indirect benefits for the LA and its local area including 
social and economic benefits from the inward investment into the provision of new 
housing, increased council tax revenues and New Homes Bonus.  
 

1.6 In this model, the LA gains access to the HA’s technical and commercial developer 
skills, and benefits from the HA’s supply chain arrangements and volume buying 
power. Both LLP Members benefit from the pooling of funding and resources, and 
sharing of risk.  

 
Housing delivery 

 
1.7 The guiding principle behind the proposal is to create a bespoke affordable 

housing delivery model that is tailored to the specific housing needs that exist 
within the LA’s area.  
 

1.8 The discounted rent model is a bespoke model that is tailored to local incomes. 
Essentially a Living Rent product is proposed, with average rents equating to less 
than 60% of local market rents. The rents have been calculated to ensure genuine 
affordability for low income working households from the LA area.  
 

1.9 The cost of a mortgage, rent and service charge for the proposed Shared 
Ownership housing is less than the cost of local private market rents for 
comparable homes, and has been calculated to ensure that the properties are 
affordable to households earning average local incomes in the LA area.  

 

Page 35



 

 
 

Procurement  
 
1.10 The LA and HA enter into a members' agreement in order to incorporate the LLP. 

The members' agreement does not impose obligations on either the HA or LA to 
provide services to, or to procure works or supplies on behalf of, the LLP. It deals 
simply with the constitutional arrangements necessary to establish the LLP itself. 
Consequently, the members' agreement does not constitute a public contract for 
the purposes of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and selection of either 
HA/LA does not require an EU-regulated procurement process. 
 

1.11 The rules set out in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 apply to specified 
bodies known as "contracting authorities". The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
set out a list of various bodies within the UK which are specifically designated to 
be contracting authorities for the purpose of the Regulations. In addition, the 
Regulations set out further tests through which other bodies which are not 
specifically listed may also be determined to be contracting authorities and 
therefore subject to the requirements of the Regulations.  

 
1.12 In these circumstances, given the nature of the proposed schemes and the LA and 

HA's relationship with the LLP, the LLP is likely to be a contracting authority for 
the purposes of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. This conclusion is reached 
because of the likely levels of control which the LA and HA will have over the LLP 
and the LLP is not likely to be considered to have a "commercial or industrial 
character" so as to place it outside the ambit of the Regulations.  

 
1.13 The LLP will call off work for both consultants and contractors using the HA’s 

established multi user frameworks, thereby satisfying the requirements of the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

 
1.14 Simple land transfers in which the LA or HA transfer property to the LLP without 

imposing any obligations to carry out particular works are generally outside the 
scope of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. Therefore there are no 
procurement issues under the Regulations. 

 
2. Newcastle Science Central Limited Liability Partnership  
 
2.1 This involved L&G structuring a new LLP (“NewCo”) with the existing partners of 

Science Central LLP (“OldCo”) (Newcastle City Council and Newcastle University) 
to invest into Newcastle Science Central.    
 

2.2 OJEU was not required in this example because it was a straightforward land and 
investment deal, whereby the OldCo (which could be any Public Sector Body 
(“PSB”), for example) sells land to NewCo (e.g. joint-venture (JV) between PSB 
and Private Sector Investor), comprising the Council, the University and L&G as 
equal Partners. A framework enables OldCo to transfer future phases to NewCo at 
valuation. The public sector bodies engage with L&G as an investment partner 
rather than developer partner, thereby negating the need for OJEU because L&G 
are not providing any works, goods, or services. 
 

2.3 Investment occurs via L&G's initial equity buy-in into the JV through lease-based 
funding for the first office building. Partners then provide additional development 
capital as required in the form of preferred equity into the JV at a fixed, rolled-up, 
coupon (with recourse only to NewCo). This provides the LLP's development 

Page 36



 

 
 

capex. The first office building is funded by L&G “at cost” (i.e. with no developer’s 
margin) and then leased on a 40 year ‘income strip’ lease (i.e. ownership reverts to 
the Council at lease end). The Council is expecting to generate a profit rent from 
this, as well as the revenue stemming from Newcastle Science Central being an 
Enterprise Zone. L&G has also agreed to take market risk and fund the second 
building, of c.100,000 sq. ft. net internal area (NIA), speculatively as and when 
lettings reach a pre-set hurdle on the first building. 
 

2.4 Having created public realm / serviced plots etc., some of the site will then be sold 
back down by NewCo to individual Partners, or combinations of Partners, again at 
market value. For example, the University will wish to solely own and fund some 
buildings, and the Build to Rent element is likely to be a JV between L&G and the 
Council. This is all managed via an agreed decision-making process, and governed 
by a joint Board. 

 
2.5 In this model, best consideration is demonstrated by i) the value L&G pays the 

Council and the University to "buy-in" to the JV (i.e. the value of the LLP's land 
holding); and ii) the yield on L&G's leaseback investment. Both of these have been 
determined by an independent third party surveyor with a Duty of Care to the 
Council and the University to ensure parity. 

 
3. Affordable housing, key worker housing or supported/specialist housing 

funding model 
 

3.1 This model involves an institution funding a development in full and then leasing 
the properties to an “investment grade” covenant – effectively either a Local 
Authority or major Housing Association (the PSB) – for 20 years or more.   
 

3.2 The value of this covenant and certainty of income stream to a pension fund 
enables a dramatic reduction in the investor’s required return, unlocking a much-
lower income yield, and thus rent.   

 
3.3 Modelling this approach in one London Borough, a scheme with 144 units 

generates £30,655 of rent per week at 80% of market (e.g. 2-bed at £224 per 
week), equating to gross rent of £1,594,060 per annum. The scheme’s build cost 
would be £23,415,000. If the investor requires an initial yield of 2.75%, that 
equates to the institution receiving £687,698 in rent from the Borough. Deducting 
30% of rent for management, maintenance, and building up a sinking fund, the 
difference between the rent net of those deductions and the rent payable to the 
investor equals £428,144 per annum, which is either kept as revenue by the PSB, 
or enables rents to residents to be reduced further.  

 
3.4 This model assumes rent rising in line with RPI, given that local rents / income to 

the PSB typically rises at a similar rate, but this could also be CPI or a fixed 
amount. For leases over 35 years in this model, the institution could return the 
properties to the PSB at lease end. This would mean that capital growth is 
returned to the public sector and all future income is kept by the PSB. 
 

3.5 The PSB can either manage the units itself or use the 30% of rental income to 
incentivise a third party to manage the units. 

 
 
 

Page 37



 

 
 

4. London Cancer Hub 
 
  Background 
 
4.1 The Institute of Cancer Research (ICR), the Royal Marsden Hospital (TRM) and the 

former Sutton Hospital occupied a 20 hectare site in Belmont, Sutton - now called 
the London Cancer Hub - until parts of it were sold to the London Borough of 
Sutton (LBS). The former Sutton Hospital, which is part of the Epsom & St Helier 
University Hospitals NHS Trust (ESH), has now been largely de-commissioned. 
This has made 7.4 hectares of land available for re-development. 
 

4.2 Sutton Council launched its Opportunity Sutton programme in 2012 to provide a 
focus for economic development in the borough. One of the key projects in the 
programme is the London Cancer Hub, which has evolved since 2013 with a 
partnership between Sutton Council and the ICR and supported by the Royal 
Marsden, the Epsom & St Helier NHS Trust, and the Greater London Authority. In 
2016, the London Cancer Hub was accepted into the One Public Estate 
programme run by the Cabinet Office and Local Government Association. 
 

4.3 The vision for the LCH is to create a global centre for cancer innovation, providing 
state-of-the-art facilities and a world-leading life-science district specialising in 
cancer research, treatment, drug discovery education and enterprise. This will 
involve redevelopment of the site over a 20-year period to provide up to 100,000 
square metres of commercial space for research laboratories, offices, shops, leisure 
and other uses that support the creation of a fully fledged innovative district. 

 
Land Acquired by the Council 

 
4.4 Proposals for the site include the construction of a new secondary school that will 

have a strong focus on Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM) with 
practical links with the ICR. Land for the school site (1.6 hectares) was acquired 
from the ESH in March 2015 (for £8m). Discussions regarding acquisition of land 
for the school consequently proceeded ahead of preparation of a Development 
Framework (Masterplan) for the site. The strength of collaboration on the 
Partnership Board for the London Cancer Hub was significant in helping the 
process of acquiring the land for the proposed school. 
 

4.5 The further land required for commercial development for the London Cancer Hub 
is to be acquired from the ESH in two tranches and will total 5.8 hectares when 
completed. Acquisition of the first tranche of 2.22 hectares was completed in 
March 2017 (for £14m). It is anticipated that acquisition of the remainder will be 
completed by December 2017. 

 
NHS Disposal Process 

 
4.6 Disposal of sites owned by the NHS is governed by the NHS Estatecode. The key 

requirements of the code for an NHS organisation are: 

 Prepare an Outline Business Case for approval by its Board and by NHS 
Improvement (previously by the NHS Trust Development Authority) 

 On receipt of both approvals, declare the land surplus and publish availability 
of the land for 45 days on a property database called ePIMS, which is 
maintained by the Cabinet Office, seeking expressions of interest in acquiring 

Page 38



 

 
 

the land. (Only the NHS and other public bodies are allowed to express an 
interest during this initial phase) 

 Assess the expressions of interest, and if there are satisfactory submissions, 
identify as Preferred Purchaser the organisation that best meets the evaluation 
criteria and can best demonstrate a requirement for the land that furthers the 
purposes of that organisation. 

 Negotiate terms and dispose. (NHS organisations can acquire at book value, 
but other public sector organisations have to pay market value). 

 
4.7 In both completed acquisitions, the LBS was the only organisation that submitted 

an expression of interest and in both cases it was able to demonstrate that the 
intended use was in line with its corporate objectives and was also able to 
demonstrate it had the financial resources for the acquisition. 

 
Best Consideration 

 
4.8 There is a tension between the ESH’s requirement to achieve best consideration 

and the Council’s need to demonstrate best value. It was therefore necessary to 
provide, as far as possible, certainty on the key issues that drive the valuation of 
land. For this site, the key drivers were: 

 Planning policies, use and development density 

 Site conditions and constraints 

 Title restrictions 

 Environmental and ground conditions 
 

4.9 The Borough’s Local Development Framework allocated the site for 
residential/health use and, from the start, there was an agreement that the land 
price would be based on residential use valuation. The ESH consequently 
commissioned the design of a residential scheme for the site to establish the 
quantum of development possible and also held pre-application discussions with 
the Planning Department to inform development that could be acceptable for the 
site. 
 

4.10 Both organisations agreed to jointly commission the District Valuation Service to 
undertake the valuation of the site which was to form the basis for agreeing price. 
Both organisations were consequently able to comment and challenge the 
valuation inputs. As part of the NHS Estatecode, the ESH was required to 
commission an independent valuation which was carried out by Savills and 
validated the DVS’s valuation. Both parties were therefore able to satisfy 
themselves on the price paid for the site. 

 
Financial model 

 
4.11 The initial proposals for the land acquisition sought to do this through an LLP on 

an equal and joint basis between the Council and the ICR. The Council would 
borrow through PWLB to fund the full value of the purchase and then lend it on to 
the LLP (at a higher rate to comply with state aid rules). The LLP would hold the 
land on its balance sheet adding and rolling up the ongoing debt financing costs, 
offset by appreciation in land values, before then selling it on to the selected 
developer. The Council secured agreement with its external auditors, Grant 
Thornton, that for accounting purposes it would not need to provide minimum 
revenue provision (MRP) for repayment of the capital sum as this was an 

Page 39



 

 
 

investment property clearly held to sell on in the near future and the full capital 
value will be realised at that point, hence this was an interest only loan. 
 

4.12 Sutton has other commercial property acquisitions (that have annual rental 
income) that the auditors have been content to advise doesn’t require MRP as 
they are held for investment purposes. 
 

4.13 In the final transaction, the LLP model could not be used due to specialist state 
aid advice that, in this case, a 30% equity injection would be required upfront. LLP 
parties could not agree this, therefore the Council has acquired the land directly, 
but the principles above still apply. 

 
Key Enablers 

 
4.14 The following factors were key to the relatively smooth process of acquiring the 

two tranches of land: 

 Clarity of vision and organisational commitment - all organisations forming the 
partnership are committed to delivering the London Cancer Hub vision and it is 
demonstrably a clear priority. The Partnership Board is attended by the Chief 
Executives and the Leader of the Council. 

 Programme management & collaborative approach - underpinning the 
Partnership Board is a programme management structure that has a number of 
cross-organisation technical groups to drive various aspects of the project. 
This has ensured accountability and a shared understanding of matters that 
had to be resolved. 

 Time - the ESH has pressures to achieve its disposals before the final year-end, 
just as the Council also required early certainty about securing the land 
required for the school and the rest of the LCH. 

 Client management - strong client management skills have been evident in the 
way that consultants have been procured and managed by both the ESH and 
LBS. 

 Communication and Advocacy - there is a communications plan with close 
cooperation between all the communications teams in the partnership 
organisations. The vision of the LCH has been strongly and positively 
communicated by leaders in the partnership organisations at special events 
and through their networks. This has led to the project achieving a high 
profile with the Mayor of London and within central government. 

Page 40



 

Homes for Londoners Board 

Date of meeting: 13 June 2017 

Title of paper: Overseas Investment: Homes for Londoners Board Sub-
Group Report 
  

To be presented by: Hugh Bullock, Chair of the Overseas Investment Sub-
Group  
 

Cleared by: 
 

James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and 
Residential Development and  
Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director –Programme, Policy 
and Services (on behalf of David Lunts, Executive 
Director of Housing & Land) 
 

Classification: Public  
 
 

1. Executive summary  
 

1.1 The Homes for Londoners Board convened a sub-group to investigate overseas 
investment and purchase in London’s residential property market.  This is the final 
report of the sub-group, which has considered the findings of the research on 
overseas investment in London’s property market commissioned by the GLA, along 
with other evidence.  The report makes recommendations to the Mayor and others 
on possible policy responses to the issue. 

 
1.2 The research is summarised in the consolidated research report accompanying this 

paper at Appendix 2.  The report found that:  

 overseas buyers bought 10% of all new homes in London between 2014-16, 
although if new affordable homes are excluded from this total, the figure is 
13%. This activity was focused in central London and this means that UK 
buyers bought 87% of market sale homes; 

 at least 70% of overseas purchases were bought with the intention to rent out, 
suggesting that, overall, up to 4% of market sale homes were bought by 
overseas buyers and might potentially not be regularly occupied. Within this 
4%, a spectrum of uses was identified, ranging from occupation by students to 
occasional business or leisure use, commensurate with London’s role as a global 
city. The number of homes deliberately kept empty was considered to be 
negligible; 

 overseas investment in London’s property market finances and de-risks 
development at an early stage, helping to unlock housing supply and provide 
associated community benefits. Overseas investment had a net benefit on 
housing supply, meaning that many times more homes were built and lived in 
overall than were bought and not regularly occupied; 

 London attracts a significant amount of institutional investment from lenders 
and business globally, bringing forward development on major development 
sites faster and with more homes than would otherwise have been the case. 

  

Page 41

Agenda Item 8b



 

1.3 The sub-group’s recommendations take these findings into account, and also seek 
to address public concerns and perceptions about the nature and extent of overseas 
investment. The recommendations are focused in three directions: the Mayor and 
London’s boroughs; Government; and the homebuilding and lending industries. 
They seek to increase access to new homes for Londoners; to address the issue of 
empty homes; and to improve public confidence in London’s property market. 

 
1.4 The sub-group makes the following recommendations: 

The Mayor and London’s Boroughs 

a) The Mayor should take steps with the homebuilding industry in London to 
make more new homes available to Londoners before anyone else, with any 
measures particularly focusing on homes sold for prices that Londoners, 
especially first time buyers, are more  likely to be able to afford;  

b) All boroughs should levy the empty homes council tax premium and work 
positively with the Mayor to explore other ways in which incentives could be 
applied to ensure that homes built in London are occupied; 

c) If there is compelling local evidence of significant numbers of long term vacant 
homes, boroughs could introduce planning policies to incentivise the 
occupation of homes. Effective monitoring and enforcement would need to be 
put in place as a corollary of this;  

d) The Mayor should agree, with collective input from the homebuilding industry, 
a common basis to collect data on the occupancy of new homes that can be 
shared with the GLA and act as an evidence base with which to assess what 
future measures may be required; 

e) The Mayor should continue to lobby Government to increase transparency in 
London’s property market to ensure that there is no place for ‘dirty money’ to 
hide; 

Government 

f) Government has made a number of commitments in relation to foreign 
ownership of UK property. It must keep to these and ensure that London’s 
property market is as transparent when it comes to ownership of property by 
overseas nationals and companies as it is for UK nationals and companies; 

g) Government should support the Mayor and boroughs to achieve (b) above by 
allowing a higher council tax premium on empty homes particularly in high 
value locations. This will incentivise application of the surcharge in high value 
locations where the current premium does not act as a sufficient incentive for 
authorities to levy it; 

h) Government should ask the HCA to remove restrictions on its Help to Buy rules 
so that the period during which homebuyers can purchase a home through the 
scheme is limited only by their mortgage offer period;  

i) Treasury should use the data resulting from the research undertaken by the 
University of York to make an assessment of the scale of payment of the SDLT 
surcharge by overseas buyers in London in recent years and if necessary pursue 
any non-payment from previous purchases on homes.  

 

 

Page 42



 

The Homebuilding and Mortgage Lending Industry 

j)  We recommend that homebuilders in London work with the Mayor to achieve 
(a) and (d) above to strengthen Londoners’ support for new development; 
 

k) We recommend that the Council of Mortgage Lenders, homebuilders and 
regulators such as the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential 
Regulation Authority convene a working group to review the regulatory 
framework with a view to supporting greater access for mortgage offers longer 
than their current standard terms.  

 
 

2 Recommendations 
 
2.1 The Board is asked to: 

a) Note the report and the recommendations made by its Overseas Investment 
Sub-Group as set out at paragraph 1.4; and  

b) Discuss how these should be taken forward. 
 

 
3 Introduction and Scope 
 
3.1 The Mayor has stated that housing is his highest priority. There are two core and 

interrelated challenges – not enough housing is being built to meet demand, and 
much of what is being built is not affordable to rent or buy for many Londoners. 
Experts agree that London needs at least 50,000 homes every year for the 
foreseeable future and on average only just over half that number are built each 
year. 
 

3.2 As a global and open city, overseas investment plays an important role in London’s 
housing market. Yet, the scale of overseas investment in London, particularly the 
individual purchase of homes by overseas buyers, has attracted a great deal of 
adverse public comment and analysis recently1. Despite this interest, there is 
relatively little evidence available on the scale and impact of overseas buyers. 

 
3.3 In order to ensure that the debate is informed by a thorough analysis of the 

available evidence, the Mayor commissioned the most  detailed research ever 
undertaken on this subject in the UK. The GLA asked the London School of 
Economics (LSE) to undertake the main body of the research, supported by 
additional quantitative data gathering by the University of York. The research brief 
and findings of the research are summarised in a consolidated research report that 
accompanies this paper. 

 
3.4 The Mayor also established a sub-group of the Homes for Londoners Board to 

consider the issue and to act as a steering group for the research. The sub-group 
membership was drawn broadly from the private, public and third sectors and met 
four times between February and April 2017. The membership and terms of 
reference of the sub-group are appended to this report.  

 

                                                 
1 For instance, see: ‘London for Sale’, The Smith Institute (2012) ;‘The UK Housing Crisis’, The Bow Group 
(2015); or ‘Faulty Towers’, Transparency International (2017) 

Page 43



 

3.5 This report to the Homes for Londoners Board is the sub-group’s response to its 
terms of reference and to the findings of the LSE’s and York’s research. The 
recommendations are intended to be a focused and practical response to the 
evidence. It is hoped that they will address public concerns in relation to overseas 
investment in London’s housing. 

 
 
4 Context 

 
4.1 Overseas investors are associated with several positive aspects of London’s housing 

market. Individual overseas buyers are often investors, seeking to purchase homes 
to rent out, and as such are more likely to be cash buyers able to buy homes early in 
the development process, de-risking development and unlocking new housing 
supply. Even where they are not investors, their purchasing of homes still unlocks 
developments and the associated community benefits, such as infrastructure 
improvements and social housing. 
 

4.2 At an institutional level, overseas investment brings a substantial amount of capital 
into London’s housing market, and has been instrumental in supporting the Build to 
Rent sector and in purchasing and developing large brownfield sites around 
London. These investments are delivering thousands of homes and jobs.  
 

4.3 In contrast to these positive aspects of overseas investment, public concerns in 
relation to its impact on London’s housing market tend to focus on four issues. 
These are:  

 the impact of off-plan sales of new homes to overseas buyers on the 
availability of homes for Londoners; 

 the impact of sales to overseas buyers on the number of empty homes in 
London; 

 links between the number of overseas buyers and criminal activity such as 
money laundering; and 

 the impact on house price inflation.  

 
Availability of homes for Londoners 

4.4 Approximately 90% of new homes built in London are flats2. This type of high-
density development requires substantial upfront capital outlay, and incurs large 
financial risks, which in turn requires a high proportion of units to be sold “off plan” 
– i.e. before a brick is laid. Since mortgage finance is generally available only six 
months prior to homes being completed, many off-plan sales are to cash buyers and 
investors. These may be based in the UK or overseas. The relative importance of 
overseas buyers in this picture has been a key part of the research commissioned by 
the GLA.  

 
Empty homes 

4.5 Many media reports suggest a link between overseas purchasers of properties and 
homes being left empty. Although the number of empty homes has declined to 
historic lows in recent years (see paragraph 5.15 below), it is understandable that 
there are public concerns that any are left empty at all. However, to date there has 

                                                 
2 Source: GLA analysis of London Development Database statistics 

Page 44



 

been very little robust analysis of this issue – something which the GLA research 
sought to address. 

 
Criminality 

4.6 There have been some reports that have linked ownership of UK, and especially 
London, property to suspect or criminal individuals3. Some media reporting of the 
issue of overseas buyers may have given the impression that the majority of 
overseas buyers of London homes were in some way connected to illegal or 
suspicious activity. Although there is almost certainly an element of criminal 
practice in purchases of some London homes4, it is important to be clear that there 
is no evidence at all to suggest that it is widespread or indeed a phenomenon solely 
linked to overseas buyers. Given the ongoing work by Government to improve 
transparency and enforcement of these kinds of criminal practices, the sub-group 
was not asked to consider this issue as part of its work.   

 
Impact on house prices  

4.7 Finally, there has been some debate about the impact of overseas investment on 
house prices in London. While the sub-group did consider this issue as part of its 
discussion (some conclusions of this discussion are outlined in the next section), it 
was not formally part of either the sub-group’s terms of reference or the 
commissioned research.  
 

 
5 Findings of the Sub-Group 

 
5.1 The sub-group considered a number of options for approaching the issue of 

overseas investment, given the findings of the research. It looked at the scope for 
applying planning and taxation policy to homes owned, or sought to be owned, by 
overseas buyers. It considered domestic and international responses to the issue, 
ranging from planning approaches used in St Ives, to property taxation approaches 
in a variety of global locations, such as Vancouver, Hong Kong and Singapore. The 
group also considered case studies of examples of overseas investment in London 
development. 
 

5.2 Based on the findings of the commissioned research and the sub-group’s 
discussions, the sub-group’s findings and recommendations are structured around 
three key themes: 

a) To maximise access to new homes for Londoners; 

b) To ensure that homes built in London are lived in, and not kept deliberately 
empty; and 

c) To build public confidence in London’s property market. 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
3 ‘London Property: A top destination for money launderers’, December 2016 & ‘Faulty Towers: Understanding 
the Impact of overseas corruption on the London property market’, March 2017 both by Transparency 
International 
4 https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/jul/25/london-housing-market-launder-offshore-tax-havens  

Page 45

https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/jul/25/london-housing-market-launder-offshore-tax-havens


 

A - Maximising access to new homes for Londoners 

Advance sales to Londoners 

5.3 As noted above in paragraph 4.3, access to new homes is a matter of significant 
public concern for Londoners. They perceive that new homes built in the city are 
sold off-plan to investors (whether from the UK or overseas) before being available 
to many potential domestic owner occupiers. Buyers reliant on time-limited 
mortgage offer periods are clearly put at a relative disadvantage compared to 
investors who are not constrained in putting down a reservation deposit.  

 
5.4 The LSE’s research noted the importance of off-plan and pre-sales to the 

development model for much of London’s new housing supply, concluding that 
pre-sales enable development, and that, without them, many new housing projects 
would probably not have been built at all or would have been built more slowly. It is 
clear that overseas buyers are vital to delivering new housing supply in London. 

 
5.5 The University of York’s research found 6.5% of new build homes, representing half 

of sales to overseas buyers, were sold to overseas buyers at values between 
£200,000 and £500,000. This is a price range at which ordinary working Londoners 
might be able to buy new homes, particularly first time buyers and those accessing 
support through schemes such as ‘Help to Buy’5. 

 
5.6 The sub-group heard that homebuilders in London do not prefer to sell to overseas 

buyers over UK-based buyers, but that such sales are a necessary corollary of the 
nature of London’s development process. There is a willingness among London 
developers to sell more homes to potential owner occupiers rather than investors, 
but they are constrained by their own financing arrangements from doing so. The 
sub-group makes recommendations on mortgage availability in paragraph 6.14. 
There are also other actions that the Mayor can take to ensure greater accessibility 
to new homes for Londoners. 

 
5.7 The Mayor has said that he wants to increase access to new homes for Londoners.  

The sub-group believes that there is scope for the Mayor to deliver on this ambition 
by harnessing the willingness of homebuilders to make more homes available to 
Londoners in the first instance rather than marketing them overseas, and by 
focusing this action on properties costing less than £500,000. This approach would 
capture slightly more than half of all new build property sales in London6 and target 
help to potential owner occupiers otherwise unable to access new homes.  

 
Mortgage finance 

5.8 It was clear from discussions within the sub-group, and from the research findings, 
that mortgage availability is a key barrier to Londoners being able to buy the new 
homes that are built in the city. Off plan sales might occur three years before 
completion of a development and construction start might occur two years before 
completion, but mortgage offers are only valid for six or nine months. This means 
that potential owner occupiers cannot make an offer for a home at the point when 
most pre-sales happen. 
 

                                                 
5 The threshold for homes available for Help to Buy in London is £600,000 although many homes will be at or 
around the £500,000 mark 
6 GLA analysis of ONS house price data shows that 58% of all new build property sales in 2014-2016 were at or 
below £500,000, with the median London new build  house price in Q4 2016 being £472,000 

Page 46



 

5.9 Homebuilders need the certainty of advance sales to undertake development, but 
the prudential approach of mortgage lenders means that they are unwilling to offer 
mortgages more than nine months in advance of completion. This is not likely to 
change at the level of individual lenders as they are governed by legislation and 
regulation around what is considered prudential lending, a view confirmed to the 
sub-group by the Council of Mortgage Lenders and the Financial Conduct 
Authority. 

 
5.10 Therefore, in order to address the barriers to longer mortgage offer periods, and/or 

to find an alternative mechanism that could achieve the same ends, homebuilders, 
lenders, the regulatory agencies and Government should work together to find a 
solution that addresses the systemic barriers to lending for longer periods. 
Imaginative ways need to be found to meet the challenge of supporting access to 
new homes without undermining delivery of more development. In the time 
available, the sub-group was not able to work though the complex issues that need 
to be unpicked. A working group with this specific aim could investigate the matter, 
bringing together the relevant stakeholders and developing proposals that can 
unlock the issue of mortgage availability.  

 
HCA regulation for Help to Buy  

5.11 One relatively small but straightforward way in which mortgage availability could be 
eased for Londoners would be for the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) to be 
more flexible in its application of the rules for Help to Buy. The GLA has delegated 
administration of the Help to Buy scheme in London to the HCA, which applies a 
restriction whereby it will only allow purchases of homes within six months of that 
home’s completion, even if the purchaser has a longer mortgage offer period. This 
prevents, for example, a buyer who has a mortgage offer for nine months from 
being able to exchange contracts for a home under the Help to Buy scheme any 
time before six months before the anticipated completion, despite the longer offer 
period. Aligning Help to Buy rules with mortgage offer lengths would help 
Londoners access new homes earlier.   

 
B - Ensuring that homes are lived in and not kept empty 

5.12 The research by the LSE suggests that the overwhelming majority of homes bought 
by overseas buyers are bought either as a primary residence, or to be rented out to 
Londoners, or for use by family members. This latter category could include use by 
children of the purchaser with students at university – suggesting use throughout 
the year during term time – or for the owner to use when visiting London for leisure 
or business reasons, which might be for only a few days or weeks a year. The extent 
of a property’s occupation in this category is hard to quantify. Homes for all of 
these purposes, whether owned by Londoners or not, are an important part of 
London’s housing market, and the sub-group is of the view that this is, to an 
extent, a normal and necessary part of London’s functioning as a capital city and as 
a global centre of economic activity, higher education and tourism.  
 

5.13 The research found that there may sometimes be a perception that new homes are 
empty when in fact this is not the case. Affordable homes will often be finished 
before private ones in a development and can be occupied very quickly from 
borough waiting lists. Private homes often complete later and, even once externally 
complete, can take several months to be finished internally and become habitable. 
In the meantime, those homes will appear empty next door to the affordable 

Page 47



 

homes, suggesting that they are vacant when in fact they are not yet finished or 
acquired and occupied.  

 
5.14 The data analysis by the University of York suggested there was a higher rate of 

vacancy of homes in prime central London and of more expensive homes, and that 
this was true of homes owned both by UK buyers and by overseas buyers. Homes 
owned by overseas buyers were twice as likely to be vacant than ones owned by UK 
buyers, albeit from a low base level of empty homes and including  homes that are 
lived in for part of the year and not solely homes that are empty.  The research 
suggested that around 4% of market sale homes were sold to overseas buyers and 
only lived in for part of the year, and it is likely that the homes identified by York as 
vacant will include these homes. 

 
5.15 Clearly if a large proportion of homes in London are not lived in for substantial parts 

of the year, this would not represent an efficient use of the city’s scarce housing 
stock. Furthermore, if this were to happen at scale in particular locations, this could 
have an impact on the amenity of an area, and the sustainability of local services. 
The evidence does not suggest that this is the case. Only a minimal amount of 
housing is kept empty for substantial periods of time – indeed, the number of 
empty homes in London has been declining for several years now, and is at its 
lowest level since the 1970s, at 0.6% of the city’s housing stock7.  

 
5.16 The sub-group considers that there is a good opportunity for the Mayor to reiterate 

his commitment to ensure that use of London’s homes should be maximised. 
Wherever homes are left empty, every reasonable incentive should be applied to 
bring them back into active use, regardless of whether their owner is UK- or 
overseas- based. Care is needed to ensure that any intervention is not 
counterproductive, for example by increasing development risk and reducing overall 
supply of new homes. 

 
5.17 Paragraphs 5.12 and 5.13 above note the difficulty in determining the extent of 

occupancy of homes. It is clearly not in the interests of homebuilders to have homes 
which are visibly empty on a long-term basis. Many new developments have key fob 
systems and all have water meters to which managing agents will have access. The 
Mayor should work with all parties using these and any other relevant information 
to build up a consistent evidence base to inform future policy development on 
empty homes. 

 
Planning Policy    

5.18 In July 2015 Islington Council brought in the Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) ‘Preventing wasted housing supply’, which requires developers of new major 
residential schemes (of more than 20 dwellings) to enter into a Section 106 
agreement to ensure that individual homes are regularly occupied in order to avoid 
wasted housing supply. Islington has been clear that this policy is not aimed at 
overseas buyers per se, but rather at owners of homes that are bought and 
deliberately left empty, wherever they are from. The practical issues of 
enforcement, and effects on supply, have yet to be tested. 
 

5.19 The sub-group considered options for requiring occupation of homes, as Islington 
has done, across London. The evidence base from the research suggested that, 

                                                 
7 ‘Housing in London’, GLA, 2017 

Page 48



 

rather than implement such approach London-wide, if there were to be compelling 
local evidence of new homes being deliberately left empty, a local authority could, 
through planning policy, implement their own policies incentivising occupation. 
Council Tax  

5.20 London’s boroughs can currently levy a council tax ‘premium’ on empty homes of 
50% of the council tax payable for that home, in addition to the council tax payable 
for that property. Only twenty-nine of London’s thirty-three local authorities 
currently apply this premium. This should be levied by all boroughs to incentivise 
occupation. 
 

5.21 The sub-group understands that in some higher value boroughs, such as the City of 
Westminster, a 50% premium on the council tax payable may not be a sufficient 
incentive for occupation, especially where owners may be wealthy enough to absorb 
this cost rather than live in a property, and where the cost of the council tax 
premium will be negligible in relation to value of that property.  

 
5.22 There is therefore scope to introduce further mechanisms to incentivise occupation 

of empty homes, especially in high value locations. The first and most 
straightforward way to do this would be to allow a much higher level of council tax 
premium to be levied. The sub-group has no set view on what level this should be, 
but the guiding principle should be to set it at a rate that will ensure occupation 
and use of high value homes, suggesting a level several times that which is currently 
applied. Although important in its own terms, it should be recognised that 
occupation, or not, of high value properties will not have any material effect on 
meeting London’s general housing needs. 

 
5.23 Beyond applying or increasing the current council tax empty homes premium, there 

is potential for making changes to the council tax system to take account of the 
rapid increase in values in London’s prime property market since 1991 (the year to 
which council tax band values are linked). The sub-group recognises that a 
widespread change to the council tax system would be an upheaval in local 
government finance, but this should not preclude the Mayor from exploring options 
that would make the current incentive to ensure that homes are occupied more 
robust and meaningful. 

 
C -  Building public confidence in London’s property market 
 
Transparency of property ownership 

5.24 In its discussions, the sub-group noted the apparent contrast between London’s 
welcoming attitude, supportive policy environment and global perspective on 
valuable inward investment in residential regeneration and development, and the 
occasionally suspicious tone of some reporting of overseas purchases of the homes 
that are subsequently funded and built.  
 

5.25 The sub-group is of the view that, as with UK buyers of homes, the available 
evidence suggests that the overwhelming majority of overseas purchases of London 
homes, and investment into London’s development industry more generally, is legal 
and done with honest motives, whether to secure a return on an investment or to 
provide a home for the owner or for family members.  

 
5.26 While there is certainly reason to be suspicious of some of the purchases of UK 

property by foreign buyers, the sub-group considers that it is neither accurate nor 

Page 49



 

helpful to the debate to suggest that all or even a majority of overseas buyers are 
criminal. They are not. The sub-group considers that there should be nowhere to 
hide for criminal home buyers, and there should be no freedom to use London’s 
property to launder the proceeds of crime. Addressing this issue would do a great 
deal to address public concerns over the criminal aspect of the impact of overseas 
buyers on London’s property market. 

 
5.27 Where there is evidence of criminal activity in buying homes this should be 

investigated and acted upon. In order for the authorities to be able to do this, there 
needs to be a much greater degree of transparency in the housing market. This 
particularly applies to the purchase of homes by individuals through companies 
registered overseas, and is a matter for central Government.  

 
5.28 The sub-group is aware that the Mayor has in the past called for measures to 

increase transparency8. These have included calls to: make overseas-registered 
company ownership as transparent as that for UK-based companies when holding 
property; ensure that anti-money-laundering checks are also carried out by estate 
agents on the purchaser, not just the seller of a home; and pursue those who break 
the rules, with proper sanctions available to the authorities. 

 
5.29 The Government is also developing measures to increase transparency in property 

ownership by companies and entities registered overseas9. 
 

Ensuring collection of the Stamp Duty second home surcharge 

5.30 In April 2016 a SDLT surcharge was levied on the purchase of homes in the UK 
whereby, if in purchasing that home, the homeowner owned two or more properties 
anywhere in the world, there would be a liability for a surcharge of 3% on the 
relevant payable rate of SDLT for that property.  
 

5.31 The mechanism for assessing whether an overseas purchaser already owns a home 
in another country is for the conveyancing solicitor to ask the purchaser whether 
they own another home. If they say that they do not, this is accepted and is not 
double checked by HMRC. If a UK-based purchaser buys a second home, their 
property ownership can easily be ascertained by UK authorities. This is not the case 
with overseas buyers, whose countries may not have accessible registers of property 
ownership.  

 
5.32 There is no evidence of evasion of the SDLT surcharge by overseas buyers. 

However, the sub-group is of the view that if an overseas buyer is buying a home in 
the UK, there is a reasonable chance that they already own a home somewhere else 
in the world, and that the current mechanism for determining this is ineffective. 
There is therefore a risk that buyers of new homes from overseas may not be paying 
the full amount of SDLT for which they are liable.   

 
Impact of overseas buyers on house prices 

5.33 The sub-group considers that the fundamental and primary cause of increasing 
house prices is the long established imbalance between supply and demand for 

                                                 
8 https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2016/mar/02/sadiq-khan-make-london-property-ownership-
transparent  
9 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606611/beneficial-
ownership-register-call-evidence.pdf  

Page 50

https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2016/mar/02/sadiq-khan-make-london-property-ownership-transparent
https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2016/mar/02/sadiq-khan-make-london-property-ownership-transparent
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606611/beneficial-ownership-register-call-evidence.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606611/beneficial-ownership-register-call-evidence.pdf


 

homes in London evident over many years under Governments and Mayors of both 
parties. Whilst overseas buyers may add to the demand for new homes to a limited 
extent, and while there may be occasional highly localised upwards pressure on 
prices as a result of overseas demand, there is no indication that if all overseas 
buyers disappeared tomorrow house prices would become more affordable for 
Londoners. Indeed, given the role of overseas purchasers in buying homes off-plan, 
thus reducing funding and development risk, and hence helping to deliver new 
homes in the first place, housing supply would probably be significantly adversely 
affected if all overseas demand vanished, reducing the number of homes available 
for Londoners to rent and buy. The sub-group has therefore made its 
recommendations in light of the need to maintain, and indeed to increase, the 
supply of homes in London, with a priority that homes are lived in and not kept 
empty, actually meeting London’s housing needs. 

 
 

6 Recommendations of the Sub-Group 
 
6.1 The sub-group believes that action on the three objectives set out in paragraph 5.2 

needs to be taken at three levels – the Mayor and London’s boroughs; Government; 
and the homebuilding and mortgage lending industry. The recommendations are 
directed accordingly below. 

 
The Mayor and London’s boroughs 

a) The Mayor should take steps with the homebuilding industry in London to make 
more new homes available to Londoners before anyone else, with any measures 
particularly focusing on homes sold  for prices that Londoners, especially first time 
buyers, are more likely to be able to afford.  

 
b) All boroughs should levy the empty homes council tax premium and work positively 

with the Mayor to explore other ways in which incentives could be applied to ensure 
that homes built in London are occupied. 

 
c) If there is compelling local evidence of significant numbers of long term vacant 

homes, boroughs could introduce planning policies to incentivise the occupation of 
homes. Effective monitoring and enforcement would need to be put in place as a 
corollary of this.  

 
d) The Mayor should agree, with collective input of the homebuilding industry, a 

common basis to collect data on the occupancy of new homes that can be shared 
with the GLA and act as an evidence base with which to assess what future 
measures may be required. 

 
e) The Mayor should continue to lobby Government to increase transparency in 

London’s property market to ensure that there is no place for ‘dirty money’ to hide. 
 

Government 

f) Government has made a number of commitments10 in relation to foreign ownership 
of UK property. It must keep to these, and ensure that London’s property market is 

                                                 
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-announces-new-global-commitments-to-expose-punish-and-
drive-out-corruption  

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-announces-new-global-commitments-to-expose-punish-and-drive-out-corruption
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-announces-new-global-commitments-to-expose-punish-and-drive-out-corruption


 

as transparent when it comes to ownership of property by overseas nationals and 
companies as it is for UK nationals and companies. 

 
g) Government should support the Mayor and boroughs to achieve (b) above by 

allowing a higher council tax premium on empty homes particularly in high value 
locations where the current premium does not act as a sufficient incentive for 
authorities to levy it. 

 
h) Government should ask the HCA to remove restrictions on their Help to Buy rules so 

that the period in which homebuyers can purchase a home through the scheme is 
only limited by their mortgage offer period.  

 
i) Treasury should use the data resulting from the research undertaken by the 

University of York to make an assessment of the scale of payment of the SDLT 
surcharge by overseas buyers in London in recent years and if necessary pursue any 
non-payment from previous purchases on homes.. 

 
The Homebuilding and Mortgage Lending Industry 

j) We recommend that homebuilders in London work with the Mayor to achieve (a) 
and (d) above to strengthen Londoners’ support for new development. 

 
k) We recommend that the Council of Mortgage Lenders, homebuilders and regulators 

such as the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority 
convene a working group to review the regulatory framework with a view to 
supporting greater access for mortgage offers longer than their current standard 
terms.  

 
 
7 Equality Comments 

 
7.1 The recommendations in this paper seek to improve access to new homes for 

Londoners, bring empty homes into use and maintain the delivery of homes 
through overseas investment. These will all increase the supply of housing in 
London, helping more Londoners access homes and meeting housing need.  
 

7.2 The lack of a sufficient supply of homes adds to rising housing costs both for 
renting and buying homes, which disproportionately affect those on lower incomes. 
Specific protected groups are more likely to experience poverty, including 
households headed by minority ethnic individuals, young people and disabled 
people, refugee and asylum seekers, Gypsies and Travellers, and workless 
households.11    

 
7.3 The Mayor’s policies for housing will be published in the draft London Housing 

Strategy and draft London Plan, both of which will be subject to equality impact 
assessment.   
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
11 Equality and Human Rights Commission (2016): Is England fair: the state of equalities and human rights 

Page 52



 

8 Next Steps 
 

8.1 The Homes for Londoners Board is asked to consider the recommendations outlined 
in this report and direct further work as appropriate.   
 
 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1 -   Terms of Reference and Membership of the Overseas Investment sub-group 

Appendix 2 -   Consolidated research note (with full research brief and reports attached) 

 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

 

 
 
Membership of overseas investment sub-group 
 

Andrew Barry-Purssell, Head of Spatial and Environmental Policy, City of Westminster 

Jonathan Di-Stefano, Chief Executive, Telford Homes plc  

Russell Gardner, Property Lead, Ernst & Young 

Peter Elliot, Head of Property Development, Transport for London  

John Hughes, Group Development Director, Notting Hill Housing   

Cathy Lloyd, Sales Director, L&Q  

Ingrid Osborne, Chief Executive, Taylor Wimpey - Central London  

Tony Pidgley, Chairman, The Berkeley Group  

Brian Reilly, Director of Housing and Community Services, London Borough of Wandsworth  

Duncan Stott, Director, Priced Out  

Karen Sullivan, Director for Planning and Development, London Borough of Islington  

Hugh Taylor, Head of Housing UK, HSBC  

Rob Tincknell, Chief Executive Officer, Battersea Power Station Development Company 

Kate Webb, Policy Officer, Shelter  

Matthew White, Partner, Herbert Smith Freehills 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 

 

Overseas Investment sub-group Terms of Reference 
 
 
Context 
 

Concerns have grown in recent years that overseas buyers are increasingly buying homes 
before Londoners, and then sometimes keeping them empty. At the same time, developers 
report that advanced sales, including to overseas buyers, are crucial to funding residential 
developments, along with the associated community benefits – including affordable housing 
- which they provide.  
 
The Mayor has a manifesto commitment to ensure that more new homes are available to 
Londoners and this needs to be considered in the context of substantially increasing housing 
supply, development viability, and London’s openness to international investment. In 
addition, the Mayor has been calling for more transparency around overseas money invested 
in London property. 
 
The Mayor has commissioned the most thorough research on this matter ever undertaken in 
Britain in order to inform this work in addressing the issue. The research will provide answers 
to four key questions: 

 What proportion of new homes is sold to buyers who are resident overseas? 

 What proportion of new homes owned by foreign buyers is kept empty? 

 How reliant are developers on sales to overseas buyers? 

 How does overseas financing of development contribute to housing supply? 
 

 
Brief for the group 
 

We expect the group to be closely involved in the development of the research, commenting 
on emerging findings and proposing solutions which address the issues found as part of the 
research. 
 
In particular, we expect that the group will propose policy solutions which could be used by 
the Mayor to implement his manifesto commitments.  
 
Who needs to be involved? 
 

It is suggested that Hugh Bullock chair this group and be supported by the Housing Policy 
team, but that a wider group of stakeholders will also need to be involved. It is suggested 
that these include: 

 Housebuilders with developments inside and around London at various price points; 

 TfL property; 

 Shelter; 

 Representatives of the development finance, property law and consulting sectors 

 Housing associations active in the for-sale market; and 

 London boroughs.  
 

Page 56



Appendix 2 
 

Homes for Londoners Overseas Investment Sub-Group   
Consolidated research summary report 

 
Executive summary 
 

1. This report summarises the findings of research commissioned by the Greater London 
Authority (GLA) in late 2016 to look into the issue of overseas investment in London’s 
residential property market. The final reports from the two projects, along with research 
brief, are attached to this report as appendices.  
 
The research 
 

2. The GLA commissioned research to address four questions: 
 

i. What proportion of new homes is sold to buyers who are resident overseas?  
ii. What proportion of new homes is kept empty and how many of these are owned 

by foreign buyers?  
iii. How reliant is development viability on sales to overseas buyers? 
iv. How does overseas financing of development contribute to housing supply? 

 
3. The brief specified that the research should focus on new build homes in London and 

that, for the purposes of the research, an overseas buyer was someone resident overseas 
at the time of purchase. This could include UK citizens buying a home from abroad 
before coming to live in London and exclude a foreign national resident in London 
buying a family home. 
 

4. Following a procurement exercise, two universities were asked by the GLA to undertake 
the commission – the London School of Economics (LSE) and the University of York. 
 

5. The LSE was asked to investigate the four questions of the research brief to provide an 
overarching perspective on the issue. The LSE research brought together evidence from 
three sources: a literature review of academic literature, market commentary and other 
sources; qualitative data from major estate agencies and industry research bodies; and 
structured interviews with developers, financiers, managers of developments and others, 
as well a survey of the London group of the House Builders Federation. 
 

6. The University of York was asked to support the LSE’s work and undertake more 
quantitative research into the first two questions of the brief through an analysis of 
Land Registry records.  The University purchased 8,000 Land Registry titles of new build 
property sales over £200,000 in London between April 2014 and March 2016. Records 
were obtained for every London borough, and the sample was weighted to reflect the 
scale of housing delivery in different parts of London, with boroughs divided into four 
categories to aid this analysis. These categories, set out in Table 1 below, reflected the 
nature and scale of development in different boroughs across London. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



Table 1 – Categorisation of boroughs by area  

Category Boroughs  

Prime London   City of London, City of Westminster, Kensington & Chelsea 

New Growth Camden, Greenwich, Lambeth, Newham, Southwark, Tower 
Hamlets, Wandsworth 

Inner London   Hackney, Islington, Lewisham, Hammersmith & Fulham 

Outer London Barking & Dagenham, Barnet, Bexley, Brent, Bromley, Croydon, 
Ealing, Enfield, Haringey, Harrow, Havering, Hillingdon, Hounslow, 
Kingston upon Thames, Merton, Redbridge, Richmond upon 
Thames, Sutton, Waltham Forest. 

  
7. The titles were analysed to assess the proportion of sales that recorded an overseas 

address for the purchaser, and the price and the location of those sales, with use of an 
overseas address for a purchaser taken as a proxy for that person being an overseas 
buyer. Using a commercial database, the University then undertook analysis of the level 
of occupancy of those homes. 
 

 Research findings 
 

i. What proportion of new homes is sold to buyers who are resident overseas? 
 

8. Proportion of new homes sold to overseas buyers: The York research found that 
sales to buyers registered overseas accounted for 13% of all new build property sales in 
the sample between April 2014 and March 2016. This means that 87% of all new build 
market sale homes, almost eight in nine, were sold to UK-based buyers. When new build 
affordable homes are included, the research found that of all the new homes built in 
London, 6,204 homes, or 10% of the total, were sold to overseas buyers, i.e. nine in ten 
are sold to UK-based buyers.  

  
9. Trend over the study period: The LSE research concluded that sales to overseas 

buyers declined over the period 2014-16. In contrast, the York research found that sales 
had risen from 10.5% in 2014 to 17.9% in 2016. This divergence is explained by the 
differences in methodologies used by the two research organisations. Property agents 
reported that off-plan sales to overseas buyers had hit a relative peak in 2011-14, with 
declines since then. Homes sold off-plan during this period would often have been on 
schemes that did not complete (when the title deed is registered with the Land 
Registry) until 2014-16. Therefore the peak seen in off-plan sales to overseas buyers by 
agents in 2011-14 manifested itself in a subsequent peak in completions of sales 
contracts three years later.  
 

10. Differences across London: The research concluded that the proportion of overseas 
buyers is generally greater in central London. Table 2 below shows that overseas buyers 
accounted for 36% of sales of new build homes in the prime boroughs (as defined 
above in Table 1), but only 6% of new build sales in outer London boroughs, although 
these outer boroughs accounted for 42% of all new build sales. This picture is 
confirmed by property agents who focus on the overseas market, particularly in central 
London. Data from these agents shows that 38% of their sales between 2014-16 were 
to overseas buyers, rising to 50% in prime central London (given their focus on central 
London and the overseas market, the LSE report makes clear that upward bias will apply 
to their estimates). 
 

Page 58



Table 2 –Land Registry data showing proportion of sales to overseas buyers across 
London 2014-16 (University of York report, Figure 2.3 & Annex 3) 

Area of London 

Proportion of 
new build 

homes sold to 
overseas 
buyers  

Proportion of 
all London new 

build sales  

Total 
proportion of 
homes sold to 

overseas 
buyers 

Prime  36% 7% 2.5% 

Inner 16% 16% 2.6% 

New Growth 16% 35% 5.6% 

Outer 6% 42% 2.5% 

Average across 
London 

 
 13.2% 

 
11. Country of residence of overseas buyers: Both the LSE and York found that the 

highest proportion of overseas buyers are from Asia, primarily Hong Kong, Singapore 
and China. The most common country of residence for individual overseas buyers was 
Hong Kong (28% of all overseas sales) and the second most common was Singapore 
(20% of all overseas sales). Sales to residents in these countries somewhat reflected the 
nature of development being undertaken in London. For example, Malaysian buyers 
were relatively more common in Wandsworth, possibly due to development being 
undertaken by the Malaysian company SP Setia building at Battersea Power Station, 
and Chinese buyers were relatively more common in Greenwich, possibly reflecting 
building by the Chinese company Knight Dragon on the Greenwich Peninsula.  
 

12. Sales to overseas-based companies: Of all the new homes sold in London in the 
sample period, just under 2% were sold to companies registered overseas. 15% of the 
sales to overseas buyers were to companies registered overseas, more than double the 
proportion (6.6%) of sales that were to companies overall.  Of the companies based 
overseas, 32% were registered to the Channel Islands, 22% in the British Virgin Islands, 
and 14% in Hong Kong.  
 

13. Value of homes sold to overseas-based companies: York’s research found that just 
over half (50.5%) of overseas sales were at values between £200,000 and £500,000 and 
0.8% of overseas sales were at a value above £5m.  The GLA has assessed this finding 
against its own analysis of Land Registry data to determine how representative these 
purchases are of the wider London housing market. Table 3 below shows the spread of 
sale prices of all new build homes in London over the same period (i.e. including both 
sales to overseas and UK-based purchasers). It shows that overseas buyers are ‘under’ 
represented in purchases between £200,000 to £500,000 compared to the market 
generally, but ‘over’ represented in purchases over £5m compared to the market 
generally, being twice as likely as the typical buyer in this period to buy a home priced 
over £5m.  

 
Table 3 - New build home sales in London by price paid - 2014-2016* 

Sale price 
Proportion of new build homes 

sold to overseas buyers 
Proportion of all new build 

home sales 

£200k - £500k 50.5% 61.8% 

£500k - £1m 32.6% 28.9% 

£1m - £5m 16.2% 8.8% 

Over £5m 0.8% 0.4% 

Page 59



Source - York and GLA analysis of Land Registry Price paid data 
*GLA analysis of Land Registry data excluded homes sold below £200,000 to enable like-for-like 
comparison with research sample 

 
ii. What proportion of new homes is kept empty and how many of these are owned 

by foreign buyers?  
 

14. Overall picture: According to the LSE research, at least 70% of homes bought by 
overseas buyers were likely bought as rental investments. Assuming these had almost 
100% occupancy then, of all the market homes built in London in this period, 
approximately 4% were sold to overseas buyers and might potentially be not regularly 
occupied1. The difference between this figure and the official London-wide average for 
long term empty homes (0.6%2) is mostly explained by the fact that the majority of the 
former are still occupied occasionally, e.g. by the owners for business or leisure 
purposes, or by members of the owner’s family, often for the purposes of living in 
London while attending university. There is also often a time lag between completion of 
a home and it being rented out. 

  
15. Reasons for overseas purchases: The LSE research found that overseas buyers buy 

homes in London for three main reasons: as an investment to let out; to accommodate 
members of their family (often students coming to the UK to attend university); and/or 
as a London home for business or leisure visits. The evidence was not conclusive as to 
the balance between these three reasons, but it suggested that the overwhelming 
majority of homes were bought for investment and rental purposes, accounting for 
between 70-85% of such sales.  
 

16. Occupancy rates in homes bought for investment purposes: Where homes are 
bought for investment purposes, it is clearly in the owners’ interest to have the units 
tenanted. The LSE’s interviews with developers, building managers and concierges 
suggested that a very high proportion of units bought for rental purposes were let out, 
with occupancy rates of up to 95% in schemes completed some time ago. Note that 
schemes rarely have 100% occupancy because there are generally always residents 
moving in or moving out, with gaps in between. 

 
17. Occupancy rates in homes bought for personal or family use: A range of 

occupancy was identified for homes bought as second homes, with periods of 
occupancy sometimes for as little as a few weeks a year, although there was evidence 
that even these homes were, on average, occupied for around half of the time.  
 

18. Empty homes: Almost no evidence was found of units being left entirely empty, with 
the LSE’s research reporting estimates at 1% or less of new units. A number of 
respondents to the LSE research said that there may be an inaccurate perception that 
units are empty because the private units in a development will usually complete 
construction sometime after the affordable homes, giving a mistaken impression of 
vacancy. Further, once large developments are complete, it can take up to two years for 
occupancy rates to build up, and so homes may be vacant for an initial period before 
being lived in full time, which may account for perceptions that homes are left empty. 
 

                                                 
1 Calculated by multiplying the proportion of homes in the sample bought by overseas buyers (13%) by the 
proportion that are not bought as rental investments (approximately 30%).  
2 GLA analysis of DCLG live table 615 

Page 60



19. Within the context of the very small proportion of empty homes overall, the York 
research used an innovative methodology3 that may suggest higher rates of vacancy for 
homes in certain locations or types of properties. It is important to note that the 
research defined ‘vacancy’ as being homes that are lived in for part of the time as well 
as empty homes. Higher rates were found in homes in prime London, more expensive 
homes (particularly those worth more than £5m), and homes bought by overseas 
buyers. York’s research suggested that homes bought by overseas buyers were much 
more likely to fall into this group compared with ones bought by UK buyers, with higher 
inferred under-occupancy rates for such homes compared to homes owned by UK 
buyers. This does not mean that these homes are empty, but rather that they did not 
exhibit the characteristics that would be expected of homes occupied full time. 
 

20. Taken together with the LSE’s research finding set out in paragraphs 14 and 15, this 
supports a conclusion that the majority of homes bought by overseas buyers are lived in 
full-time as primary residences, though the levels of homes not occupied full time 
appear greater than amongst homes owned by UK buyers. The LSE research shows that 
the vast majority of those homes with overseas owners that are not lived in on a full-
time basis are lived in for at least part of the year, with homes in some developments 
being occupied for an average of 190 days a year. 
 

21. The differential highlighted by York between levels of inferred occupancy amongst 
homes owned by UK buyers and those owned by overseas buyers would be expected to 
narrow over time due to the properties bought by overseas buyers being advertised for 
letting and subsequently rented out, or being occupied by children of the owner coming 
to London to attend university. It should be noted that in those boroughs where the 
inferred under-occupancy rate was highest, the absolute number of new homes built 
was lowest, meaning that the overall effect on London-wide under-occupancy rates was 
limited. 

 
iii. How reliant is development viability on sales to overseas buyers? 
 

22. Overall picture: The LSE research found that overseas sales were very important to the 
development industry in the post-recession period after 2009, with relatively high 
numbers of sales to investors based overseas. Interviewees from the across the industry 
felt that, in the absence of such sales, housing supply in London would have 
dramatically decreased in that time. In addition, large scale, high density development 
has required high levels of upfront overseas capital investment in order to achieve 
delivery. 
 

23. Role of overseas buyers in supporting development viability: The LSE research 
found that pre-sales (also called ‘off-plan’ or ‘advance’ sales) are key to ensuring that 
development happens, whether because of a requirement of lenders, or to reduce the 
risks inherent in development in London. Such risk is a function of the higher density 

                                                 
3 This calculated an inferred occupancy rate of a home by looking at a range of data that suggest occupancy, such 
as presence by an occupier on the electoral roll or registration of that address for commercial transactions. A 
baseline rate of expected occupancy was established with reference to towns with limited numbers of overseas 
buyers and second homes. The London Land Registry sample was then assessed against this baseline to give a 
relative level of occupancy, i.e. when compared to what might be expected, what proportion of homes exhibit 
characteristics of homes that are not lived in full time. Since these results are based on a methodology that relies 
on relative calculations, the inferred under-occupancy rates more confidently suggest relative levels of under-
occupancy, rather than offering confidence that a particular absolute percentage of homes are under occupied. 
The full details of the methodology are set out in the University of York report. 

Page 61



development being undertaken in London, where large blocks of apartments require 
upfront finance and security that sales will happen. 
 

24. Potential impact on UK buyers: The LSE research found that lenders for housing 
development will require anywhere between 40-60% of the units in a development to 
be pre-sold before construction can start. Most developers stated a preference for 
selling to UK buyers and only sold homes overseas because there was inadequate pre-
sales demand from UK residents, with most developers citing the length of mortgage 
offers as a major constraint, as there may be three or four years between contracts 
being exchanged and the completion of a development, although this time period 
varied.  

 
iv. How does overseas financing of development contribute to housing supply? 

 
25. Different forms of overseas financing: LSE found that almost all of London’s very 

large residential development sites have needed overseas investment to get them 
underway. Investment from overseas takes a number of forms, including as developers, 
equity financiers, purchasers of built developments (this is especially the case for many 
Build to Rent4 schemes) or investors in UK housebuilders. 
 

26. Effects on housing supply: The LSE research did not quantify the effect of this scale 
of investment in terms of specific housing numbers, but did conclude that although 
some development would be likely to have occurred at some point on major 
development sites without overseas buyers, the number of units produced and the 
speed of development is likely to have been less. 
 

27. Importance of overseas investment in London: Overseas investment at an 
institutional level was clearly important for London’s housing supply according to the 
LSE research– of a study of 177 residential schemes of over 20 market units, overseas-
based lenders were responsible for 46 (26%). There is clearly an appetite internationally 
to lend for residential development in London. This appetite seems to be highly focused 
on London as opposed to the UK, too - the research found that the majority of overseas 
institutional investment was in London, with 106 of 143 major residential transactions 
since 2012 in the city. London transactions accounted for 85% of the recorded value of 
transactions in the whole of the UK. 

 
 
Annexes 
 
A. The research brief 
 
B.    LSE report 
 
C.    University of York Report 
 

                                                 
4 Purpose built homes for long term professional letting 

Page 62



           Annex A   

  

 
 
Brief: Overseas investors in the London residential property market project 
 
1  Summary  

 
1.1  London is open to people and investment from around the world. We welcome people 

from all countries who want to make London their home, and we welcome investment 
from around the world in building new homes. 

 
1.2  At the same time, there are public concerns about the role that overseas money plays 

in London’s property market. The GLA wants to ensure any discussion of policy 
responses is underpinned by clear evidence and understanding, and so it wishes to 
commission a piece of work to review the scale and nature of overseas investment into 
London’s residential property market. 

 
1.3  Specifically, this work will look at the proportion of new homes that are bought by 

overseas buyers, the extent to which those homes are occupied or kept empty, the 
reliance of development viability on overseas sales of new homes, and the contribution 
of overseas financing of development toward housing supply. 

 
1.4  This will be the most thorough research on this matter ever undertaken in Britain. 

This research is not expected to suggest policy solutions to address issues around 
overseas buyers, but rather is intended to be an extensive piece of research that will 
act as an evidence base to underpin the Mayor’s policy development on the issue. 
 

1.5  In addition to this research, the GLA is drawing together other sources of information 
that may be of use in developing policy, including planning and legal advice, and 
international comparisons of how other world cities are responding to similar public 
concerns. The GLA is also working with the Government on their research into the 
transparency of foreign ownership of property. 

 
1.6  The GLA is aware that the issue of overseas buyers is a contentious one, and so wants 

the research to be as independent as possible. It may therefore be the case that it 
should be led by a university or independent research organisation, utilising support 
and expertise from an industry body to enhance data gathering and analysis. 

 
2  Background and policy context 
 
2.1 The issue of overseas buyers buying London homes has received an increasing amount 

of media attention in recent years. For example, there have been several press reports 
about the scale and nature of overseas buyers, often in high profile developments or 
locations such as One Hyde Park1, Nine Elms2, St George’s Tower3 and Bishops 
Avenue4, and often suggesting that homes are bought and deliberately kept empty 

                                                 
1 https://www.theguardian.com/money/2013/sep/27/one-hyde-park-sold-but-unoccupied  
2 http://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/mortgageshome/article-2340858/85-homes-Central-London-sold-overseas-
buyers.html  
3 https://www.theguardian.com/society/2016/may/24/revealed-foreign-buyers-own-two-thirds-of-tower-st-george-wharf-
london  
4 http://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/londons-3bn-ghost-mansions-foreign-investors-are-using-capital-s-finest-
homes-as-real-life-monopoly-9128782.html  

Page 63

https://www.theguardian.com/money/2013/sep/27/one-hyde-park-sold-but-unoccupied
http://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/mortgageshome/article-2340858/85-homes-Central-London-sold-overseas-buyers.html
http://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/mortgageshome/article-2340858/85-homes-Central-London-sold-overseas-buyers.html
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2016/may/24/revealed-foreign-buyers-own-two-thirds-of-tower-st-george-wharf-london
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2016/may/24/revealed-foreign-buyers-own-two-thirds-of-tower-st-george-wharf-london
http://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/londons-3bn-ghost-mansions-foreign-investors-are-using-capital-s-finest-homes-as-real-life-monopoly-9128782.html
http://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/londons-3bn-ghost-mansions-foreign-investors-are-using-capital-s-finest-homes-as-real-life-monopoly-9128782.html


 

(the so-called ‘Buy to Leave’ phenomenon). However, much of the existing research 
into overseas buyers tends to be limited and increasingly historic in nature.5  

 
2.2 The limited available evidence suggests that sales to overseas buyers are highly 

localised, with ‘prime central London’ accounting for a relatively high proportion of 
such purchases.6 Knight Frank has suggested that almost half of new build sales in 
‘prime central’ London in 2012 were to buyers resident overseas.7 Savills reported that, 
in 2012, of all sales in prime central London, 46% were to people born overseas 
(however, it is not clear whether they were resident overseas or in London).8 

 
2.3 Set against concerns over empty homes and a predominance of overseas buyers in 

localised markets are reports of the positive role that overseas buyers play in enabling 
developments to go ahead. They are much more likely to be cash buyers and willing 
and able to reserve or buy homes off-plan well in advance of domestic buyers reliant 
on mortgage finance. These off-plan sales are an important part of development 
viability: industry bodies report that that development finance can be difficult to 
obtain until 40% of units have been reserved, and that most developers will not start 
construction on a development until a third of its units have been pre-sold. 

 

2.4 The Mayor is committed to improving access to new and affordable homes for 
Londoners and various different policy options are being looked at to address this. On 
30 September, the Mayor announced that he wanted to commission the “most 
thorough research on this matter ever undertaken in Britain”, saying that there were 
“real concerns” over the number of homes bought by overseas buyers in London.9  

 
2.5  Given the importance of overseas buyers in development, and given the uncertainty in 

the housing market following a number of taxation changes and the recent vote to 
leave the European Union, it is vital that any policy that seeks to support Londoners’ 
access to new homes has a robust evidence base and is developed with a clear 
understanding of the role overseas investment plays in development viability. This 
research will form the core part of that evidence base. 

 
3 Scope of the project 
 
3.1 The research will consider four broad questions, each with a series of sub-questions 

underneath:  
 

i. What proportion of new homes is sold to buyers who are resident overseas? 
ii. What proportion of new homes is kept empty and how many of these are 

owned by foreign buyers? 
iii. How reliant is development viability on sales to overseas buyers? 
iv. How does overseas financing of development contribute to housing supply? 

 
3.2 The intention of the research is not simply to map the nationality of property 

ownership in London. Rather it is to assess the extent to which homes bought in 
London are owned by people not normally resident in the city. Therefore, for the 
purposes of this research, ‘overseas buyers’ would ideally be defined as people whose 
principal residence is outside of the UK. This will therefore include UK nationals living 

                                                 
5 For example: ‘Savills World Spotlight: The World in London 2013’; ‘Creating the Conditions for Growth’, LSE, 2013; 
‘International Buyers in London’, Knight Frank, 2013; ‘Who Buys New Homes in London and Why?’, Molior/BPF, 2014 
6 Different estate agencies tend to use different definitions of what constitutes ‘prime central’ London, but it generally means 
London west of the City, east of Fulham, north of Nine Elms and south of Regent’s Park. 
7 Knight Frank, (October 2013), ‘International Buyers in London’  
8 ‘A World in London’, Savills 2013 
9 https://www.theguardian.com/cities/2016/sep/29/london-mayor-sadiq-khan-inquiry-foreign-property-ownership  

Page 64

https://www.theguardian.com/cities/2016/sep/29/london-mayor-sadiq-khan-inquiry-foreign-property-ownership


 

abroad for a period of time but exclude foreign nationals who are normally resident in 
London. We are asking research organisations to propose a definition, based on 
available evidence they intend to use for the research, which will be agreed at an early 
stage of the project. 

 
3.3 The research should focus on sales and occupancy of new homes.  
 
3.4 The Mayor has long called for greater transparency in London’s property market and 

has said he does not want homes to be bought with “dirty money” by overseas 
purchasers, including those who use the London property market as a means to avoid 
taxes or to launder funds.10 Government is currently researching options and 
developing measures to ensure that all property in England and Wales owned by 
companies registered overseas is subject to the same level of transparency as property 
owned by UK-registered companies, meeting a key demand of the Mayor’s. GLA 
officers will arrange for meetings between the successful bidder and the relevant civil 
servants to discuss the respective research projects, and it is expected that the 
successful bidder will reference this work in their final report. The bidder will not be 
expected undertake any separate and potentially duplicative research on the 
transparency of property ownership. 

 
3.5 Many countries and cities around the world have policies relating to the issue of 

overseas investment in local property markets. Research into this is being carried out 
separately by the GLA and so the research being commissioned by this paper should 
not review the efficacy or otherwise of these policies or approaches, except insofar as 
they may inform the research methodologies used in this commission.  

 
3.6 The GLA is also open to other value-adding information that the research organisation 

is able to provide. If there is such information that could be provided this should be 
detailed along with any additional cost that may be associated with gathering it. 

 
i) What proportion of new homes is sold to buyers who are resident overseas? 
 
3.7 There is limited public information regarding the origin or current residency of 

purchasers of homes in London. Reports referenced in paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 set out 
some data on sales of new homes in central London, but these are limited in scope – 
mapping only parts of ‘prime’ central London - and reflect the property market in 2013 
at a different point in the development cycle.  

 
3.8 The research will build up a thorough evidence base recording the proportion of new 

build homes in London sold to buyers resident overseas. Ideally, it should determine: 

 The proportion of new build homes in London sold to buyers with 
 overseas addresses; 

 The country/region of origin of purchasers; 

 The locations of the homes sold to overseas buyers, especially any recent 
 trends, such as increases in such sales in outer London; 

 The price points at which homes are sold – i.e. whether sales are
 concentrated in higher value areas or property types; 

 The intentions behind the purchases – e.g. to rent out, for family use, or 
 to keep empty purely for investment purposes. 

 
ii) What proportion of new homes is kept empty and how many of these are owned by 

foreign buyers?  

                                                 
10 Ibid. 

Page 65



 

 
3.9 There is limited information on the number of empty homes in London. The data 

usually records long term empty homes that are derelict, rather than new homes that 
are barely lived in. The former is recorded by London Boroughs and reported by central 
government, and shows that the number of empty homes in London has fallen by more 
than 30% since 2004, from 87,000 to 60,000 homes, and that the number of long term 
empty homes (unoccupied for more than six months) has fallen by 50%, from 42,000 
to 21,000 homes.11  

 
3.10 However, some organisations have suggested that these figures do not accurately 

account for the scale of ‘buy-to-leave’ as these homes will tend to be occupied for at 
least part of the time and are less likely to be reported to the local authority as 
vacant.12 Similarly, there are some media reports with anecdotal evidence of central 
areas of London where the local permanent resident population is felt to have fallen13, 
but there is no comprehensive assessment of the extent of the phenomenon. 

 
3.11 The most recent research in London on the issue of ‘buy-to-leave’ was undertaken by 

Islington as part of the evidence base for their 2015 Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) ‘Preventing Wasted Housing Supply’, which introduced an occupancy 
requirement on new developments as a condition of planning permission.14 The council 
cross-referenced electoral roll data with Council Tax records and Land Registry data to 
identify the levels of ‘unexplained’ non-registration on the electoral roll in market 
sector properties, and used this data as a proxy for vacancy. The SPD acknowledges 
that some of the developments that had no-one registered to vote living in them may 
have been nonetheless occupied.  

 
3.12 The research undertaken for the SPD was focused on the borough of Islington. 

Research with the same objective will need to be undertaken over a much broader 
sample of homes across London to build up a picture of the extent to which new 
homes bought by overseas buyers are not occupied. 

 
3.13 Ideally, the information that research will need to ascertain is: 

 The extent of non-occupancy of new homes; 

 The locations of those homes; 

 The extent to which those homes are owned by overseas buyers; 

 The reasons why those homes are left empty. 
 

iii) How reliant is development viability on sales to overseas buyers?’ 
 
3.14 Set against the issues around foreign ownership of London property and ‘buy-to-leave’ 

is evidence suggesting that overseas buyers form an important source of finance for 
new homes – particularly ‘off-plan’ sales that help to make schemes viable. There is 
some evidence (cited above) on the extent of overseas purchasing in London, but less 
on how this contributes to development overall. We need to understand the benefits to 
new housing supply of sales of new homes overseas. 

 
3.15 The research will need to ascertain how important overseas purchasers are to 

developers’ business models, and whether this varies by location/type of development, 

                                                 
11 DCLG Table 615 
12 Empty Homes, ‘Empty Homes in England’, 2015 
13 https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/jan/25/its-like-a-ghost-town-lights-go-out-as-foreign-owners-desert-
london-homes  
14 London Borough of Islington, ‘Preventing wasted Housing Supply’ 2015 

Page 66

https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/jan/25/its-like-a-ghost-town-lights-go-out-as-foreign-owners-desert-london-homes
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/jan/25/its-like-a-ghost-town-lights-go-out-as-foreign-owners-desert-london-homes


 

and what the likely impacts on these models would be of policies designed to restrict 
overseas investment in the housing market. 

 
3.16 The research should ideally seek to answer the following specific sub-questions: 

 How important are pre-sales to development viability, especially in relation 
to securing development finance?  

 How does this compare with other sources of demand?  

 Does this vary by location, typology and price point?  

 What proportion of units is normally sold off-plan?  

 What proportion of new homes is marketed overseas?  

 What is the location and price point of homes marketed overseas?  

 What proportion of pre-sold units are bought by owner occupiers? 

 What are any barriers to owner occupiers buying off-plan, particularly those 
who need a mortgage? 
 

iv)  How does overseas financing of development contribute to housing supply? 
 
3.17 Distinct from the issue of overseas ownership of individual dwellings, we are also 

interested in understanding the wider impact of institutional and corporate investment 
from overseas in developing new homes in London. We are looking for proposals that, 
ideally, seek to assess and quantify this investment in building homes in terms of 
sterling amounts and number of homes in the pipeline. Evidence on the extent to 
which this investment is additional or merely displaces domestic investment would also 
be helpful as well as observations on anything which makes such developments distinct 
from those financed domestically.   

 
4   Key partners 

4.1   The key partners for this project are listed below, with an outline of their role: 

 GLA – the GLA is London’s strategic housing and planning authority, with 
responsibility for drawing London’s spatial development plan and ensuring 
that policies are put in place to support delivery of housing to meet 
London’s housing requirements and the well-being of Londoners; 

 Housing developers – responsible for delivering the majority of London’s 
housing. Larger developers account for the majority of overseas sales, and 
will have the greatest awareness of impact of overseas buyers on 
development viability; 

 Local authorities – responsible for implementing local planning policies, 
aware of local areas that may have high numbers of overseas buyers, directly 
accountable for addressing local amenity impacts of empty properties. They 
also hold data such as Electoral Roll and Council Tax databases that may 
help determine whether homes are kept empty; 

 Industry bodies, e.g. Home Builders Federation – represent the private 
development sector and may help in developing knowledge of industry 
practice; 

 Sales consultancies, e.g. Hometrack, Molior – gather data on industry 
practice and sales prices and trends, and may help developing knowledge of 
industry practice. 

 

 

Page 67



 

5 Methodology 
 
5.1 It is for consultants to propose what they consider to be the most effective 

methodology for addressing the objectives of the study. However, it is recognised that 
a number of research reports already exist in this subject, and the role of this project is 
not to repeat or duplicate any of these (although it will be useful to draw on them for 
reference and to include a summary of them in a literature review).  

 
5.2 The work required in answering the four research questions will be a mixture of 

literature review, evidence gathering and data analysis. It is therefore envisaged that a 
number of different skill sets will be required. We will expect bids to show a 
commitment to working across disciplines. Bids that propose partnership working 
as part of a joint team of organisations with different strengths and 
backgrounds are therefore strongly encouraged. 

 
5.3 All the data collected in answering the research questions should be collected by 

geographical area, ideally at a borough level, to aid cross-tabulation of results across 
the four areas of research. Ideally the data would be a time series for the last five years 
if this is achievable within the budget available. If not, it should at least cover the 
previous two years to give a snapshot image of the scale of the issue in London. 

 
5.4 In responding to this brief, there are a number of ways that researchers could gather 

the evidence needed to answer the four questions above. However, in answering each 
of the questions, the successful bidder should first undertake a desk-based review of 
existing evidence and seek to identify new sources evidence for analysis. Initial findings 
should be tested with key stakeholders in the sector, to be agreed with the GLA in 
advance. 

 
5.5  Below we set out some of the data sources and methodologies that could be used, 

though we welcome and encourage the inclusion of any other innovative sources of 
direct or proxy data to inform the research. 

 
i) What proportion of new homes is sold to buyers who are resident overseas? 
 
5.6 To find out the proportion of homes sold to buyers registered overseas, the required 

data could be collected using a sample of Land Registry records for recent sales and/or 
through access to sales databases for estate agencies and/or developers, where they 
monitor data. The sample should be representative of Greater London’s new homes 
market as a whole. Reports produced on the subject by Knight Frank and Savills use a 
sampling methodology combined with access to sales data, and this method may be 
replicated if possible. Consultancies such as Molior also collect data on sale of private 
developments of over 20 units, and consultants may wish to draw on this database.  

 
ii) What proportion of new homes is kept empty and how many of these are owned by 

foreign buyers?  
 
5.7 To understand the nature of the ‘buy-to-leave’ phenomenon, datasets such as those 

discussed in paragraph 3.11 could be used, and a sample of developments could be 
taken in selected areas across the whole of London to build up a representative picture 
of the scale of the issue across the whole city. It is envisaged that this research would 
yield two datasets – one showing the proportion of empty homes in new 
developments, and another showing the proportion of these that are owned by buyers 
registered overseas. 

 

Page 68



 

5.8 It may also be possible for developers to undertake key fob usage analysis of new 
developments. However, proposals should assume that they will solely be responsible 
for collecting data to support the research objectives. 

 
iii) How reliant is development viability on sales to overseas buyers? 
 
5.9 To understand the role of overseas buyers in underpinning developers’ business 

models, researchers should consult with lenders and finance experts, and may want to 
consider convening a roundtable discussion with developers and others in the sector to 
understand any unique contribution that overseas purchasers make. We would 
welcome suggestions of data sources that would provide a robust analysis of this issue. 

 
iv)  How does overseas financing of development contribute to housing supply? 
 
5.10 In order to assess the scale of overseas institutional investment in London’s residential 

development industry, it is expected that the successful bidder will talk to businesses 
monitoring the sector, such as Molior, to gather data on the level of institutional 
finance, which can then be aggregated to give an estimated total quantum of 
investment. We would welcome suggestions for other data sources that would answer 
this question.  

 
6 Outputs 
 
6.1 The project will have the following outputs and indicative timetable (the exact 

timetable will be agreed with the successful bidder and will be subject to the timetables 
of associated internal GLA processes): 

 

 An interim report, to be presented to the GLA setting out initial findings from 
the research [December 2016/ January 2017]; 

 A private discussion on emerging findings with a GLA convened expert group 
[January/ February 2017]; 

 A draft final report to be presented to the GLA for officers to review and 
comment upon [March/ April 2017]; 

 A final report, which may be made public, setting out the findings in answer to 
the four research questions [March/ April 2017]. 
 

6.2 Data and research findings should be presented in Excel or another format which  
 enables cross-tabulation and interrogation after the research has been completed. All 

data, including that which is not used in the final report, will be made available to the 
GLA for retention and subsequent analysis. 

 
6.3 Findings and recommendations should be set out in a report of publishable standard. 

This should be concise and written in plain English, and include the following: an 
executive summary, a description of the project methodology, assumptions and 
findings. The contractor will be required to provide robust evidence to support the 
findings.  

 
7 Timetable  
 
7.1 A full response to this brief should be emailed to Dominic Curran 

(dominic.curran@london.gov.uk) at the Greater London Authority’s City Hall by no 
later than midday on 15 November 2016.  

 

Page 69



 

7.2 Short-listed consultants will be invited to attend an interview on 24 November 2016.  
Respondents will be expected to give a short presentation, of no more than 20 
minutes, showing how they would interpret the brief and add value to it. 

 
7.3 Upon award of contract, the GLA will hold an inception meeting as soon as practicable 

and finalise the brief and other details of the project, including the timetable.   
 
7.4  An indicative timetable is set out below: 
 

 Stage 1 – Tenders submitted by:  15 November 2016 

 Stage 2 – Interviews: 24 November 2016 

 Stage 3 – Successful consultant appointed: 28 November 2016 

 Stage 4 – Inception meeting: project brief refined and agreed:  30 Nov 2016 

 Stage 5 – Interim report presented to the GLA: Dec 2016/Jan 2017 

 Stage 5 – Complete draft final report: March/April 2017 

 Stage 6 – Sign off of final report: March/April 2017 
 
7.5  This timetable will be refined at the inception meeting and will be subject to the 

timetables of associated internal GLA processes. Bidders should hold the dates above 
in their diaries should they be selected for interview / awarded the brief. 

 
8 Proposal submission requirements  

8.1 The submission, which should be no longer than 12 pages, must include the following:  

 A proposal of your approach to the work to be undertaken, in particular the 
methods you propose to use to meet the aims of the review and any value added 
proposals; 

 A detailed project plan, identifying the elements of work, the number of days to 
be worked on each element and the key milestones, as well as:  

o The names, experience and grades of all the consultants who will 
work on the project, their individual responsibilities, their daily rate 
and a single named lead contact; 

o A completed pricing schedule setting out daily rates for each person 
involved in the project, the elements of the research each of them 
will work on and for how many days, and the total cost per work 
element. Staff costs, expenses and VAT should all be shown 
separately; 

o A proposed payment schedule setting out the stages of the project 
and the value attached to each stage. Note that before any payment 
is made the project manager will need to have signed off the project 
stage; 

 Evidence of:  

o an understanding of the aims and requirements of the research; 

o a track record of relevant previous experience of this kind of research 
and analysing evidence relevant to this work, and making well-argued 
and practicable recommendations; 

o experience of producing written reports of publishable standard; and 

o up-to-date knowledge of policy and housing issues in relation to 
delivering housing development and organisational capacity. 

Page 70



 

9  Budget 

9.1 The GLA is seeking proposals up to and around the value of £40,000 excluding VAT. 
Bids with a higher value than this may be accepted but they should offer a detachable 
demonstrated added value over and above the core research aims and outputs detailed 
in this brief. The GLA reserves the right to reject bids that are above this value, so 
bidders should give options in their bids accordingly. 

 

10  Selection criteria  

10.1 As soon as possible following the deadline, the GLA will evaluate all written responses. 
The evaluation will be based on the entire submission. Specific attention, in no 
particular order, will be paid to the following:  
 

 Your knowledge and understanding of the project area; 

 Demonstrable experience and track record of carrying out similar project(s) 
working with multiple stakeholders; 

 Identification of suitably qualified and experienced personnel who will be 
responsible for the delivery of the project (where sub-contractors are 
proposed details of their relevant experience should be provided); 

 Feasibility and efficiency of the methods/output proposed and suitability of 
the timetable and ability to meet it; 

 Value for money (competitive but realistic price for the task to be 
undertaken). 

 
10.2 Responses will be rejected if they do not meet the budget requirements set out in 9.1.  

 
10.3 You should address each of these in your proposal. All the criteria are considered 

important. Please note the weightings to be used in assessment. 
 

Requirement Weighting 

Understanding the scope of service 
required  

20% 

Demonstrable experience and track 
record of carrying out similar 
project(s) working with multiple 
stakeholders and in the field 

30% 

Feasibility and efficiency of the 
methods/output proposed and 
suitability of the timetable and 
ability to meet it 

30% 

Value for money 20% 

 
11 Project management 
 
11.1 The Project Sponsor is the Executive Director for Housing and Land and the project will 

be managed on a day to day basis by Dominic Curran, Senior Housing Policy Officer.  
There will be at least four meetings with the appointed consultants at project 
inception, presentation of interim findings, draft final report, and final report stages. 

 

Page 71



 

11.2 In addition to these meetings, it is expected that the appointed consultants will 
maintain regular contact with the project manager, including through at least weekly 
telephone conversations/meetings as appropriate. 

 
11.3 The research is being commissioned and managed by the GLA. It is expected that it will 

form the evidence base for the development of policy with regard to overseas buyers. 
This is likely to be considered by a Homes for Londoners (HfL) sub-group on overseas 
buyers. The interim and final research will therefore be presented to the HfL sub-group 
at relevant meeting dates in order for them to take it into account when making policy 
recommendations to the Mayor. Consultants should assume that they will be asked to 
present their findings to a group of stakeholders at least twice, and this should be 
included in the costs and project plan. 

 
12 Announcement  
 
12.1 On receipt of a satisfactory proposal, the successful organisation will be contracted 

using the GLA’s standard purchase order terms and conditions, which are non-
negotiable.  

 
12.2 The successful organisation shall not sub-contract any part of the work without the 

previous consent in writing of the Project Manager at the GLA. The GLA reserves the 
right to view sub-contracts before consenting to them being let.  

 
12.3 The GLA reserves the right to pay for work on the basis that it is satisfactorily 

completed.  
 
12.4 The tender submission must describe your approach to safeguarding confidential 

information including any policies/procedures for handling sensitive documents and 
for protecting sensitive computer files from unauthorised access. Results and data from 
the work should not be made public without the prior written consent of the Mayor’s 
office. The GLA will own the intellectual property rights for this research and resulting 
report. 

 
 
Contact 
 
Enquiries about any aspect of this project should be addressed to: 
 
Dominic Curran  
Senior Policy Officer 
Housing and Land Directorate 
Greater London Authority 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA  
E-mail: dominic.curran@london.gov.uk  
Telephone: 020 7983 4382 

Page 72



Annex B 

 
 
 

The role of overseas investors in the London 
new-build residential market 

 
Final report for Homes for London 

 
Kath Scanlon, Christine Whitehead and Fanny Blanc 

with Ulises Moreno-Tabarez 

 
May 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 73



 
 

Table of Contents 
Executive summary ............................................................................................................................. 2 

I  The research questions .................................................................................................................... 4 

Approach ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

II Background: characterising the market ........................................................................................... 5 

New-build homes for sale ............................................................................................................... 5 

Amount of new-build currently for private sale across London ..................................................... 5 

Segmentation of the London residential market ............................................................................ 6 

III Question 1: the proportion of overseas buyers in the market ....................................................... 8 

Sales to overseas buyers ................................................................................................................. 9 

IV Question 2: The proportion of new residential units bought and left vacant .............................. 15 

V  Question 3: The role of pre-sales and off-plan sales .................................................................... 20 

VI  Question 4: The role of major overseas investors in the residential development process in 
London .............................................................................................................................................. 23 

Investment at scale in London new-build residential property .................................................... 23 

Large-scale investment from overseas institutions and individuals ............................................. 24 

Financing residential development ............................................................................................... 25 

VII  Conclusions ................................................................................................................................. 26 

Acknowledgements ........................................................................................................................... 29 

References ........................................................................................................................................ 29 

 
 
 
  

Page 74



 
 

Executive summary  

The project: The team was asked to look at four main research questions: 

 What proportion of new residential units in London is bought by overseas buyers?  

 What proportion of these units is left empty?  

 To what extent do the funding models of London residential developers rely on off-plan 

sales to overseas buyers? 

 What is the role of major overseas investors (such as pension funds, sovereign wealth, debt 

providers, shareholdings) in the residential development process in London?   

Methods: Our approach included secondary data analysis; individual sales data from agents; and 
interviews with developers, agents, managers and other stakeholders. The sales data covered 
approximately 10% of new private units for sale during a two-year period, April 214 to March 2016 
and we interviewed the developers involved with over 50% of new units.  There were many issues 
around definitions and data availability which means our findings should be seen as an (incomplete) 
jigsaw rather than a definitive picture.   

The proportion of new residential units in London bought by overseas buyers:  About a third of the 
sales handled by certain international estate agents between April 2014 and April 2016 were to 
overseas buyers, rising to over 50% in central London (where the number of new units is small). 
Information from developers is consistent with this in particular parts of the market. However many 
developers hardly sell any units to overseas residents so the overall proportion of new market units 
sold to overseas buyers is undoubtedly much lower; the York University analysis suggests around 
13% of new market housing was sold to overseas residents across London as a whole in the two 
years to March 2016.    

The proportion of new units sold to buyers resident overseas declines with distance from the centre.  
Related to this, the higher the unit prices, the higher the proportion of overseas buyers.  
 
Overseas buyers, most of whom come from Asia and the Middle East, purchase London property for 
three main reasons: as an investment to let out; to accommodate family (notably students or 
sometimes returning expats); and/or as a London home to be used for work-related or vacation 
visits.  The evidence from agents and developers suggested that 70% or more of sales were for 
letting purposes with a maximum of 30% in the other two categories.  

The proportion of units left empty: Developers estimated occupancy rates for individual schemes 
were generally up to 95%.  There was almost no evidence of units being left entirely empty - 
certainly less than 1%. Units bought to be let out appear to have very high occupancy rates and 
indeed some are ‘over-occupied’ e.g. by students.  However for those units bought as second 
homes, occupancy could be as little as a few weeks a year.  Many such second home sales are to UK 
residents, not overseas buyers.  

The importance of pre-sales to London residential developers: Except for housing associations, 
developers almost all said they needed pre-sales to ensure a pipeline of development. Some banks 
and other debt finance institutions required pre-sales before lending, but more importantly 
developers needed pre-sales to reduce the risks associated with market volatility and the lumpiness 
of completions in apartment blocks.  Off-plan sales were usually to overseas buyers as they had 
more experience buying this way and were not constrained by UK mortgage offers. 

Page 75



 
 

Domestic pre-sales were also important to developers but occurred somewhat later in the 
development process. Developers usually aimed to have little or no unsold stock by the time 
schemes were complete, as this tied up capital and slowed production. This was seen to 
disadvantage first-time buyers; in response some developers held some units back for them, while 
others said they would sell to UK buyers who could show that in principle they could get a mortgage.   

The role of major overseas investors in the residential development process in London: Almost all 

London’s very large residential development sites have used overseas investment to get them 

started and speed up development.  In addition, many Build to Rent schemes (large-scale purpose-

built PRS) have benefited from overseas funding during the development process, and/or are owned 

by foreign institutions.  The very large increase in Build to Rent output in 2015/16 stems significantly 

from increased international investment.   

Additionality: On reasonable, conservative assumptions Londoners may be excluded as tenants or 
owners from perhaps 6% of private new-build units.  This cost is offset by the effect of overseas sales 
and investment on developers’ decisions to build and the speed of delivery. The pattern after 2010, 
when the effects of the financial crisis were at their worst, suggests that overseas investment since 
then has had a positive net effect on the availability to Londoners of new housing, both private and 
affordable.   
 
 
In summary: 
 

 Our project was limited to four specific questions around overseas buyers and investors in 
the new housing market. It should not be seen as a full cost benefit analysis.  

 Quite large proportions of new build units are bought by overseas residents.  The proportion 
is highest in central London but total numbers there are small;   

 A substantial majority of the units bought by overseas investors are let out to Londoners; 

 Others are being used by family members, children in education, or returning expats and are 
fully occupied;  

 A small, but highly visible, subset of new build market housing is lived in only occasionally. 
Yet even owners of ‘London homes’ who come to London relatively rarely often contribute 
significant benefits to the London economy; 

 Sales to overseas buyers accelerate development through their impact on developers’ 
decisions to build and thus make more market and affordable housing available- especially 
given that affordable housing is currently largely a by-product of market development; 

 International investment and finance have helped bring stalled sites into use and speed up 
development especially on larger sites. They have also been key to creating a UK Build to 
Rent sector.  

 
 

  

Page 76



 
 

I  The research questions 

 
LSE London, a research centre at the London School of Economics, has undertaken research on 
behalf of the Greater London Authority (GLA) better to understand the role of overseas investors in 
the London new-build residential market.  The findings will help inform the development of policy in 
this area.    
 
The team was asked to look at four main research questions: 

 What proportion of new residential units in London is bought by overseas buyers?  

 What proportion of these units is left empty?  

 To what extent do the funding models of London residential developers rely on off-plan 

sales to overseas buyers? 

 What is the role of major overseas investors (such as pension funds, sovereign wealth, debt 

providers, shareholdings) in the residential development process in London?   

The research looked not only at how many units are sold to overseas buyers and how these units are 
used, but also at the potential importance of these buyers in enabling new supply, including the 
supply of affordable housing and the direct involvement of overseas investors in supporting new 
development.  Detailed sub-questions, as agreed with the GLA, can be found in Appendix 1. Many of 
the questions are couched in quantitative terms, but the evidence available is relatively limited, 
often partial, and sometimes difficult to interpret. The research process was therefore rather like 
assembling a jigsaw using both quantitative and qualitative elements. Inevitably the results include 
some important gaps.   
 
It is important to stress that the research covered only newly built private sector homes. It did not 
address the role of international investors in the much larger market for existing homes. Moreover, 
the definition of ‘overseas buyer’ is someone whose main residential address at the time of property 
purchase was outside the UK, regardless of their nationality.  This means that a UK expat living in 
Dubai would be classed as an overseas buyer, whereas a French national living in Kensington (or 
indeed in Edinburgh) would be regarded as a UK buyer.   
 

Approach 
 
This report brings together evidence from three main sources: 

 A literature review which looked at academic and other research, ephemeral and grey 
literature, market commentaries and web-based materials;  

 Quantitative data, mainly from three sources:  
o major international estate agencies that market London homes overseas 
o Molior, a commercial organisation that tracks new residential development in 

London 
o Real Capital Analytics, an international firm that logs major investments in the 

property market, including existing buildings and development sites in London 

 Interview and survey material   
o more than 30 semi-structured interviews with informed stakeholders involved at all 

stages of the development, finance, marketing and management processes.  Some of 
the responses have included quantitative elements.  

o Written survey of members of the London group of the House Builders Federation. 
 

  

Page 77



 
 

II Background: characterising the market  
 
Here we look at the scale of new build in London and the importance of new homes relative to all 
residential transactions.  We then set out how various commentators categorise London residential 
markets. 
  

New-build homes for sale 
 
In this project we looked specifically at overseas investors’ role in the market for new homes in the 
capital.  In 2015-2016, 24,180 new dwellings were completed in London (DCLG Live Table 253, 2016) 
of which just over 17,000 were in the private sector.  This was considerably more than in the 
previous four years when the figures were 20,000 or fewer in total and 12,000 or fewer in the 
private sector.  Importantly, annual additions add less than 1% to London’s housing stock (BPF, 2014, 
p. 5).   
 
New-build homes have made up less than 10% of London’s housing transactions for most of the 
period since 1995 (Figure 1).  In the last four years the proportion has risen to something over 13%.  
 
Figure 1: New-build home sales as a proportion of all London sales since 1995 

 
Source: HM Land Registry  

 

Amount of new-build currently for private sale across London 

 
In January 2017 Molior listed 610 residential development schemes with 20 or more units consented 
for private sale in London, including housing-association developments, for sale.  Some 93 of these 
schemes were complete but not yet fully sold; the rest were partly or entirely under construction. As 
of January 2017 these schemes had a total of 97,500 units at some stage of construction, or 
complete but not sold.  There were a total of 925 units still for sale in developments that were 
physically complete.  The schemes with high proportions of unsold units tended to be smaller 
developments, and a very small number had phases that were complete but not yet launched. 
 
Looking at the spatial distribution of development, as of the beginning of 2017, of the units under 
development only 5% were in central London, with around 57% in inner London and 38% in outer 
London, even though outer London covers a much larger area.  As at the beginning of 2017, of the 
units under development, Tower Hamlets, Greenwich and Wandsworth were the boroughs with the 

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

11%

12%

13%

14%

Page 78



 
 

highest numbers of units being developed (Figure 2). These are all in inner London and together 
accounted for nearly a third of overall London numbers. By contrast ten London boroughs each had 
fewer than 1000 units under development; together they accounted for just 6% of London private 
housing output on this measure (see Annex B).  
 
Figure 2: Number of residential units under development by borough, January 2017 

 
 

Segmentation of the London residential market 
 
Market actors describe London’s residential submarkets in a variety of ways.  The main international 
agents typically distinguish between ‘prime’ London and the mainstream market, with ‘prime’ 
generally encompassing parts of several central London boroughs (usually Westminster, Kensington 
and Chelsea, Camden and Southwark).  Other, parallel designations of prime status rely on property 
value, with prime properties defined as those costing over £2m (Table 1). The vast majority of these 
will be in the areas identified above. Rising prices have led to new sub-classifications such as Super 
Prime (e.g. over £15m) and Intermediate Prime (e.g. £5m to £15m). 
 

Table 1: One categorisation of the London property market 
Property value Market category 

More than £15 m 

Prime 

Super Prime 

£5m to £15m Intermediate Prime 

£2m to £5m Prime 

Less than £2m Core market 
Source: Ramidus 2014, p.4  

 

Page 79



 
 

Much of the analysis of overseas purchases of London property focuses on demand for prime and 
super-prime units, although these account for very small numbers.  According to one report, ‘Only 
750 of the 97,000 Greater London sales in 2012 were Prime London new build sales to international 
second home buyers - less than 1%‘ (London First undated p. 4). More generally ‘Prime London’ 
accounts for only 8% of residential sales in the capital (Murphy and Barton, 2016, p. 1). The vast 
majority of these will be existing units.  

 
Local and central government more often classify London into groups of boroughs--usually inner and 
outer London, or central, inner and outer.  Sometimes they split inner London into north and south 
of the river. Developers and buyers, including overseas buyers, often use Transport for London fare 
zones as a shorthand for location.  Asian buyers in particular are said to pay close attention to public 
transport access when considering a London property purchase. 
 
 

  

Page 80



 
 

III Question 1: the proportion of overseas buyers in the market 

 
Context 
 
Several of the developers we interviewed said they had been selling to overseas buyers for twenty 
years and more—and in fact, overseas buyers have invested in London property for centuries. The 
main countries of origin have included at various times the USA, Arab countries, Russia, continental 
Europe, Africa and latterly the Far East.  The flows reflect international economic conditions (e.g. 
exchange rates, oil prices), domestic political and economic contexts in buyers’ countries of origin, 
and purchasers’ understanding of and prior experience in the UK. 
 
There have been a number of reports on the activity of overseas or foreign buyers in the London 
residential market. Many contain useful information but they must be regarded with care.  Those 
produced by the major estate agencies often concentrate on the prime central London market, 
which can give a misleading impression if the figures are applied to the capital as a whole.   
 
In its 2013 ‘Buyers in London’ report, Knight Frank for instance reported that 
 

‘Over the 12 months to June 2013, 49% of all £1m+ sales in prime central London went to 
foreign buyers by nationality. However only 28% of buyers were non-resident in the UK. 
Over the two years to June 2013 51% of new-build purchases in the prime central London 
market were by UK residents. Across the remainder of inner London the proportion was 80% 
and across outer London 93% of sales were to UK residents. Our estimate is that over the 
past two years 85% to 90% of all new-build purchases in Greater London have been to UK 
residents.’ (Knight Frank, 2013b, p. 2) 

 
At the other extreme London Property Partners reported that in 2012 only 15% of Prime London 
properties were purchased by UK buyers (Green and Bentley, 2014, p. 6).   The difference between 
the numbers from Knight Frank (49% overseas buyers in 2013) and London Property Partners (85% in 
2012) is striking and highlights the difficulties in defining prime central London and in collecting 
information about where buyers normally reside .  
 

Overseas buyers: definitions   

The invitation to tender defined ‘overseas buyer’ as any purchaser who is resident overseas. This 
definition corresponds with the focus of the project but does not necessarily align well with the way 
that information about property transactions is collected.  Data about nationality are good because 
agents and developers are required to record passport information under anti-money-laundering 
regulations.  However the information about country of residence is less uniform.  Developers and 
agents need to be able to contact buyers so they do record address information but in some cases it 
may be the buyer’s UK business address, or that of an attorney or agent. The location where the 
property transaction takes place (whether abroad or in the UK) may also impact on what 
information is collected. 
 
A further issue is that a not insignificant number of new properties are purchased through overseas-
registered companies.  This is thought to be more common in higher-priced developments.  There is 
no necessary link between country of residence and country of business registration, and UK as well 
as foreign residents can buy through overseas companies.  
 
Some individuals do not have a single main address but split their time between several residences, 
although the information we collected is not nuanced enough to identify those individuals with 

Page 81



 
 

multiple residences.  HMRC classifies landlords who live abroad for six or more months of the year as 
‘non-resident landlords.’   

 

Sales to overseas buyers 

 

The sales process   
 
Some agents and developers have permanent offices in major overseas markets (notably Hong Kong 
and China); more run exhibitions and sales events overseas - not just in the Far East but also in the 
Middle East, Russia and indeed Europe. Not all buyers at such events are necessarily permanent 
overseas residents--some may be moving to the UK or are indeed UK residents. Equally, overseas 
buyers often view homes and buy while visiting London.  Small and medium-sized builders, housing 
associations and local authority joint ventures are more likely to market in this country only, 
although they may still sell to overseas buyers.  
 

The developers in our sample all stated that they market initially in the UK and most will 
only try to sell a proportion of schemes, and indeed types of unit, overseas. Most units will be sold 
off-plan (see question 3 below). The typical procedure is for buyers to put down a small reservation 
fee (often £2,000) followed by 10% or somewhat more (including the reservation fee) at exchange of 
contracts, which may be within a few days or weeks of reservation. Thereafter there may be one or 
more staged payments before the final payment on completion. Re-selling the property (flipping) 
before completion, while normal in the Hong Kong and Chinese markets, is not common and 
developers normally retain a charge over the first buyer. 

 
Proportion of sales to overseas buyers 
 
A briefing paper for Parliament written at the time that this project was announced brings together 
estimates of the proportion of overseas buyers in the London residential market (Murphy and 
Barton, 2016). The review makes it clear that the proportion of overseas buyers is highest in the 
central London Prime market and declines rapidly with distance from the centre. It also shows that 
the proportion is higher for new build than for existing units. It also clarifies how difficult it is to 
compare like with like because of different definitions and data availability.  
 
Our own research involved interviews with developers  and other stakeholders, together with a 
small survey and quantitative analysis of data from agents whose business is relatively concentrated 
in areas where overseas sales are likely to be highest.  These approaches taken together can give 
clear indications of the relative importance of sales to overseas buyers and their price point and 
spatial patterns but not absolute numbers.  
 
Our interviews involved discussion with developers producing well over half of the development 
taking place in London. They developed across the whole of London but with some concentration in 
central and inner London. Many developers do not typically analyse raw information about their 
buyers to determine the proportion from overseas. Others only have information about overseas 
buyers for schemes that were marketed abroad, which gives an upward bias to the statistics.  
Qualitative evidence from a wide range of developers suggests that the vast majority of sales to 
overseas buyers are in zone 1, zone 2 and accessible inner parts of zone 3.  There are a few schemes 
outside these areas which appeal to and are marketed to overseas investors.  There is also evidence 
that some overseas buyers will look outside London to highly accessible locations such as Milton 
Keynes, but little to suggest that overseas demand has shifted within London to zone 3 and beyond.  
 

Page 82



 
 

Table 2 gives some stylised facts based on our interviews with developers.  We found very 
considerable variation in terms of their business models and product ranges.  Interviewees also 
stressed that only some types of scheme will sell overseas.  Given that the cost of marketing abroad 
is not negligible, such marketing is mainly undertaken to reduce risks on larger sites.   
 
Table 2: Developer sales: stylised facts  

Type of 
developer 

Location 
of sites 

Price points 
Percentage of market sales to 

overseas buyers  
Attitude to market 

Larger  Across 
London 

From c. £500 to 
£2,500/ft

2
 for 

private sales  

Around 30% overall Pre-sales are critical; from 
either UK or overseas  

Larger  
 
 
 

Across 
London   

Central London 
up to £2,000/ft

2
  

Outer under 
£650,000 

Across London around 25%. 
Central London up to 85% in 
some blocks  
Outer up to 10% for an 
appealing site but normally at 
most a few units 

Would rather sell to UK, 
buyers, but for central sites 
not possible 

Larger  Across 
London 

Mostly less than 
£650/ft

2
 

25% plus in 2015 but 
considerably lower in 2016 

Contributes to viability and 
therefore more housing  

Mid-size  Mainly 
zones 2 
and 3 

Less than 
£1,000/ft

2
 

Up to 65%  Overseas necessary to 
maintain throughput and 
permit contribution to 
affordable housing 

Mid-size Mainly 
zone 3 
and 
beyond  

£300 - £800/ft
2
  10 - 15% maximum - in 

2009/10 was nearer a third 
Want London/local buyers 
first  

Large  Across 
London  

Full range  20% of sales in last two years  
30% of these in zones 1 and 2 

Needs pre-sales and access 
to all markets 

Housing 
association 
as market 
developer  

Has been 
mainly 
East and 
SE 
London 

£1,000/ft
2
 

getting difficult; 
moving to £450 
- £700/ft

2
 

further out  

Overseas buyers a very small 
proportion. Mostly come via 
London marketing suite/local 
agents. One or two sales to 
Malaysia and Hong Kong   

Wants to maximise capacity 
to cross -subsidise 
affordable housing  

Housing 
association 
as market 
developer 

Mainly 
zones 3 - 
6 

£300 -  £700/ft
2 

Sells only to those who come 
through the door  - do not 
monitor the number with 
overseas passports but very 
small  

Aim is to provide for local 
households and to cross-
subsidise affordable 
housing  

Mid-size  Mainly 
zones 2 
and 4 

Under 
£1,000/ft

2
  

29% overseas residents  - all 
from Hong Kong 

Wants strong UK pre-sales 
market 

Smaller Across 
London 

£300+/sq ft
2 

None Looking to provide for local 
residents  

Mid-size Zones 2 
and 3 

£300 - £800/ft
2
  Around one third  Domestic off-plan 

important to reduce risk 

Source: LSE developer interviews 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 83



 
 

Some developers have offices overseas or regularly attend marketing events. Those developers who 
sold abroad tended to concentrate first on Hong Kong and then on China and sometimes Singapore.  
Some are more specialised in the Middle East and only a few are directly involved in Russia.  They 
note that demand from individual countries waxes and wanes depending on the political situations 
and on changes in tax and regulations. Demand from Singapore for instance has fallen in the last few 
years in part because the government has toughened up on leveraged investment; the Chinese 
government has also put stronger capital controls in place with some effect on prices paid; and sales 
to buyers from Turkey (and earlier Greece) reflected political and economic events there (see also 
Badarinza and Ramadorai 2016).   
 
Some agents have offices overseas and overseas sales are a major element in their business. Local 
agents on the other hand tend only to deal with overseas sales that ‘come through the door’.  
We have evidence from three major agents that specialise in marketing UK property overseas.  They 
had information on sales in almost all central and inner London boroughs over a two-year period, 
but reported no sales in 60% of outer London boroughs (annex B).  
 
These agents provided information about 7664 transactions that took place over the two-year 
period from April 2014 - March 2016; the relevant date was exchange of contracts.  Of these, 5214 
contained information about the purchaser’s country of residence.  The following discussion relates 
to this subset of 5214 unless otherwise indicated.  According to the London Development Database, 
there were 47,726 new market-price homes completed in London during this period.  Our 
information relates mainly to a later period because they are mainly pre-sales but on this basis it is 
reasonable to assume that the dataset in which 38% went to overseas buyers covers about 10% of 
the market - remembering both that this 10% is where overseas buyers are likely to be particularly 
concentrated and that overseas buyers are defined as those living outside the UK at the time of 
exchange of contracts, not foreign nationals. Table 3 breaks down these sales to overseas and UK 
buyers by area.  The transactions represent more than 70 London schemes.  
 
 The proportion of sales to overseas buyers rises to 53% for central London.  It is important to note 
though, that central London accounts for only around 10% of overall residential development in 
London, and one-third of units in larger developments is currently concentrated in Tower Hamlets, 
Wandsworth and Greenwich.    
 
While Table 3 shows 38% of transactions in the sample of maybe 10% plus of the total were with 
buyers from overseas, that does not mean 38% of all London’s privately built new homes were 
bought by overseas residents.  The agents that provided data all specialise in selling to overseas 
buyers, so our information covers only the segment of the new-build market most attractive to such 
purchasers.  Importantly these tend also to be larger developments which have been accounting for 
up to half of all new developments in London.  Most new London developments are never marketed 
abroad and will have much lower proportions of overseas buyers; many will have none at all.  There 
is therefore a strong upward bias to these statistics.  
 
We thus have two sources of evidence on proportions sold to overseas buyers (overseas residents 
from agents and a mix of overseas nationals and residents from developers).    The data from agents 
come from those who concentrate mainly on developments where overseas buyers are most likely 
to be involved; the data from developers include a high proportion of those who concentrate on 
large sites and pre-sales: the smaller developers included sell far less to overseas buyers. The agent 
evidence shows that 38% of their sales in the period April 2014 - Mar 2016 were to overseas buyers. 
Most of these will be pre-sold and may not be ready for occupation for up to three years or more. 
The developers were commenting on their recent experience and suggest a range from 0% to 
around 50% sold to overseas owners with the average among the large developers across London of 

Page 84



 
 

around 25%.   Smaller sites (accounting for perhaps nearly half of total market output) clearly have 
much lower proportions. Taking account of the biases towards larger sites, central and inner London 
and the business models of particular agents and developers suggests a sales figure below 20%, and 
maybe well below, in part dependent on the particular time period examined.   
 
Parallel research into the question of overseas investors and vacant homes was carried out by the 
University of York using quantitative analytical techniques (preliminary findings are available in 
Wallace et al, 2017).  Based on an analysis of Land Registry data they estimated that 13% of London 
new-build units sold between April 2014 and March 2016 were bought by overseas buyers 
(excluding properties sold for less than £200,000 and including those sold to overseas companies).   
The highest number of such transactions was found in what they called ‘areas of new growth’ 
(Camden, Greenwich, Lambeth, Newham, Southwark and Tower Hamlets).  The highest proportion 
of overseas transactions—36% - was in central London (City, Westminster and Kensington & 
Chelsea).   
 
These figures suggest similar levels of overseas buyer involvement to our lower estimates but cannot 
be directly compared.   In particular our quantitative information relates to the point of exchange 
while the York data relates to when the sale is completed - this may be up to three years or more 
later.  
 
 
 

Page 85



 
 

 
Table 3:  Sales* through three international agents:  Geographical breakdown of demand where buyer residence and unit location are known 
 

 

 

Approximate 
number** of 

sites/ 
Postcodes 

Sales where 
buyer 

residence 
known 

Of which to 
overseas buyers 

% of 
all 

Units sold to buyers from 
China/Pacific Asia 

Units sold to buyers from 
Middle East/North Africa 

Number % of overseas Number % of overseas 

Central 25 750 400 53% 180 45% 93 23% 

Inner N 19 1834 705 38% 519 74% 84 12% 

Inner S 18 1530 544 36% 302 56% 162 30% 

Outer 12 1100 334 30% 208 62% 56 17% 

Total 74 5214 1983 38% 1209 61% 395 20% 

Source: LSE London analysis of data from three London estate agencies 
*Records that did not include the location of the unit and/or the country of residence of the purchaser were excluded from the analysis 
**The records cover transactions on at least this number of sites and possibly more. The format of the data did not allow us to determine precise numbers. P

age 86



 
 

Looking at regions of residence, residents of China and Pacific Asia bought about half of the units 
purchased by overseas buyers in the period in question.  The next most common region of origin was 
North Africa and the Middle East (23%).  Together these two regions accounted for more than three-
quarters of units bought by overseas residents.   

 
This is consistent with an earlier Knight Frank analysis which found that 40% of new-built property 
purchasers in Central London were from Singapore and Hong Kong (2013a). Other reports identified 
mainland China, Indonesia, Malaysia, Middle East, Europe, Russia and North America as major 
sources of demand for London residential property (BPF, 2014, p. 17). 
 
It is also generally consistent with the York research which suggested buyers from Hong Kong, 
Singapore, Malaysia and China accounted for about three-fifths of overseas sales.     

 

Prices paid by overseas residents 
 
Table 4 compares prices paid by purchasers from the UK and overseas by area of London, based on 
records of 5091 transactions.  These reflect the general pattern of new-build prices in the capital, 
with the highest prices in the centre and the lowest in outer London.  The true averages in central 
London were higher:  for confidentiality reasons the prices of the most expensive units were not 
disclosed, and most of these units were in central London. 
 
Table 4: Average prices paid by UK and overseas resident buyers, by borough group 
London new-build transactions April 2014 – March 2016 

Price per unit.  Base: 5091 units 

 Average prices paid 

Borough group By UK residents By overseas residents 

Central  £ 3,585,209*  £3,088,849* 

Inner London N of river  £988,480  £992,037 

Inner London S of river  £1,028,840   £ 1,063,591  

Outer London  £562,382   £531,407  

*understates true average as price data not available for most costly units 
Source: LSE London analysis of data from three London estate agencies 
 
The prices paid by overseas buyers and those paid by UK residents were on average not hugely 
different. More detailed analysis shows that in some boroughs and some price ranges the units 
bought by overseas buyers were on average more expensive than those bought by UK residents; in 
other cases they were on average cheaper. Importantly however the evidence on spatial patterns of 
sales to overseas buyers implies that they are far more active than UK buyers at the high end of the 
market.  

 

  

Page 87



 
 

IV  Question 2: The proportion of new residential units bought and left 

vacant  
 
Definitions of occupancy and vacancy  
 
There are many ways of defining whether a property is vacant or occupied.  Annex C clarifies the 
main possibilities (see especially table c1).  The two main variables are: 
 

1. Whether the property is fit and ready for occupation - whether it is physically complete, has 
utilities and is furnished; and  

2. For how long/what proportion of time there is no-one living in the property.  
 

How the property is used clearly has a bearing on what proportion of time it is occupied.  An owner 
may use a unit as a primary or secondary home; it may house family/staff/friends, a legal tenant, or 
even possibly an irregular occupier.   
 
 Occupancy and its relationship to reasons for buying  
 
There are many reasons for buying a property apart from using it as a main home, and overseas 
investors will often have more than one motivation.  The main drivers are:   

o Making a rate of return based on rental/total yield (or related measure)  
o The potential for capital gains  
o Portfolio diversification in terms of asset class and/or country 
o To meet business/family housing requirements in London  
o To place money in a safe haven 

 
The scale of investment, price points and types of unit, location and time horizon (among other 
issues) will all depend on investors’ motivations. Motivation also affects occupancy: where rental 
yield is the goal the units will normally be occupied.  Equally the types of unit purchased for these 
reasons are likely to be ones expected to appeal to the local rental market. 
 
Purchases for business/family reasons are often with the intention of housing children in education, 
in which case the property will be occupied (and indeed may be over-occupied) during the education 
period.  However outside this period there are other options, including selling the property, letting it 
out or using it for occasional family visits.  
 
A significant proportion of high end sales are thought to be to business people or simply rich people, 
whether based in the UK or overseas, who see the property as their London home and may visit on a 
regular basis multiple times a year or be less regular and more limited in terms of occupancy.  
 
Evidence suggests that the dominant reasons for buying a property vary by region of origin. Buyers 
from China, Malaysia, Singapore and countries that buy in Singapore (eg Indonesia) tend to 
emphasise total yield. Buyers from Hong Kong and China also often look for accommodation for 
children at London universities, sometimes buying long before they are due to arrive (partly as a way 
of getting money out of China). Purchasers from the Middle East have traditionally invested for 
family reasons and may visit London for two or three months during the hottest part of the year and 
at other times. Greece, Turkey, Egypt, Cyprus and even Ireland are all countries where internal 
problems, both financial and political, have generated flows of investment into London property. 
 
The literature points to renting out as the dominant rationale for overseas investment.   Figure 3 
shows the uses of Prime London new build homes by overseas investors in 2012, according to 

Page 88



 
 

London First research which suggested that 58% went to Buy to Let; 27% to owner-occupiers and 
15% to second homes. 
 

Figure 3:  Use of Prime London new-build homes bought by overseas investors, 2012 

 
Source: London First (undated) 

 
This tends to be confirmed by agents’ own research: 

 
 ‘The head of residential research at Jones Lang LaSalle [Adam Challis] argues that foreign 
investors help to ease the housing crisis by buying properties which are then let out.  Their 
analysis, published in 2013, found that 85% of international buyers purchased properties as 
an investment and let them out’ (Murphy and Barton, 2016, pp. 3-4).  

 
Research findings about occupancy 
 
Above we report some indicative figures for sales of new London housing to overseas buyers.  
However it was not possible to determine the occupancy of these particular units, or generally even 
of the schemes where they are located.  The exceptions were when we interviewed concierges  
(Table 7) and when developers provided some more detailed evidence relating to their own 
developments (Table 6).  
 
For confidentiality reasons agents did not provide precise address information for transactions, and 
in any case some of these units will not yet be ready to occupy—the transactions are mostly presales 
and those purchased in 2015 and  2016 may well still be under construction.  We therefore 
conducted a more general investigation of occupancy levels in the kinds of development favoured by 
overseas buyers. 
 
Data about buyer intentions, compiled by agents from in-house forms, filled in at the time of 
purchase about the intended use of properties, suggest that more overseas buyers regard their 
London properties as homes to rent out rather than as homes for their own use (Table 5).  
Unfortunately the data are patchy and probably reflect the care taken by the agents in each local 
sales office to fill in the question. 

Buy to Let Owner-occupier Second Home

Page 89



 
 

 
Table 5: Intended use* of property given by overseas-resident buyers  

Base: 3221 transactions 

 

all owner occupation  
(including main residence, 2

nd
 

home, family use) Investment 

% of overseas owners 
specifying 30% 70% 

*17 buyers (<1%) stated their intention to leave the property empty.  Only one agent provided this option on 
their buyer questionnaire, so the figure is not included in the table. 
  Source: LSE London analysis of data from three London estate agencies 

 
Evidence from developer interviews suggests that the reasons for purchase and thus the likelihood 
that the properties would be let out vary by location and by type and price of property. From zone 3 
out, buying for rental and/or total returns is seen as dominant.  Even education is rarely mentioned.  
This is reflected in qualitative evidence from agents, which suggested that over 90% and often 95% 
of units were occupied with the vast majority being tenanted.  Most of the properties bought by 
overseas buyers in zone 3 and beyond have been smaller flats. This suggests that the most likely 
alternative buyers over the last few years would have been UK Buy to Let investors.  However one or 
two developers said overseas buyers were increasingly interested in larger units so their university-
age children could let the extra rooms to lodgers.  
 
Developers say that overseas buyers in zones 1 and 2 - notably zone 1 – are also mostly buying for 
investment purposes and thus letting out the properties. However there were also many looking for 
second/London homes and at the limit for ‘trophy properties’ which might be occupied for relatively 
short periods each year.  Higher priced units (costing over say £1,500/£2,000 per square foot) were 
most likely to be in this category.  They also noted that by no means all purchasers of such homes 
were from overseas: in many high-price developments there were significant proportions of UK 
resident second home/weekday use buyers.  On the other hand, the relatively small numbers of 
larger units were normally purchased by overseas buyers.    
 
The limited evidence presented in table 4 suggests that average prices of sales to overseas buyers 
are somewhat lower in central London than those for UK buyers. This is probably a reflection of the 
wide range of prices reflected in the average, and the concentration of the rental return market in 
central London in smaller ‘cheaper’ units. Most importantly units in different types of development 
will be purchased for different purposes so the schemes will have very different mixes of occupants.   
 
Table 6 gives some stylised facts on occupancy based on our discussions with developers and 
building managers.  In this table, ‘occupancy’ covers all types of habitual use, from use as a 
permanent main residence to an occasional holiday home. The basis for their estimates ranges from 
calculation of utilities usage, through managers’ detailed information on tenants, to more general 
assessments based on observation of residents’ movements.  Overall it is clear that a very high 
proportion of units are fully occupied but that in central and some parts of inner London there are 
significant numbers of ‘second’ or ‘London’ homes which may be occupied for anything from most 
weeks/most weekends or on a regular basis for weeks or months at a time, to irregular short visits.  
 

Speaking about the schemes they knew well, developers, managers and concierges all said only a 
tiny number of units were completely empty or never occupied (examples mentioned included a 
block where an individual owned several penthouses, some of which were empty, and one case 
where the purchaser forgot they had bought three units rather than two—the ‘forgotten’ flat was 
occupied almost immediately after the owner realised).   
 

 

Page 90



 
 

Table 6: Developer/manager understanding of occupancy rates   

Developer 
type 

Location of 
developments 

Average price 
points 

Levels of 
occupancy* 

Based on 

Larger Across London  £500 - £650/ft
2
- 

though some 
luxury 

95% plus 
occupancy  

Detailed management 
information. Definition of 
‘occupied’ includes owner-
occupiers who visit regularly  

Larger  Across London  All - average 
below £1,000/ft

2
- 

average size 
700ft

2
  

92% with little 
variation across 
sites  

Detailed management and 
consultant information 

Larger Concentrated in 
zones 1 and 2 but 
sales across London  

Around 
£1,000/ft

2
in 

central London 

Around 90% - 
95%   

Purpose stated at time of 
purchase overseas  

Mid-sized  Mainly zone 2 but 
beginning to move 
further out 

Average price 
around £500,000 

Extremely high - 
and move in fast 

Organises handover to 
tenants  

Mid-sized Mainly zones 3 -4  £300 - £800/ft
2
 Occupancy very 

high    
 

Overseas buyers used to 
account for around 30% 
now 10 - 15%  

Housing 
association 
as market 
developer 

Zones 1 - 4  Up to £1,000/ft
2 

but now mainly 
£450 - £750/ft

2
 

Occupancy very 
high  

Small proportion of 
overseas almost all 
purchasing in London  

Large Across London  Full range  No evidence  20% overseas buyers – but 
market 40% of schemes 
abroad at one time or 
another 

Housing 
Association 
as market 
developer 

Mainly zones 3 – 6 £300 - £800/ft
2
 Around 85% 

owner-occupiers  
15% investors - 
very high 
occupancy - 
especially among 
BtL units 

Own management - direct 
evidence 

Smaller Across London  £300+ /sq ft
2 

100% owner-
occupiers   

Requirements for eligibility 

Mid-size Zones 2 and 3  £300 - £800/ft
2
  

 
 
 

Around 90% 
occupied by 
family  

6% second homes; 3% left 
empty for longer periods  
Detailed management 
information 

Manager  Zone 1 Prime  Highest end of 
market  

Average 
occupancy 190 
days per year -
almost entirely 
owner-occupiers  

Mainly use the units as the 
owner’s London home, 
making regular visits.   

Mid-size  Zones 2 and 4  Mid-range  70% fully 
occupied either 
by tenants or 
family ; 30% as 
second home 

Developer /manager 
information 

*these apply site by site so include all types of owner 
Source: LSE London interviews, developer surveys  

Page 91



 
 

Table 7 provides information from interviews with concierges or building managers of four 
developments completed in the last four years; all are in areas where overseas-buyer interest is 
high.  All had substantial proportions of units owned by overseas residents.  These developments all 
have concierge cover for at least twelve hours a day, and some have 24/7 staffing.  Concierges were 
clear that they knew exactly who was living in their buildings and how often they were there.  In 
each case the number of entirely unoccupied units was very low (zero for three of the 
developments).   
 
Table 7: Concierges’ understanding of occupancy rates   

Location 
Number 
of units 

When 
opened 

Overseas ownership Occupancy: Proportion of ALL units 

units 
owned by 
overseas 
residents 

from 
rented 

out 
occupied as 

second homes 
entirely 

unoccupied 

Canary 
Wharf 

160 2016 25% Mostly 
China 

50% A few 0 

Lambeth 104 2014 About 1/3 Mostly 
Asia 

About 
half 

About 12 2 (one 
currently for 

rent) 

East 
London 

257 2014 Many Mostly 
Asia 

About 
70% 

A few 0 

East 
London 

128 2014 Many Mostly 
Asia 

About 
75% 

A few. Many 
students. 

0 

Source: LSE London concierge interviews 

 
It is clear from our interviews that the part of the market based on rental returns has very high levels 
of occupancy; indeed there is some (limited) evidence of ‘over-occupancy’ e.g. by students. In zones 
2 and further out, overseas buyers who are owner-occupiers appear mainly now to be working in the 
capital with relatively small numbers of education/second-home units. In zone 1 a higher proportion 
are London/second homes.  Most are visited, albeit irregularly in some cases, and a subset would 
count as vacant on some definitions. These are likely to be concentrated in a relatively small number 
of developments.  Importantly, by no means all of these belong to overseas buyers.  In 
developments at the very top end of the new build market the evidence suggests perhaps a quarter 
of owners are British citizens although not necessarily UK-based (Rhodium, 2016).  
 
For some schemes we can predict that occupancy will be high because many units are bought by 
yield-seeking investors and because of strong demand from owner-occupiers already working in the 
area—for example in one major development some 30% of the first phase were sold to staff of a 
major local employer, while the rest went 50/50 to UK and overseas passport holders. 
 
A number of respondents said perceived levels of vacancy in a block may be inaccurate, for two main 
reasons:  
 

 local residents and passers-by may think units are vacant when they are actually not 
complete.  In particular affordable units are often finished first and completion of the full 
block may take up to two years from when external features are in place. There are 
currently some major developments where the affordable housing is occupied but the 
market segments are not yet ready.   

 it takes time for people to move into large developments, especially when some blocks are 
still under construction, so occupancy rates may not reach equilibrium for perhaps two 
years. 

Page 92



 
 

V  Question 3: The role of pre-sales and off-plan sales 
 
On average more than 85% of housing transactions in London involve existing stock and the 
purchaser can inspect the dwelling before buying it.  The procedure is rather different in the case of 
new-build, as much of it is pre-sold—that is, sold before the building is completed.  Pre-sales that 
occur before the construction process has even started are sometimes called ‘off-plan’ sales (i.e. 
based on the architectural plans), but most market actors use the terms pre-sales and off-plan sales 
interchangeably.  Pre-sales, and particularly off-plan, sales have become an increasingly important 
part of the market especially since the global financial crisis. They were seen as a major reason why 
the new housing market in central London was able to recover (Whitehead et al, 2013). 
 
Off-plan purchases usually transact at a discount to prices on completion, in part because prices 
generally increase as the nature of the development firms up. The use of off-plan and pre-sales is 
different to the traditional speculative-builder business model of ‘sell one; build one’. This works for 
the traditional English built form of houses or low-rise flats. It does not work for larger apartment 
buildings and especially for towers and high-density blocks, where all the units are completed at 
once.  Off-plan and pre-sales are the most obvious means of addressing the fact that large numbers 
of units come on stream together; developers’ oft-stated objective is to have no (or few) completed 
units still for sale on the day the first residents move in.  
 
Developers who do not rely strongly on pre-sales include: 

(i) smaller firms on smaller sites, some of which will be custom built;  
(ii) housing associations which generally sell the market output when properties are nearing 

completion or completed;  
(iii) a few who wait until there is a show home available even if not on-site; and  
(iv) companies who hold some units back for Help to Buy and other potential owner-

occupiers who cannot buy early because of mortgage conditions.  
 
These categories probably account for most of the ‘completed not sold’ stock, identified in Molior 
data as 13% of completions. Several developers did say that while two years ago they would have 
had very little completed stock for sale, now the amount (though still small) was increasing.    
 
Developers gave two main reasons for using off-plan and pre-sales:  

 to help secure finance; and 

 to reduce risks, especially given market volatility.  
 

Implicit in the second reason is the importance of built form: the more units are provided in large 
blocks the greater the risk of selling at the same time on completion.  Another important method of 
de-risking is the inclusion of purpose-built private rented blocks, typically known as Build to Rent, 
where institutional purchasers are involved at an early stage.  
 
Most banks will not lend on a scheme unless there are very considerable pre-sales (at the limit the 
small developer cannot start on a site until they have repaid the debt on the previous one). 
Developers who depend on debt finance said banks required 40% - 60% presales. If all developers 
operated on this basis some 50% of units under construction would be pre-sold.  Molior evidence 
suggests that the proportion is currently closer to 60%, so pre-sales are undoubtedly a core part of 
London developers’ business model.  Our interviews suggest that larger developers almost always 
offer units for sale either off-plan or once the development has started but well before the units are 
available to live in.   

 

Page 93



 
 

However a significant proportion of developers now rely on equity rather than debt and for them 
risk reduction is the main reason for pre-sales. One not particularly large developer noted ‘we are 
risking say £70 million for 2.5 to 3 years on a given site’.  Pre-sales reduce or at the limit eliminate 
sales risk.  
 
Do off-plan and pre-sales inherently mean that there must be overseas buyers?  Historically, Travers 
and Whitehead (2013) found that after the financial crisis overseas buyers were the main purchasers 
of developments in central London, where residential investment recovered most rapidly.  Since 
then the market has improved and there is some evidence that the proportion of overseas buyers 
have declined while the proportion of pre-sales almost certainly has not.   
 
Table 8 summarises developer understanding of the importance of off-plan and pre-sales and their 
timing.  

 
Table 8: The importance of off-plan and pre-sales in development  

Developer 
type 

Proportion of pre-sales 
Proportion of market sales 

to  
overseas buyers 

Comment 

Larger Around 50% off plan. 
Between 1 and 3.5 years 
before completion 

40 – 45% overseas; higher 
proportion of off-plan 
private sales   

Principally uses equity funding. 

Larger Everything pre-sold  - tiny 
completed stock  

25% 2015; considerably 
lower 2016 

All high rise 
Only perhaps 35% of sites 
suitable for sale overseas 

Larger In central/inner London 30 - 
40% presold before starting 
development; considerably 
higher for towers 

Across London 25%; 
central London up to 85% 
in particular blocks 

More London-based buyers in 
outer areas 

Larger 3 phases - first launched in 
2013 - 2 phases fully pre-sold 

Phase 1: 50% excluding 
staff; phase 2: much 
smaller at  30%; phase 3: 
60% but many units not 
yet on sale 

None yet occupied  - aim is to 
sell mainly to owner-occupiers 

Mid-sized 70% off-plan and almost all 
sold before completion 

40% - 50% overseas 
Launched first in England 
but mortgage issues 

Has grown considerably - but 
could not do so without off-
plan sales 

Mid-sized  Only start selling once on 
site; almost all sold before 
completion  

Currently 10 - 15%  and 
declining  

Has own scheme to help UK 
first-time buyers  

Housing 
association as 
market 
developer 

10% pre-sold   Very few No third-party funders  

Large  10 – 40% dependent on 
scheme 

20% Pre-sales very important to 
underpin investment but 
varies greatly between 
areas/schemes 

Mid-size 

100% 

29% Don’t directly market abroad 
Need domestic pre-sales to 
reduce risks and maintain 
pipeline 

Mid-size 
100%  

34% Don’t directly market abroad  - 
need domestic pre-sales for 
pipeline  

Page 94



 
 

Housing 
association as 
private 
developer 

Only in the final weeks after 
show house available 

Almost none Funding not dependent on 
pre-sales  

Smaller 100%  None Funding not dependent on 
pre-sales.  Helps reduce risks  
also necessary given type of 
purchaser  

Source: LSE London developer interviews 

 

 
Most developers prefer to sell to UK buyers and only went overseas because there was inadequate 
pre-sales demand from UK residents. Developers and agents made it clear that overseas purchasers, 
particularly from the Far East, were more accustomed to buying off-plan than UK consumers and 
were also more prepared to take on risk (priced into the offer price).  The other reason given, 
especially in outer London, was the difficulties faced by mortgagors in getting a mortgage offer more 
than six months in advance. 
 
Developers used different ways to address this issue:  one working mainly in zone 3 and beyond 
required UK buyers to obtain a mortgage offer, which made clear that they were eligible for a loan, 
and then to renew the offer when it ran out.  Another had an in-house scheme to support first time 
buyers. The majority saw the length of mortgage offers as a major constraint.   
 
Overall off-plan and pre-sales were seen as an essential way to enable high-density development to 
take place and a sensible approach to risk reduction and ensuring early occupation of completed 
properties.  Developers saw such sales as a necessary way to maintain and expand their 

development pipelines.  Overseas buyers are more used to the off-plan approach than UK 
households and will therefore buy earlier for a price. The growth in private renting also provides a 
more ready pre-sales market.  Many UK buyers looking to become owner-occupiers face regulatory  
constraints in obtaining a mortgage as well as the 6-month limit. They also feel that an extended 
period before occupation is risky.  The result has been high proportions of overseas sales, especially 
in the period after the financial crisis.  
 
The 3% Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) surcharge on top of previous rises in SDLT does not seem to 
have had much effect on overseas demand, largely because it has been offset by the fall in the value 
of sterling.  Indeed tax changes may have actually increased the proportion of sales going to 
overseas investors as they have dampened domestic Buy to Let demand.  

 
There is some evidence that the proportion of overseas sales has fallen as UK buyers (assisted, in 
zone 3 and beyond, by Help to Buy) pick up, but in central areas in particular overseas buyers are still 
a very significant element in overall demand.  Equally, the growth in Build to Rent, which often 
involves large overseas investors employing models of development and ownership that are new to 
the UK, is helping to stabilise and expand the level of residential development in London (see section 
V below).      

  

Page 95



 
 

VI  Question 4: The role of major overseas investors in the residential 

development process in London  
 
The final question of the GLA’s commission concerns the importance of overseas investment at scale 
in the supply of new housing and the extent to which such investment has enabled higher levels of 
output.  
   

Investment at scale in London new-build residential property 
 

Major at-scale investors 
  
There are four main types of overseas investor active in London new-build residential development:  

(i) Financial and investment institutions (including pension funds, insurance companies and 
banks) 

(ii) Developers based in other countries 
(iii) Sovereign wealth funds 
(iv) Wealthy individuals (often known as Ultra-High Net Worth Individuals [UHNWIs]—those 

with investable assets of at least $30 million).  
 
There are several ways that such investors may be involved. These include 

 As developers (e.g. Malaysian firms at Battersea Power Station)   

 As equity financiers providing forward funding or enabling forward commitments (often 
replaced by senior debt when pre-sales permit)  

 As senior and mezzanine debt funders  

 As purchasers of rented properties at scale (including in particular Build to Rent operators) 

 As equity investors in UK house builders or related firms  

 As buyers of housing association bonds  
 

International investors play a number of roles which complement UK investment and help accelerate 
and increase supply.  Perhaps the most obvious involves the development of large sites that have 
proved difficult to undertake with traditional sources of funds. International investors often exhibit 
different/higher appetites for risk and may use different techniques to speed up development, as 
they tend to measure performance using an internal rate of return measure. 
 
Two important examples of large sites with major overseas involvement are  

(i) the Greenwich Peninsula, where development of thousands of flats is funded by a 
UHNW individual from China.  He is looking to build out as rapidly as possible but even 
so is making a very long-term commitment, as the project will take nearly two decades 
to complete  

(ii) Battersea Power Station, where development is funded by Malaysian equity.  The 
scheme will provide not just housing but commercial premises, infrastructure and 
community services as well as a catalyst for further development nearby.  

 
Global investors are involved in the vast majority of high-risk London sites that are underway or in 
the pre-planning stage.  These investors are involved in all geographies and types of investment. The 
provision of equity early in the planning and development process is seen as central for large, high-
risk schemes, and much of this comes from international investors. Later in the development process 
this may be replaced by senior debt and mezzanine finance, often funnelled through debt funds 
organised by agents. Senior debt finance used to come mainly from the major UK banks but now is 
as likely to come from a range of international banks. One commentator argued that mezzanine 

Page 96



 
 

finance is not a very well developed part of the residential finance market so international investors 
can bring more sophisticated approaches. 
 
Another important recent innovation has been the growth of Build to Rent. Over the last few years 
the sector has attracted an increasing amount of foreign investment, in part because this business 
model is more familiar in eg Canada and the USA than hitherto in Britain (Future of London 2017; 
British Property Federation 2017).  The number of units delivered to date is in the low thousands but 
the pipeline is increasing rapidly, much of it backed at least partly by overseas money.   
 
Overseas investors are also involved in the London new-build residential market through investment 
in listed UK housebuilders.  Table D1 in annex D provides information from selected housebuilders’ 
annual reports, and shows overseas investors with significant shareholdings (3% plus) in developers 
active in London.  Though not comprehensive, it shows that much overseas investment is from (or 
channelled through) US institutions. 
 
Finally a number of housing associations and corporations have issued bonds which are taken up by 
overseas investors and which support their market-based activities as well as their core social 
activities.     
 

Large-scale investment from overseas institutions and individuals 
 
The following analysis is based on data provided by Real Capital Analytics (RCA), which compiles 
information on major real-estate transactions in most developed markets globally.  In the UK, RCA 
aims to capture all investment transactions of 5 million Euros or more, or involving ten or more 
residential units in a single transaction.  They estimate that in London their database captures more 
than 90% of eligible transactions. 
 
For this project RCA provided a bespoke report on transactions in London involving overseas capital 
sources (including as minority partners).  The data covered transactions since 2001 for apartments 
(more than ten units in a single transaction—including both entire blocks of flats and forward-
funding for consented schemes) and residential or mixed-use development sites, with greater detail 
on transactions since 2012. 

 

Location and number of major transactions 
 
RCA data show overseas investors’ residential transactions in the UK to be heavily concentrated in 
London.  Since 2012 their records show a total of 143 residential transactions nationwide (excluding 
student housing and retirement homes) that involved overseas investors.  These included both sales 
of blocks or groups of flats, or forward-funded consented developments (90 transactions) and sites 
without forward funding in place (53 transactions).  Of the total of 143, 106 were in London. 
 
Value figures are indicative of orders of magnitude only, as no prices are recorded for a significant 
proportion of transactions (25% outside London, 30% in London).  The figures do suggest that 
London transactions hugely outweigh non-London transactions in value terms.  It also appears that 
in London overseas buyers spent more on transactions involving sites without forward funding than 
on existing or forward-funded blocks or groups of flats, while in the rest of the country the reverse 
was true. 
 

  

Page 97



 
 

Table 9: Residential transactions involving overseas investors, 1 Jan 2012 – March 2017 
Entire residential blocks or other blocks for conversion, development sites and groups of flats 

Value Euros 5m or more OR 10 or more residential units 

 London 
Outside 
London 

Total UK 

Number of transactions 106 37 143 

 Of which blocks/groups of flats or forward-funded sites 69 21 90 

Of which development sites w/o forward funding 37 16 53 

    

Value of transactions >£5.8 bn >£1.1 bn >£6.9 bn 

Of which blocks/groups of flats or forward-funded sites >£2.2 bn >£1.0 bn >£3.0 bn 

Of which development sites w/o forward funding >£3.6 bn >£67 mn >£3.7 bn 

Source: RCA Analytics, LSE London analysis 

 

Financing residential development 
 
In January 2017 Molior listed 610 residential development schemes with 20 or more units consented 
or underway in London.  A lead lender was identified from the title documents for 177 of these 
(table 10).  About three-quarters of the lead lenders were from the UK, with the rest largely from the 
EU, Middle East or Asia.  US lenders were notable for their absence.  However it should be 
emphasised that this table records only those lenders whose names were on the title deeds and 
therefore does not capture all types of investment.  Also the information is only partial, as there was 
no lead lender identified for more than 70% of the schemes for which Molior provided information.    
 
The picture is rather different for equity investment: the USA is the country that has provided the 
largest amount of investment in London residential since 2012, with Malaysia, Singapore, Canada 
and Australia making up the rest of the top five.  However some large transactions are recorded in 
the name of an investment broker or manager, making it impossible to trace the ultimate origin of 
the funds.  Many such intermediaries are based in the USA and this may skew the results.  

 
Table 10: Regions of origin of lenders (where known) on London residential schemes 
under development as of January 2017  

Lender’s region of origin Number of schemes with lender(s) from 
this region 

UK 131 

Overseas 46 

Of which 

EU 15 

Middle East 15 

Asia 14 

USA 2 
Source: Molior, LSE London 

 
Overall the picture suggests that overseas investors at scale play an important role in getting high-
risk developments underway and in speeding up development. This in turn enables developers to 
expand output of both market and affordable housing.  The two most obvious impacts are on (i) very 
large sites where it has in the past proved impossible to gain momentum and (ii) developing and 
operating Build to Rent properties. International investors also play a more general role in financing 
residential development.  

 

Page 98



 
 

VII Conclusions 

 
The rationale for the research  
 
The objectives of this research were to put together the available evidence on overseas purchases of 
newly built units in London, on the occupancy of these units, and on overseas involvement in 
funding new-build residential development. The brief responded to concerns about the numbers of 
overseas buyers and the extent to which they leave properties empty, negatively affecting 
neighbourhood life and the availability of housing for Londoners. On the positive side it recognised 
that overseas investment can contribute to expanding supply and overcoming constraints in the 
development process.  
 
It should be stressed that the research was wholly about the new build market which accounts for   
between 10% and 15% of the overall market depending on market volatility.  The importance of 
overseas buyers in the existing market is not addressed.  

  

The overall picture  
 

It is clear that overseas investors have played an important part both in buying new residential units 
and in funding development.  It is also clear that on the demand side the impact has mainly been in 
central and inner London with relatively little activity in zone 3 and beyond. In proportionate terms 
overseas buyers dominate in some areas and on some schemes, but in numerical terms the overall 
impact is far smaller:  the local authorities where new development has been concentrated are not 
in the main where overseas buyers are most active.  
 

Overseas purchasers buy for a range of reasons, seeking rental or total returns on the one hand and 
wanting a London home for business, family and education reasons on the other. The first group will 
let out their properties to Londoners to achieve their return; many members of the second group 
will occupy their properties part time and some may come to London only occasionally and for short 
periods.  Others, though, buy for their children’s education, which may involve near full-time 
occupancy.  A third group, whose main motivation is to find a safe haven for their money, are 
thought to behave more like yield-seeking investors. 
 
Different nationalities tend to have different reasons for buying, with those from the Far East most 
likely to choose to let out their properties. This group makes up the largest proportion of overseas 
buyers, which tends to suggest that most overseas-owned units in most parts of London are let out.  
More generally, the quantitative and qualitative evidence point to average occupancy rates by 
scheme of well over 90% and often over 95%, except in a few specific locations.  
 
Overseas owners who use their property as their London/second home are more likely to buy in 
central London, particularly in prime areas.  The result is that some areas or blocks, especially at the 
top end of the market, have many units with irregular occupancy.   This phenomenon is found in 
many major capital cities and has been the pattern in some local authorities/wards for decades if not 
centuries.   

 
 

Off-plan and pre-sales are integral to high-rise/density development  
 
Two distinct reasons are given for the use of off-plan and pre-sales:  debt finance and risk reduction. 
Banks providing senior debt require developers to have a certain proportion of pre-sales before they 

Page 99



 
 

will fund a development.  The funders set this proportion, which varies by type of scheme and 
market conditions and ranges from perhaps 40 to 60%.  However even developers who do not 
borrow to fund development argue that they need pre-sales to reduce the very large risks involved 
in having so much equity tied up in individual schemes. Off-plan and pre-sales are especially 
important for tower blocks and other high-density schemes, particularly given housing market 
volatility, but they appear to be the model of choice for almost all major London developers.   
Importantly, overseas demand is affected by different drivers than local demand and so helps to 
smooth out volatility.  
 
Specifically overseas buyers are attractive because of their perceived greater willingness to buy 
without seeing the property, to wait months or years for completion, and to assume the associated 
risk. They have an undoubted advantage over UK owner-occupiers who usually cannot obtain a 
mortgage more than 6 months before completion. The advantages of overseas buyers over UK buy-
to-let cash investors are less clear—but UK purchasers also have a much wider choice in the existing 
market. Many overseas buyers also prefer new build in well-known accessible locations, meaning 
they represent a good market for developers and agents. 

 

Contribution to affordable housing and infrastructure  
 
If off-plan and pre-sales are integral to the UK development model, then by extension they are key 
to the affordable housing that such development supports. Section 106 agreements linked to private 
for-sale developments provide not only affordable housing but also infrastructure like the extension 
of the Northern Line.  These things are expensive so to subsidise them developers need to sell large 
numbers of expensive homes. 
 

Overseas investment in housing supply 
 
Overseas investors have directly affected the supply of new housing in London in two important 
ways. First they have clearly enabled the development of certain large sites which would otherwise 
not have got off the ground.  Overseas investors have different business models and appetites for 
risk from their UK counterparts, and have access to resources at the necessary scale.  Second, 
overseas investors have been central to the growth of Build to Rent, which is expected to provide a 
significant amount of additional housing in London, to help stimulate wider improvements in the 
quality of the PRS generally and contribute to market stabilisation. Major international funders can 
diversify risks across a range of investments, and some have introduced innovations based on their 
experience in other countries.  

 
Additionality 
 
Arguably, the impact of overseas investment can best be assessed in terms of additionality—that is, 
we should ask whether the fact that overseas buyers purchase a proportion of new-build market 
properties has a positive or negative effect on housing opportunities for Londoners. 

 
The answer to this question involves bringing together the jigsaw of information presented in this 
report including: 

 the proportion of private new build units sold to overseas buyers; 

 the proportion of such homes let out to Londoners; 

 the extent to which sales to overseas buyers incentivise developers to build more housing 
more quickly and to build more affordable housing; and, finally,   

 the effect of overseas investment in development on output levels. 

Page 100



 
 

    
While we cannot provide robust numbers for each factor, we can make careful estimates based on 
all the evidence presented in this report, remembering that different elements of the jigsaw cover 
different time periods and often different definitions of overseas buyer  
 
Bringing together our estimates and those from the York university research based on Land Registry 
data suggests on a conservative estimate  that overseas buyers account for less than 20% of total 
market new build output  (this includes some areas of central London where sales are over 50% and 
some blocks where the proportion is over 85%):  
 

 Within this total, 70%-plus are almost certainly let out to Londoners, suggesting this implies 
that at worst Londoners have no direct access to a maximum of 30% of overseas-owned 
homes. This implies that up to 6% of market new build may not accommodate Londoners.  
 

 In 2010-11 this was equivalent to some 560 units; in 2011-12, 670 units; in 2013/14 perhaps 
690 units; 2014-15 around 750 units; increasing in 2015/16 to some 1,200, reflecting how 
output rates have risen; 
 

 While output increases are by no means wholly the outcome of the cash flows and reduced 
risks associated with overseas sales it is almost certain that development was accelerated by 
more than enough to offset the number of units not accessed by Londoners.  There will also 
have been an increase in affordable housing as a result of S106 agreements on the 
additional sites brought forward; 
 

  This calculation takes no account of other benefits to Londoners from sales to overseas 
owner-occupiers.  However a proportion is used by students and other family members who 
live and work in London so this is an overestimate of the loss to Londoners. Moreover, a 
further proportion is owned by business people who contribute to the London economy. 

 

Final conclusions 
 
Overall, therefore, sales to overseas buyers almost certainly contributed to the net availability of 
housing to Londoners. The positive impact of overseas investment on the supply of new housing  
development is additional and complementary to that arising from these sales and is becoming 
increasingly important in speeding delivery, especially on large sites.  One important implication of 
these findings is that there would be real costs to the London housing market if overseas investment 
either through purchasing new dwellings or supporting new developments began to feel 
unwelcome.   
 
In conclusion, however, we should make it clear that there are both other costs and other benefits 
than the numbers. In particular it is clear that, within the limits determined by planning permissions, 
built form has been modified in  line with the preferences of overseas buyers  - e.g. in terms of the 
use of glass and indeed the size of units and numbers of bedrooms.  Equally Londoners are renting 
from these buyers rather than having greater opportunity become owner-occupiers, although this is 
affected just as much by UK owned Buy-to-Let. Finally there is the issue of price:  the direct impact 
on price is clearly limited simply because new build is such a small proportion of overall transactions 
which make up the market. However it is clear that more apartments have been delivered at higher 
price points so average prices have been affected by the change in mix. 
 

Page 101



 
 

Acknowledgements 

 
We acknowledge with thanks the invaluable help of the major UK estate agencies that 
provided data, London developers who have provided a wide range of information, Real 
Capital Analytics and Molior.  We are particularly grateful to Dean Main for his help in 
understanding the top end of the market.    

 
The analysis and conclusions in this report are ours alone and may not reflect their views. 

 

References 
 
Badarinza C. and Ramadorai T. (2016) Home Away From Home? Foreign Demand and London House 

Prices. Article.  

British Property Federation (2014) Who buys new homes in London and why? Report.  

British Property Federation (2017) Unlocking the benefits and potential of Build to Rent London, BPF 

Cobbold C. (2007) What is the Extent of Buy to Leave Empty in England? CLG Report.  

DCLG (2016) Table 253: permanent dwellings started and completed, by tenure and district. Available 

from https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-house-building 

DCLG (2017) Dwelling stock (including vacants). Tables available from 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-

vacants 

Department for Business Innovation and Skills (2016) Enhancing transparency of beneficial 

ownership information of foreign companies undertaking certain economic activities in the UK. 

Report.  

Empty Homes (2016) Empty Homes in England. Report. Accessible at: 
http://www.emptyhomes.com/assets/empty-homes-in-england-final-september-2016.pdf 

Future of London (2017) Making the Most of Build to Rent. London, future for London . 

Green D. G. and Bentley D. (2014) Finding Shelter: Overseas investment in the UK housing market. 

Civitas Report.  

Hammond E. (2013) Foreigners buy nearly 75% of new homes in inner London. Financial Times. 

Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/605cdea2-fb69-11e2-a641-00144feabdc0 

Heywood A. (2012) London for sale?  London: Smith Institute. 
 
Islington Council (2015) Preventing Wasted Housing Supply. Draft Supplementary Planning 
Document. Available at: https://democracy.islington.gov.uk/documents/s4988/Appendix%201%20-
%20Preventing%20Wasted%20Housing%20Supply%20SPD%20July%202015.pdf 
 
JLL (2014) International Investment in London Residential. Understanding the Benefits. Note.  

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-house-building
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants
http://www.emptyhomes.com/assets/empty-homes-in-england-final-september-2016.pdf
http://www.lselondonhousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Build-to-Rent-Report.pdf
https://www.ft.com/content/605cdea2-fb69-11e2-a641-00144feabdc0
https://democracy.islington.gov.uk/documents/s4988/Appendix%201%20-%20Preventing%20Wasted%20Housing%20Supply%20SPD%20July%202015.pdf
https://democracy.islington.gov.uk/documents/s4988/Appendix%201%20-%20Preventing%20Wasted%20Housing%20Supply%20SPD%20July%202015.pdf


 
 

Knight Frank (2013a) International Residential Investment in London. International Project Marketing 

2013. 

Knight Frank (2013b) International Buyers in London. Residential Research.  

Ley D. (2015) Global China and the making of Vancouver's residential property market. International 

Journal of Housing Policy.  

Lewis, B. (2015) Housing: Foreign Nationals: Written question – 799. Department for Communities 

and Local Government. Available at: http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-

statements/written-question/commons/2015-06-02/799 

London First.(2013) The impact of inward investment on the London housing market. Report.  

Murphy C. and Barton C. (2016) Foreign Investment in UK Residential Property. House of Commons 

Briefing Paper.  

Norwood G. (2016) The impact of ‘buy to leave’ on prime London’s housing market, Financial Times.  

ONS (2014) KS401UK - Dwellings, household spaces and accommodation type. Nomis Official Labour 
Market Statistics. 
 
Ramidus Consulting Limited (2014) The Prime Residential Market in Westminster. Report.  
 
Rhodium (2016) London’s Global Reach 
http://dbpr.info/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Rhodium_December-2016_WEB.pdf 
 
Rhodium (2017)  Counting the Days 
http://dbpr.info/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Rhodium_March-2017.pdf 
 
Wallace, A., Rhodes, D., and Webber, R. (2017) ‘Overseas investors in London’s new build residential 
housing market—interim report’ Centre for Housing Policy, University of York 
 
Whitehead, C.M.E., Travers, T. with Scanlon, K. and Fernández Arrigoitia, M. (2013) Creating the 
Conditions for Growth. Berkeley Group. October  
 
Williams, S and Gask, K (2015) ‘Modelling and sample data from smart-type electricity meters to 
assess potential within official statistics’ GSS Methodology Series No 40, Office for National Statistics 

 

 

Page 103

http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2015-06-02/799
http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2015-06-02/799
http://dbpr.info/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Rhodium_December-2016_WEB.pdf
http://dbpr.info/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Rhodium_March-2017.pdf
http://www.lse.ac.uk/geographyAndEnvironment/research/london/pdf/Creating-conditions-for-growth.pdf
http://www.lse.ac.uk/geographyAndEnvironment/research/london/pdf/Creating-conditions-for-growth.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Annex C 

 

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Overseas Investors in London’s New Build Housing 

Market 

By Alison Wallace, David Rhodes and Richard Webber 

 

June 2017 

 

 

 
 
Contact: Alison Wallace 
Centre for Housing Policy 
University of York 
Heslington 
York 
YO10 5DD 
alison.wallace@york.ac.uk  
 

 

 

 

Page 105

mailto:alison.wallace@york.ac.uk


 

2 
 

About the authors 

Dr Alison Wallace, who has been at the Centre for Housing Policy at the University of York 

since 2001, and has extensive experience of researching homeownership, private renting 

and housing markets, led the project. David Rhodes has been at the Centre for Housing 

Policy since 1996 and has expertise in analysing administrative data on housing markets 

and private rented sector.  

Acknowledgements 

The research team would like to acknowledge the support of the staff at the Land Registry, 

and Read Group who facilitated our data requests and purchases, and to officials at the 

Greater London Authority who supported the research and supplied us with information on 

low-cost sales and conversions. The team would also like to thank Professor Rowland 

Atkinson of the University of Sheffield for his help in the preliminary stages of the project. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Data produced by Land Registry © Crown copyright 2017. 

Occupants names and demographics supplied by the Read Group. 

Postcode Address File provided by the Royal Mail.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



 

3 
 

 

Contents 

About the authors .................................................................................................................. 2 

Acknowledgements ............................................................................................................... 2 

Contents ............................................................................................................................... 3 

1: Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Research aims and methods ................................................................................................. 4 

2: Determining ownership of London’s new build properties .................................................. 7 

Extent of overseas ownership ............................................................................................... 7 

Company sales ................................................................................................................... 10 

Sales prices ........................................................................................................................ 12 

Mortgage charges ............................................................................................................... 14 

Property type ...................................................................................................................... 16 

3: Determining occupancy of London’s new build properties ............................................... 18 

Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 18 

Census data – household spaces with no usual residents .................................................. 18 

Read demographic transactional data ................................................................................. 19 

Conclusion .......................................................................................................................... 21 

References ....................................................................................................................... 222 

Annex 1: Establishing a control group ................................................................................. 23 

Annex 2: Country of the first proprietor’s address ................................................................ 26 

Annex 3: Overseas sales by London borough ..................................................................... 27 

Annex 4: Top 10 destinations of overseas investors by country (% of country sales) .......... 28 

Annex 5: Country location of company owners by area of London .................................... 300 

Annex 6: Proportion of no usual residents in output area on  2011 Census day by London 

borough and type of owner .................................................................................... 31 

 

  

Page 107



 

4 
 

1: Introduction 

Research aims and methods 

The Centre for Housing Policy at the University of York undertook research that addressed 

two key questions:  

1. What proportion of new homes is sold to buyers who are resident overseas? 

2. What proportion of new homes is kept empty and how many of these are owned by 

foreign buyers? 

Land Registry Price Paid Data and Title information formed the basis for identifying new 

build properties owned by individuals or companies based in the UK or overseas. Property 

based commercial transactional data was used to identify vacant or little used homes. 

Determining ownership 

Land Registry Price Paid Data identified property sales in London between 1 April 2014 and 

31 March 2016. The Price Paid Data provided details of the transaction date, the price paid 

and the property type. The time-frame was adopted to provide a sufficiently large pool of 

properties that had been sold, were built and capable of occupancy and had complete 

registrations with the Land Registry. There were 30,065 property transactions among new 

build homes during this period. Later datasets automatically remove sub-market sales but 

below market value sales from developers to housing associations were evident among the 

transactions. Therefore, property transactions for less than £200,000 were excluded to limit 

the volume of shared ownership or other transactions that involved registered housing 

providers. There were 2,039 such exclusions representing 6.8 percent of all residential new 

build sales during the study period.  

Funds were made available that were sufficient to purchase a sample of 8,000 properties 

from the Land Registry. The sample, which was drawn from the resulting pool of 28,026 

properties, was numerically split almost equally between the four groupings of London 

Boroughs set out below.  Following the exclusion of a small number of sampled titles, as 

these were unavailable from the Land Registry, a sample of 7,996 properties formed the 

basis of the analysis.  

In conjunction with the GLA, four key areas of new build areas were identified and the 

London boroughs allocated as follows: 

Prime London -  City of London, City of Westminster, Kensington & Chelsea. 

New Growth -  Camden, Greenwich, Lambeth, Newham, Southwark, Tower Hamlets,  

   Wandsworth 

Inner London -  Hackney, Islington, Lewisham, Hammersmith & Fulham. 

Outer London -  Barking & Dagenham, Barnet, Bexley, Brent, Bromley, Croydon, Ealing,  

   Enfield, Haringey, Harrow, Havering, Hillingdon, Hounslow, Kingston upon 

   Thames, Merton, Redbridge, Richmond upon Thames, Sutton, Waltham  

   Forest. 

Sampling of addresses for inclusion in the research was weighted towards the areas of 

Greater London thought likely to comprise overseas investors, to aid identifying occupancy 

Page 108



 

5 
 

among this group, and to provide sufficient cases within each group of areas to allow within-

group analysis. The net result of the sampling is that approximately equal proportions of the 

sample were derived from the four types of area within the Capital. Thus, all new builds in 

the prime London areas were sampled, the outer London areas were under sampled, and 

the new growth and inner London areas were approximately representatively sampled 

(Table 1.1). Within each area type, the new builds were stratified by borough and price, and 

then they were randomly sampled. Analysis of the data was weighted such that aggregate 

results reflect the distribution of new build properties across the region.  

Table 1.1: Sample of new build properties with a minimum value of £200,000, using Land 
Registry data, 2014 to 2016 

London area 

All new builds 7,996 sample of new builds 

N. % N. % 
Sampling 

ratio 

1. Prime London 1,857 6.6 1,856 23.2 1:1 

2. New Growth 7,936 28.3 2,047 25.6 1:3.9 

3. Inner London 6,549 23.4 2,047 25.6 1:3.2 

4. Outer London 11,684 41.7 2,046 25.6 1:5.7 

Greater London 28,026 100 7,996 100 1:3.5 

 

The Land Registry supplied the title information that included the legal owner, their address, 

an indicator of whether there was a mortgage charge secured on the property and the name 

of any mortgage lender. For company owners the dataset also records the country in which 

the company is incorporated.   

Characteristics of the sample 

A total of 57.5 percent of all properties were owned by a resident occupier, or who at least 

had their legal correspondence conducted from the same property address.  

This varied from 34.3 percent of properties based in prime London boroughs, 55.8 percent in 

new growth boroughs, 51.9 percent in inner London boroughs and 65.6 percent of properties 

in outer London boroughs.  

Table 1.2 Characteristics of the weighted sample of new build properties 1 April 2014 to 31 
March 2016 by London area 

 Prime New Growth Inner Outer All sales 

All sales 6.6 25.7 26.0 41.7 100.0 

Incomplete off-

plan sales 

4.5 12.6 2.1 16.0 4.9 

Resident owner 34.3 55.8 51.9 65.6 57.5 

Vacant, second-

homes or let 

65.7 44.2 48.1 34.4 47.7 

Company owned 14.4 5.3 5.6 6.7 6.6 

Apartments 98.9 96.9 96.4 76.3 88.3 

Mortgage charge 4.7 25.2 26.8 43.3 67.3 

Sold 2014 35.8 36.0 32.4 29.6 32.4 

Sold 2015 43.8 49.1 50.8 56.8 52.4 

Sold 2016 20.5 14.8 16.8 13.6 15.2 

Mean sale value £1,878,285 £522,599 £679,208 £420,258 £610,171 

Median sale £1,279,450 £452,500 £490,000 £342,500 £425,000 

Page 109



 

6 
 

value 

Lowest value £230,000 £200,000 £200,000 £200,000 £200,000 

Flat/apartment 98.8 96.9 96.4 78.1 89.2 

Detached 0.3 0.2 0.2 4.5 1.3 

Semi-detached 0.1 0.4 0.2 4.4 1.3 

Terrace 0.9 2.4 3.2 13.0 4.9 

New build 81.8 95.8 92.7 86.4 90.0 

Conversion 6.5 1.3 1.2 2.0 2.5 

Change of use 11.3 2.6 5.6 11.1 7.1 

Extension 0.4 0.2 0.5 0.5 0.4 

Source: Land Registry * The sample excludes low value sales below £200,000  

Determining occupancy 

The Royal Mail’s Postcode Address File (PAF) was used to ensure all properties were ready 

for occupation and were still not under-construction and, therefore, were not off-plan sales. 

The PAF includes only property addresses that are capable of having mail delivered and 

was used as a proxy indicator of building completion. 

The Read Group provides demographic data derived from commercial and administrative 

transactions for the sample properties from which occupancy is inferred. The company 

routinely supply data on people and properties to public agencies and private companies, to 

efficiently target direct marketing campaigns by commercial companies or charity 

fundraising, understand the customer or service-user base of publicly funded arts or other 

services and verify residency. These data represent a digital footprint left after buying goods, 

registering to vote, obtaining financial services and other retail or administrative practices 

and typically offer geo-coded address or postcode level data. The data is compiled from 

numerous companies or agencies and as few entities provide monopoly services each 

source of data does not cover all households. Unlike survey data where generally each 

household or individual has indicated a response to each question, it is the convergence of 

information around a person or an address from different sources that provides an indicator 

of whether a property has been used retail, financial or administrative transactions as might 

be expected if the home was occupied as a principal residence.  

The absence of demographic data is therefore used to indicate a home that is a second 

home, infrequently used or otherwise unoccupied. However, the coverage of commercial 

demographic data was not universal. To be confident that across the sample absences of 

data was a function of homes being under-utilised rather than insufficient time for the data 

company to collecting formation a control group was established to determine the expected 

match rate of demographic data to new build addresses. The control group comprised of 

new build properties sold during our study period in areas not subject to the second home or 

overseas investment phenomena. Annex 1 explains further about how the control group was 

constructed but was based upon new build sales in Crawley, Stevenage and Basildon, the 

three local authorities where the Census 2011 indicated the lowest level of ‘no usual 

residents’ on census day. The absence of demographic data matches to properties was not 

distributed randomly and by comparing this gap between the control group match rate and 

the London sample we can estimate the proportion of new build properties for different types 

of owner or price points that are under-used or unoccupied in some way.   

Page 110



 

7 
 

2: Determining ownership of London’s new build 

properties 

This chapter uses the Land Registry data to consider the extent of overseas ownership of 

London’s new build residential market.  

Extent of overseas ownership 

Using the correspondence address of the first named proprietor1 of the property indicates 

that an overseas person or entity owned 13 percent of London’s new build property sold 

during the two-year study period 2014-2016 (Figure 2.1).  

Figure 2.1: Extent of overseas ownership of London’s residential new build properties sold 
April 2014 to March 2016 (%) 

 
Source: Land Registry 

The proportion of new build properties bought by overseas buyers rose across the study 

period. A total of 10.5 percent of the new build homes sold in 2014 were bought by overseas 

investors, 13.1 percent of the 2015 sales and 17.9 percent of the 2016 sales.  

Three-fifths (61 percent) of all overseas sales were made by people or entities in just four 

countries in south-east Asia.  Hong Kong, Singapore, Malaysia and China supplied the 

largest proportions of overseas investors. Figure 2.2 shows the top countries of the first 

named property owners, and a full list is available in Annex 2. Where owners provided only 

an email address for correspondence, the country location was marked as ‘uncertain’.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                

1
 Some properties were purchased by several owners, indeed 18 different investors were present  in 

one case. 

87 

13 

UK Overseas

Page 111



 

8 
 

Figure 2.2: Country location of first proprietor’s overseas owners’ correspondence address 
(%) 

  
Source: Land Registry 

It is difficult to determine the trajectory of overseas sales by country on such a short run, but 

Malaysian investment fell during the study period, with 11 percent of overseas sales in 2014 

coming from Malaysia, 7.3 percent during 2015 and only 3.7 percent of 2016 overseas sales. 

Investment from Singapore fluctuated, forming 23.9 percent of the 2014 overseas sales, 

18.0 percent of 2015 overseas sales and 20.8 percent of the 2016 sales. Hong Kong sales 

also fluctuated, forming 29.0 percent of the 2014 overseas sales, 26.2 percent of the 2015 

overseas sales and 31.5 percent of the 2016 overseas sales.  

Overseas property owners were more prevalent in prime central London boroughs where 

they comprised just over one third of all sales (36.2 percent), compared to 5.7 percent of 

sales in the outer London boroughs (Figure 2.3). However, as a proportion of all sales prime 

London as a destination for overseas investors was only as prevalent as outer London (18 

percent), with by far the greatest proportion of sales to overseas investors being in new 

growth areas (31 percent) and the rest of inner London (32 percent). Of course, the prime 

markets comprise only 6.6 percent of sales and the outer London boroughs 41.7 percent of 

all sales, so overseas investors are over-represented in prime areas and under-represented 

in outer London areas.  

 
Figure 2.3: Overseas sales by London area (%) 

    
Source: Land Registry  

Table 2.1 shows that the London boroughs with the greatest proportions of all the overseas 

sales made during the study period were the City of Westminster (11.0 percent), Tower 

28.0 

20.1 
7.5 

5.4 
5.1 

3.2 

3.1 
3.0 

2.9 
1.8 

19.9 

Hong Kong

Singapore

Malaysia

China

Channel Islands

British Virgin Islands

Uncertain

UAE

Saudi Arabia

USA

Other 49 countries

36.2 

15.6 

16.2 

5.7 

% sales in area by overseas 
investors 

Prime London New Growth

Inner London Outer London

18.4 

30.8 32.4 

18.4 

% of all overseas sales by area of 
London 

Prime London New Growth

Inner London Outer London

Page 112



 

9 
 

Hamlets (9.6 percent) and Greenwich (9.0 percent) with other areas of areas of new growth 

and inner London represented. A full list of overseas sales in London boroughs is included in 

Annex 3.  However, the boroughs where overseas sales comprised the greatest proportions 

of all sales in that borough were in prime markets of the City of London (40.8 percent), 

Westminster (37.9 percent) and Kensington and Chelsea (32.2 percent). However, although 

overseas buyers were over-represented in prime London boroughs, there were lower rates 

of new builds coming to market in these areas, comprising only seven percent of all sales. 

Table 2.1: Top ten London boroughs by proportion of overseas sales  

 

LB by %  of all 
overseas sales 

Overseas sales as % 
of LB sales 

LB sales as % of 
all sales 

City of Westminster 11.0 37.9 3.8 

Tower Hamlets 9.6 16.2 7.6 

Greenwich 9.0 14.4 8.1 

Wandsworth 8.6 14.6 7.6 

Kensington And Chelsea 8.4 32.2 2.2 

Southwark 8.4 25.6 4.3 

Hackney 7.4 18.4 5.2 

Lewisham 6.2 17.1 4.7 

Hammersmith and Fulham 4.2 18.8 2.9 

Newham 3.7 20.3 2.3 

Source: Land Registry 

Figure 2.4: Distribution of all overseas sales by London boroughs (%) 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Land Registry 

 
 
 

Low (>=) (<) High Occurrences 

0.0 2.2 (19)   

2.2 4.4 (6)   

4.4 6.6 (1)   

6.6 8.8 (4)   

8.8 11.0 (3)   

Page 113



 

10 
 

 
 
Figure 2.5: Proportion of all sales in each London Borough made to overseas buyers (%) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Low (>=) (<) High Occurrences 

0.0 8.2 (17)   

8.2 16.3 (7)   

16.3 24.5 (5)   

24.5 32.7 (2)   

32.7 40.8 (2)   

Source: Land Registry 

The top destinations of investors varied by country (See Annex 4). Hong investors most 

frequently purchased in Tower Hamlets (13.4 percent of all sales from Hong Kong), 

Greenwich (10.0 percent) or Southwark (10.0 percent). While investors from Singapore 

favoured Westminster (17.2 percent of all sales from Singapore) above Tower Hamlets (12.9 

percent) and Southwark (10.0 percent), and Malaysian investors bought most frequently in 

Hackney (24.4 percent), Westminster (11.5 percent) and Wandsworth (11.5 percent). The 

most popular destination for Chinese investment was Greenwich (24.6 percent), for 

investment through the Channel Islands was Harrow (30.2 percent) and investment routed 

through the British Virgin Islands centred on Westminster (21.1 percent).  

Company sales 

Company sales were more frequent among overseas purchases. A total of 6.6 percent of all 

sales during the study period were undertaken by companies rather than individual people. 

However, 15 percent of sales undertaken by owners based overseas were made through a 

Page 114



 

11 
 

company (Figure 2.6), and 29.7 percent of all company sales had an overseas 

correspondence address.   

Company sales were concentrated in Prime London boroughs (14.4 percent). Much lower 

proportions were found in all other areas of the city, with company purchases representing 

only 5.3 percent of sales in the New Growth boroughs.  

Figure 2.6: Country of owners by type of purchase (%) 

  
Source: Land Registry 

UK based firms formed the majority of company transactions (70.3 percent), with 29.7 

percent based overseas. Of all overseas company sales, 32.1 percent were based in the 

Channel Islands, 21.8 percent in the British Virgin Islands and 14.1 percent in Hong Kong 

(Figure 2.7). 

Figure 2.7: Country of origin of overseas company sales (%) 

 
Source: Land Registry 

The country base of company property owners varies by location within London (Annex 5). 

Companies based in different countries bought property in different areas of London. The 

British Virgin Islands formed 16 percent of all company sales in prime London markets, and 

was the key location for investment from this jurisdiction, In comparison the largest 

proportion of sales from the Channel Islands (14.5 percent) were in the outer London 

boroughs.  Hong Kong firms also accounted for a significant portion of outer London borough 

sales (6.6 percent).  

85 

15 

Overseas owners 

Individuals Companies

94.7 

5.3 

UK owners 

Individuals Companies

32.1 

21.8 14.1 

5.1 

4.5 
3.8 

3.8 

1.9 
12.9 

Channel Islands British Virgin Islands Hong Kong

Singapore Cyprus Isle of Man

USA Uncertain 10 other countries

Page 115



 

12 
 

Overseas company sales are not currently obliged to declare the beneficial owner of the 

property2, and indeed pay large sums of tax (Annual Tax on Enveloped Dwelling) to avoid 

doing so3.  

Of the company sales, three-quarters of sales were to single owners (76.1 percent) but 

around a quarter (23.7 percent) had between two and five owners listed. Of the company 

purchases with multiple owners, 67.7 were companies with UK correspondence addresses. 

Overseas purchases (25.6 percent) were just as likely to include multiple owners than UK 

company purchases (22.8 percent), any difference was not statistically significant. 

Sales prices 

Overall overseas owners bought higher value properties (median price of £500,000) than 

UK-based buyers (median price of £415,000). But this was not uniform across London. UK 

owners bought slightly higher value properties than overseas owners in prime London 

boroughs but there was little difference in other areas, and in inner and outer London 

boroughs the differences were not significant.  

Table 2.2: Mean and median average prices by London area and country of owner (£) 

 UK Owner Overseas Owner Total 

 Mean Median Mean Median Mean Median 

Prime London 2,045,199 1,378,862 1,584,885 1,175,373 1,878,285 1,279,450 

New Growth 521,046 455,000 531,014 445,525 522,599 452,500 

Inner London** 672,549 485,000 713,598 554,000 679,207 490,000 

Outer London** 420,529 340,000 415,768 362,500 420,257 342,500 

Total 587,302 415,000 763,207 500,000 610,101 425,000 

Source: Land Registry *NB sales below £200,000 removed   ** Not significant at p<0.05 

Overseas purchasers more frequently bought higher value properties than UK owners 

(Figures 2.5). A quarter of UK sales (25.2 percent) were made between £0.5 million and £1 

million compared to 32.5 percent of purchases by overseas owners. Similarly, overseas 

buyers bought property between £1 million and £5 million at twice the rate (16.2 percent) of 

UK buyers (7.7 percent).  

A total of 14.9 percent of overseas sales were made via companies, and these purchases 

also tended to be of a higher value. Around half of all overseas individuals and company 

purchases were in the lower price bands (under £0.5 million) (Figure 2.8). However, 23.2 

percent of company sales were over £1 million compared to only 15.9 percent of sales to 

overseas individuals.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                

2
 The UK government have recently consulted on making it a legal requirement that foreign 

companies register their beneficial owners prior to buying UK property or bidding for UK public 
contracts (BEIS, 2016)  
3
 Annual Tax on Enveloped Dwelling was introduced in 2013 and is based on banded property values. 

Total receipts in 2015/16 were £178 million and increased by 53 percent on the previous years total 
(HMRC, 2016).  

Page 116



 

13 
 

Figure 2.8: Price paid by overseas and UK owners (%) 

    
Source: Land Registry 

 
Figure 2.9: Overseas owners by type of purchase and price band (%)  

     
Source: Land Registry 

Overseas investment is not just about prime high value sales. Indeed half of all overseas 

sales were made at values below £0.5 million (50.5 percent) (Figure 2.10). The next largest 

proportion of overseas sales were made at values between £0.5 million and £1 million (32.5 

percent). Only a fifth of sales were made at values above £1 million.   

Figure: 2.10: Proportion of all overseas sales by price point (%) 

 
Source: Land Registry 

Table 2.3 and Table 2.4 show the distribution of sales prices by area of London for Overseas 

and UK-based buyers. While overseas and UK-based buyers have a tendency to buy in 

different areas – with overseas buyers being more interested in prime London and less 

interested in outer London compared to UK-based investors – when they do buy in the 

different areas there is not a lot of difference in the price points at which they enter the 

market. The prime London market is obviously more important to overseas buyers than UK-

based buyers and their spending is leans towards the £0.5-£1m price band where 39.6 

percent of sales are made, compared to UK-based buyers where only 30.3 percent of their 

50.5 
32.5 

16.2 
0.8 

% of all overseas owners 

£0.2m to £0.5m £0.5m to £1m

£1m to £5m Over £5m

66.5 

25.2 

7.7 
0.6 

% of all UK owners 

£0.2m to £0.5m £0.5m to £1m

£1m to £5m Over £5m

51 

25.8 

22.6 
0.6 

% of overseas company sales 

£0.2m to £0.5m £0.5m to £1m

£1m to £5m Over £5m

50.4 
33.7 

15.1 
0.8 

% of overseas individual sales 

£0.2m to £0.5m £0.5m to £1m

£1m to £5m Over £5m

50.5 

32.6 

16.2 
0.8 

£0.2m to £0.5m £0.5m to £1m £1m to £5m Over £5m

Page 117



 

14 
 

purchases are made.  And in inner London overseas buyers favour property in the price 

bands £0.5-£1m and £1-5m more than UK-based buyers, who more frequently purchase at 

the lower end of the market £0.2-£0.5m.  

 
Table 2.3: Overseas sales by price and area of London (%) 

 Banded price paid for property 

Total  £0.2m to 

£0.5m 

£0.5m 

to £1m 

£1m to 

£5m 

Over 

£5m 

Prime London 5.7 39.6 50.5 4.2 18.5 

New Growth 64.7 30.0 5.3 0.0 30.8 

Inner London 44.2 40.9 14.8 0.0 32.4 

Outer London 82.7 14.7 2.6 0.0 18.4 

Total of price band 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 

Total of all overseas sales 50.5 32.6 16.2 0.8 100.0 

Source: Land Registry  

Table 2.4: UK-based sales by price and area of London (%) 

 Banded price paid for property 

Total  £0.2m to 

£0.5m 

£0.5m 

to £1m 

£1m to 

£5m 

Over 

£5m 

Prime London 7.4 30.3 55.5 6.8 4.8 

New Growth 62.2 33.8 3.9 0.1 24.9 

Inner London 54.9 34.4 9.9 0.7 25.0 

Outer London 81.7 14.8 3.4 0.1 45.2 

Total of price band 100. 100. 100.0 100.0 100.0 

Total of all overseas sales 66.5 25.2 7.7 0.6 66.5 

Source: Land Registry  

Mortgage charges 

While overseas investment has offered counter-cyclical investment in UK residential 

markets, such investment is also subject to market fluctuations in the host countries. The 

extent of leveraged investment that may be subject to economic shifts overseas is therefore 

also important to monitor.  

Across all sales 67.3 percent of sales were supported by a mortgage, and overseas 

purchasers were less likely to hold a mortgage charge against their property (53.5 percent) 

than UK based purchases (69.4 percent) (Figure 2.11).  Mortgages on properties purchased 

by overseas investors were slightly over-represented in areas of inner London (37.1 

percent), despite forming only 32.4 percent of overseas sales, and were slightly under-

represented among overseas sales in outer London boroughs, where they formed 14.4 

percent of mortgaged properties and 18.4 percent of all overseas sales (Figure 2.11).  

There was little difference between the rates of mortgages used by overseas companies and 

individuals and any apparent difference was not statistically significant. A greater proportion 

of overseas purchases in the rest of Inner London (61.1 percent) have a mortgage charge on 

the property, compared to only 41.9 percent in Outer London.  

 
 

Page 118



 

15 
 

Figure 2.11: Mortgaged sales by origin of sales (%) 

   
Source: Land Registry 

Figure 2.12: Mortgaged overseas sales by London area (%) 

 
Source: Land Registry 

By far the greatest proportion of mortgaged overseas sales originate from south-east Asia, 

with over half coming from Hong Kong and Singapore alone (Figure 2.13). Overseas sales 

from these countries comprised 48.1 percent of all overseas sales but 54 percent of all 

mortgaged sales meaning they were slightly more likely to have borrowed to facilitate the 

purchase than other overseas owners.  

Figure 2.13: Country of origin of mortgaged overseas sales (%) 

 
Source: Land Registry 

69.4 

30.6 

UK sales 

Mortgaged Non-mortgaged

53.5 
46.5 

Overseas sales 

Mortgaged Non-mortgaged

18.2% 

30.4% 37.1% 

14.4% 

Prime London New growth Inner London Outer London

27.1 

14 

6.4 
5.4 5.2 

4.1 
3.3 

2.9 

2.7 

28.9 

Hong kong Singapore
Malaysia China
Saudi Arabia British Virgin Islands
Uncertain UAE
USA 43 other countries

Page 119



 

16 
 

The ten London Boroughs with the greatest proportions of mortgaged overseas sales are 

shown in Table 2.5. Westminster, Greenwich and Tower Hamlets account for 31 percent of 

all mortgaged overseas sales, which is similar to their share of all overseas sales. However, 

mortgaged sales were over-represented among London boroughs in areas of New Growth 

and Inner London.   

The median price paid for any mortgaged property was £400,000 compared to £480,000 for 

ones with no mortgage charge attached. The median price paid for mortgaged properties by 

overseas purchasers was significantly higher (£495,892) than UK-based purchasers 

(£394,995). The title data does not reveal the size of the mortgage, so the extent of leverage 

among overseas buyers remains uncertain. The data does suggest, however, that overseas 

buyers have greater purchasing power, with or without finance.  

 
Table 2.5: Top ten London Boroughs by proportion of overseas sales 

 % of 

mortgaged 

sales 

% non-

mortgaged 

sales 

% of all  sales 

City of Westminster (prime) 11.0 11.0 11.0 

Greenwich (new growth) 10.1 7.7 8.9 

Tower Hamlets (new growth) 10.1 8.9 9.5 

Lewisham (inner) 8.6 3.3 6.2 

Hackney (inner) 8.1 6.6 7.4 

Southwark (new growth) 8.1 8.9 8.5 

Wandsworth (new growth) 7.5 9.7 8.6 

Hammersmith And Fulham (Inner) 5.2 2.9 4.1 

Kensington And Chelsea (prime) 5.0 5.8 5.4 

Harrow (outer) 3.8 1.4 2.7 

Source: Land Registry  

Property type 

A total of 89.2 percent of all sales related to flats. Overseas purchasers were more inclined 

to buy flats (97.9 percent) compared to UK purchasers (87.9 percent). 

The price paid for different types of new build varied (Table 2.6).  

Table 2.6: Price paid by type of new build (£)  

Type of new build Mean Median Minimum Maximum 

Change of Use 745,587 535,000 200,000 6,200,000 

Conversion 1,189,517 480,000 229,724 18,850,000 

New build 743,168 475,000 200,000 50,000,000 

Extensions 414,571 385,000 205,000 815,000 

Total 753,001 478,000 200,000 50,000,000 

Source: Land Registry/GLA 

 

Conclusion 

The Land Registry data demonstrated that 13 percent of new build sales during our study 

period were made to overseas investors, drawn mainly from south east Asia. Overseas 

investment in London property was greater in prime London boroughs but these sales 

Page 120



 

17 
 

comprised only seven percent of all transactions. It was notable that during our study period, 

around half of all overseas investors bought properties at sales points between £0.2 and 

£0.5 million, indicating that the phenomenon was more widespread than prime London’s 

high value homes alone.  

  

Page 121



 

18 
 

3: Determining occupancy of London’s new build 

properties 

Introduction 

This chapter reports on data sources that tell us about the extent to which London’s new 

build homes are fully or partially used or occupied. It is based on Census data relating to no 

usual residents on Census night and demographic transactional data. 

Determining the exact proportion of under-used or under-occupied homes is a challenge, not 

least as there are various reasons why a property may not be fully utilised due to 

transactional voids, disrepair, are vacant for speculative purposes (buy to leave), used for 

the academic year, for the summer season or during the working week. Setting parameters 

for the different type of ‘under-use’ is therefore difficult.  

Census data – household spaces with no usual residents 

The 2011 Census provides us with data of unoccupied household spaces on census day (27 

March 2011). While this resource is somewhat dated, not least in relation to some of the new 

neighbourhoods that have emerged from extensive new development in some locations, for 

example, the Greenwich Peninsula, they nevertheless provide some insight into the types of 

locations in which our sample properties are situated. Unoccupied housing is not a clear 

indicator of an unused dwelling, as the usual occupiers may be temporarily absent, vacant 

during a sale or for refurbishment, the property could be used as a second home or other 

infrequent use, as well as being empty. The Census records household spaces (similar to 

dwellings but not necessarily self-contained) where there is no usual resident4. There are 

associations between household spaces having no usual resident on census day, second 

homes and empty properties (Gask and Williams, 2015). We therefore use this to highlight 

patterns in our sample of new build homes.  

There were 4.36 percent of household spaces unoccupied on the night of the 2011 Census 

across England and Wales, compared to 3.9 percent in the 2001 Census.5 Greater London 

had the lowest rate of household spaces without a usual resident (3.58 percent) compared to 

5.97 percent in Wales and the South West.   This varies by local authority with greater 

proportions of no usual residents recorded in the City of London (20.7 percent), Westminster 

(11.9 percent) and Kensington and Chelsea (10.5 percent). 

The Census data identifies the proportion of household spaces with no usual residents on 

census night in Census output areas, which cover approximately 125 households. These 

data were appended to our sample of new build properties. Overall, the proportion of no 

usual residents in the output areas where our sample properties were located was 8.4 

percent. This ranged from 10 percent of new build properties being in locations where there 

were less than one percent of spaces with no usual resident on census day, to ten percent of 

                                                

4
 The Census definition of ‘usual resident’ is anyone who, census day, was in the UK and had stayed 

or intended to stay in the UK for a period of 12 months or more, or had a permanent UK address and 
was outside the UK and intended to be outside the UK for less than 12 months. 
5
 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/articles/ho
useholdsandhouseholdcompositioninenglandandwales/2014-05-29#household-spaces  

Page 122

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/articles/householdsandhouseholdcompositioninenglandandwales/2014-05-29#household-spaces
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/articles/householdsandhouseholdcompositioninenglandandwales/2014-05-29#household-spaces


 

19 
 

new build homes situated in locations with 15.7 percent or more no usual residents. Prime 

London areas contained the greatest proportions of new build homes in areas with high rates 

of no usual residents found (18.1 percent), but was much lower in new growth areas (7.2 

percent), inner London (4.3 percent) and outer London (5.1 percent). However, the median 

proportions signify some wide variation in areas other than in prime London. The median 

rate of no usual residents found in prime London was similar to the mean (19.5 percent) but 

is much lower and consistent for the new growth, inner and outer areas of London (3.1 or 3.2 

percent across all of these areas).  

The top ten London boroughs with new build properties in locations with the greatest 

proportions of no usual residents on census day are shown in Table 3.1. While the prime 

boroughs of City of London, Westminster and Kensington and Chelsea could be anticipated, 

new build homes in outer London boroughs were also located in areas of high rates of 

homes with no usual residents.  

Table 3.1: Top ten London boroughs by proportion of no usual residents on 2011 Census day 
in locations of new build properties  

London Borough Mean Median 

City of London 25.5 29.6 

City of Westminster 19.0 14.8 

Kensington and Chelsea 14.4 20.3 

Newham 10.2 0.9 

Bromley 9.9 4.2 

Croydon 9.3 4.7 

Wandsworth 8.9 11.0 

Tower Hamlets 8.6 2.0 

Hillingdon 8.1 3.8 

Harrow 7.1 5.3 

Source: Census 2011; Land Registry 

Read demographic transactional data 

The commercial demographic data includes attributes derived from a range of different 

commercial and administrative sources. Data is not available for all property addresses, not 

least new build properties as it takes some time to accumulate commercial and 

administrative data around an address. The match rate between the demographic data and 

our London sample addresses was compared to the match rate for the control group sales.  

The gap between the expected match rate and the actual match rate indicates where homes 

are not being used as a site of financial, retail or administrative transactions as would be 

expected from a primary residence.  

A total of 19.6 percent of addresses were matched with demographic data for the control 

group but only 17.6 percent for properties across London (excluding off-plan sales where the 

building work is incomplete and the properties therefore unable to be occupied) (Table 3.2). 

From these data we can infer that 10.2 percent of properties were under-used in some way 

and not used as a primary residence and a site of retail, financial and administrative 

transactions (100-(17.6 x100/19.6)).  

 

 

 

Page 123



 

20 
 

Table 3.2: Read demographic match rates and inferred occupancy (%) 

 Source: Read Group 

Table 3.3 examines the distribution of the gap between the matches achieved in London and 
the matches achieved in the control group, indicating the areas and properties where we can 
infer there are greater numbers of properties not used as a primary residence. Here we find 
that around half of new build properties in prime areas of London are not fully occupied, but 
under-used in some manner. In contrast, all new properties in outer London are fully 
occupied as the match rate exceeded the excepted match rate of 19.6 percent (derived from 
the control group). In areas of new growth and new builds in inner London a quarter and a 
fifth of new homes are under-used according to the expected baseline rate of 19.6 percent. 

Table 3.3: Demographic match rates by London area (%) 

Source: Land Registry; Read Group 

Table 3.4 finds a similar differential between properties according to value with properties 

over £1m experiencing a lower match rate / higher vacancy rate and properties over £5m an 

even greater variation from the London average.  

Table 3.4: Match rates by value of property (%) 

Source: Land Registry; Read Group 

Table 3.5 shows that overseas owners are more likely to hold property that is under-used, 

42.3 percent compared to 5.6 percent of UK owners. However, as overseas investors are a 

smaller proportion of the market, in absolute terms similar numbers of under-occupied new 

build properties are likely to be owned by UK and overseas purchasers (402 of this sample 

are estimated to be overseas owned under-occupied new builds versus 389 of the UK 

owned new builds).  

 

 

 

Year of sale 
Match rate 

London sample 
Control Group 

average 
Inferred full 

occupancy rate 
Inferred under-
occupancy rate 

2014-2016 17.6 19.6 89.8 10.2 

Area Matched Unmatched Total sales 

Inferred full 
occupancy 

rate 

Inferred 
under-

occupancy 
rate 

Prime London 9.9 90.1 503 50.5 49.5 

New growth 16.7 83.3 1796 85.2 14.8 

Inner London 15.8 84.2 2036 80.6 19.4 

Outer London 20.5 79.5 3272 100.0 0.0 

Grand Total 17.6 83.2 7607 89.8 10.2 

Value of 

property 
Matched Unmatched Total sales 

Inferred full 
occupancy 

rate 

Inferred 
under-

occupancy 
rate 

1 over £5m 7.1 92.9 42 36.2 63.8 

2 £1m-£5m 12.0 88.0 652 61.2 38.8 

3 £0.5m-£1m 14.3 85.7 1908 73.0 27.0 

4 £0.20m-£0.5m 19.7 80.3 5006 100.0 0.0 

Total 17.6 82.4 7608 89.8 10.2 

Page 124



 

21 
 

Table 3.5: Match rates by type of purchaser (%) 

 

Matched Unmatched 
Total sales 

(n) 

Inferred full 

occupancy rate 

Inferred 

under-

occupancy 

rate  

Overseas owner 11.3 88.7 952 57.7 42.3 

UK owner 18.5 81.5 6955 94.4 5.6 

Total 17.6 82.4 7608 89.8 10.2 

Source: Read Group/Land Registry 

We know that in the case of 57.5 percent of properties the owner used the same 

correspondence address for the legal transactions as the property address, plausibly 

indicating owner-occupation or at least a primary residence.  By way of a validity check, the 

match rates of demographic data to these homes assumed to be in owner occupation was 

19.8 percent, essentially the same as for the control group (19.6 percent) (Table 3.6). 

Estimates of under-occupancy are zero among resident owners, but a quarter (25.5 percent) 

of homes bought by non-resident owners were under-occupied in some way.   

Table 3.6: Match rates by correspondence address (%) 

Source: Land Registry; Read Group 

The difference in occupancy rates remains when comparing UK non-resident owners with 

overseas non-resident owners (Table 3.7).  Of all non-resident owners who are using the 

properties as a variety of second homes, buy to let, or buy to leave uses, 18.4 percent of UK 

owners’ properties are under-used, less than half the rate at which overseas owners’ homes 

are under-used.  

Table 3.7: Match rates among non-resident owners by type of owner (%) 

Source: Land Registry; Read Group 

Conclusion 

The estimates show that the propensity to leave homes empty or under-used in some way is 

greater among properties of higher values, in prime areas of London and among overseas 

investors. These sales represent a smaller portion of London’s new build housing market,   

so in absolute terms UK and overseas owners hold similar numbers of homes that are 

under-used or under-occupied. 

 Matched Unmatched Total sales 

Inferred full 
occupancy 

rate 

Inferred 
under-

occupancy 
rate 

Resident owners 19.8 80.2 4596 100.0 0.0 

Non-resident 

owners 

14.6 85.4 3400 74.5 25.5 

Total 17.6 82.4 7608 89.8 10.2 

 Matched Unmatched 
Total sales 

(n) 

Inferred full 

occupancy 

rate 

Estimated 

under-

occupancy 

rate 

Overseas owners 11.3 88.7 952 57.7 42.3 

UK owners 16.0 84.0 2244 81.6 18.4 

Total 14.6 85.4 3196 74.5 25.5 

Page 125



 

22 
 

References 

BEIS (2016) Beneficial Ownership Transparency: Enhancing transparency of beneficial 
ownership information of foreign companies undertaking certain economic activities in 
the UK. London, Department for Business Energy and Industry Strategy.  

HMRC (2016) Annual Tax on Enveloped Dwellings Statistics (ATED) 2015/16. London, Her 
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  

Gask, K. and Williams, S., 2015. Analysing low electricity consumption using DECC data, 
London: Office of National Statistics. 

  

Page 126



 

23 
 

Annex 1:  Establishing a control group 

To provide a robust estimate of homes that are little used or vacant among new build homes 

in London we need to compare the ‘match rate’ of demographic data achieved amongst the 

sample of these homes in London with what is achieved in a location free from overseas 

investment or other holiday or second home phenomena.  

Census 2011 data identifies whether household spaces had any usual residents on Census 

day. The local authority districts with the highest rates of no usual residents are those 

associated with vacant or second homes, holiday homes and pied et terres (see Figure 1). 

Table 1 reflects the research teams’ own analysis of Census data and shows the top ten 

local authorities with the highest and lowest rates of homes with no usual residents on 

Census day.  Interestingly, London Boroughs appear in the lists, with prime boroughs having 

a high incidence of no usual residents and outer London boroughs low rates of no usual 

residents.  

Figure 1: Percentage of household spaces with no usual residents on Census day 2011  

 

Source: Reproduced from Gask and Williams (2015) 

 

Page 127



 

24 
 

Table 1: Highest and Lowest local authority districts by no usual residents on Census day 

2011 

Top LA districts % Bottom LA districts % 

Isles of Scilly 28.9 Crawley 1.7 

City of London 20.7 Basildon 1.7 

King's Lynn and 
West Norfolk 

15.0 Waltham Forest 1.9 

South Hams 14.8 Stevenage 1.9 

Gwynedd 14.1 Tamworth 2.0 

North Norfolk 13.5 Redditch 2.0 

South Lakeland 12.9 Newham 2.0 

Scarborough 12.8 Enfield 2.0 

Pembrokeshire 12.5 Havering 2.1 

Westminster 11.9 Lewisham 2.1 

Source: Census 2011 

The top three towns, outside of London, with low rates of no usual residents were Crawley, 

Basildon and Stevenage.  Crawley had 239 new builds during our study period, Basildon 805 

new builds and Stevenage 250. Together these local authorities achieved 1,294 new build 

homes from which we can determine a robust ‘match rate’ of geo-demographic data for new 

build homes during our study period and use these to compare to our match rates within the 

London boroughs. The proportion of flats to houses is greater in these southeast towns 

compared to the London boroughs, and the sales prices were obviously lower. However, the 

point is to establish a baseline ‘match rate’ for new build homes for areas without a second 

or vacant homes phenomena in local housing markets. The development patterns in large 

cities like Manchester or Birmingham will more closely align with that in London may also be 

subject to the vacant and second home phenomena, and therefore would not provide a 

suitable baseline comparator.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



 

25 
 

Annex 2: Country of the first proprietor’s address 

  % of all overseas sales % of all sales 

United Kingdom n/a 87.0 

Hong Kong 28.0 3.6 

Singapore 20.1 2.6 

Malaysia 7.5 1.0 

China 5.4 0.7 

Channel Islands 5.1 0.7 

British Virgin Islands 3.2 0.4 

Uncertain 3.1 0.4 

UAE 3.0 0.4 

Saudi Arabia 2.9 0.4 

USA 1.8 0.2 

Turkey 1.3 0.2 

Kuwait 1.2 0.2 

Cyprus 1.1 0.1 

Nigeria 0.9 0.1 

Bahrain 0.9 0.1 

Australia 0.8 0.1 

Switzerland 0.7 0.1 

Egypt 0.6 0.1 

Japan 0.6 0.1 

South Africa 0.6 0.1 

Thailand 0.6 0.1 

Russian 0.6 0.1 

Israel 0.5 0.1 

Canada 0.5 0.1 

France 0.5 0.1 

Isle 0.5 0.1 

Ireland 0.5 0.1 

Italy 0.5 0.1 

Qatar 0.4 0.1 

India 0.4 0.1 

Mauritius 0.4 0.0 

Jalan 0.3 0.0 

Belgium 0.3 0.0 

Spain 0.3 0.0 

Bangladesh 0.3 0.0 

Seychelles 0.3 0.0 

Kenya 0.3 0.0 

Indonesia 0.2 0.0 

Greece 0.2 0.0 

Kazakhstan 0.2 0.0 

Luxembourg 0.2 0.0 

Netherlands 0.2 0.0 

Jordan 0.2 0.0 

Ukraine 0.2 0.0 

Zimbabwe 0.2 0.0 

Argentina 0.2 0.0 

Cayman 0.2 0.0 

Brunei 0.2 0.0 

Oman 0.2 0.0 

Macau 0.1 0.0 

Bermuda 0.1 0.0 

Portugal 0.1 0.0 

Vietnam 0.1 0.0 

Lebanon 0.1 0.0 

Page 129



 

26 
 

Barbados 0.1 0.0 

Jamaica 0.1 0.0 

Malta 0.1 0.0 

Sweden 0.1 0.0 

Monaco 0.1 0.0 

Azerbaijan 0.0 0.0 

Bahamas 0.0 0.0 

Brazil 0.0 0.0 

Estonia 0.0 0.0 

Hungary 0.0 0.0 

Maldives 0.0 0.0 

Marshall 0.0 0.0 

Pakistan 0.0 0.0 

Tunisia 0.0 0.0 

Uzbekistan 0.0 0.0 

Total 100.0 100.0 

Source: Land Registry 

 

  

Page 130



 

27 
 

Annex 3: Overseas sales by London borough 

 

LB by %  of all 
overseas sales 

overseas sales as % 
of LB sales 

LB sales as % of 
all sales 

City of Westminster 11.0 37.9 3.8 

Tower Hamlets 9.6 16.2 7.6 

Greenwich 9.0 14.4 8.1 

Wandsworth 8.6 14.6 7.6 

Kensington And Chelsea 8.4 32.2 2.2 

Southwark 8.4 25.6 4.3 

Hackney 7.4 18.4 5.2 

Lewisham 6.2 17.1 4.7 

Hammersmith and Fulham 4.2 18.8 2.9 

Newham 3.7 20.3 2.3 

Barnet 3.0 6.3 6.2 

Harrow 2.7 12.4 2.8 

Islington 2.5 11.3 2.9 

Ealing 2.2 11.7 2.5 

Lambeth 2.1 5.9 4.4 

City of London 2.0 40.8 0.6 

Hounslow 2.0 7.6 3.5 

Brent 1.9 7.1 3.5 

Camden 1.7 13.4 1.6 

Croydon 1.6 6.7 3.0 

Merton 1.4 18.8 1.0 

Hillingdon 0.8 3.7 2.7 

Barking and Dagenham 0.5 6.5 1.0 

Enfield 0.5 6.5 1.0 

Bromley 0.5 2.2 2.8 

Richmond upon Thames 0.3 4.2 0.9 

Haringey 0.3 3.3 1.1 

Kingston Upon Thames 0.3 2.6 1.5 

Redbridge 0.2 2.6 1.0 

Waltham Forest 0.2 1.7 1.5 

Bexley 0.2 1.4 1.7 

Havering 0.0 0.0 3.0 

Sutton 0.0 0.0 1.2 

Total 100.0 `100.0 100.0 

Source: Land Registry 

  

Page 131



 

28 
 

Annex 4: Top 10 destinations of overseas investors by country (% 

of country sales) 

 

Channel Islands (5.1%) 

Harrow 30.2 

Hillingdon 13.2 

Wandsworth 9.4 

Ealing 5.7 

Lewisham 5.7 

Merton 5.7 

Bromley 3.8 

City of Westminster 3.8 

Hackney 3.8 

Hammersmith and Fulham 3.8 

 

China (5.4%) 

Greenwich 24.6 

Hackney 14.0 

Hammersmith and Fulham 8.8 

Lewisham 8.8 

Newham 7.0 

Southwark 7.0 

Islington 5.3 

Tower Hamlets 5.3 

Wandsworth 5.3 

Brent 3.5 

 

Hong Kong (28.0%) 

Tower Hamlets 13.4 

Greenwich 10.0 

Southwark 10.0 

City of Westminster 9.3 

Lewisham 8.6 

British Virgin Islands (3.2% of overseas investors) 

City of Westminster 21.2 

Kensington and Chelsea 12.1 

Merton 15.2 

Wandsworth 15.2 

Southwark  9.1 

Ealing 9.1 

Hillingdon 6.1 

Camden 3.0 

Greenwich 3.0 

Newham 3.0 

Tower Hamlets 3.0 

Page 132



 

29 
 

Hackney 7.2 

Newham 5.2 

Islington 4.1 

Wandsworth 4.1 

Barnet 3.8 

 

Singapore (20.1%) 

City of Westminster 17.2 

Tower Hamlets 12.9 

Southwark 10.0 

Greenwich 8.6 

Kensington and Chelsea 7.2 

Hackney 6.7 

Hammersmith and Fulham 4.8 

Lambeth 4.3 

Lewisham 4.3 

Wandsworth 4.3 

 

Malaysia (7.5%) 

Hackney 24.4 

City of Westminster 11.5 

Wandsworth 11.5 

Greenwich 7.7 

Tower Hamlets 7.7 

Hounslow 6.4 

Lewisham 6.4 

Kensington and Chelsea 5.1 

Southwark 3.8 

Hammersmith and Fulham 2.6 

 

 

Source: Land Registry 

Page 133



 

30 
 

Annex 5: Country location of company owners by area of London  

Source: Land Registry 

 

% 
Prime 

London 

New 

Growth 

Inner 

London 

Outer 

London 
Total 

UK 64.0 67.0 77.6 69.9 70.2 

Bahrain 0.0 0.0 1.7 0.0 0.4 

Barbados 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.2 

British Virgin 

Islands 

16.0 7.3 3.4 4.4 6.5 

Cayman Islands 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.4 

Channel Islands 5.3 5.5 6.0 14.6 9.5 

Cyprus 1.3 0.9 4.3 0.0 1.3 

Hong Kong 2.7 2.8 1.7 6.6 4.2 

Isle of Man 1.3 1.8 0.9 0.9 1.1 

Jalan 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.2 

Malta 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.2 

Mauritius 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.6 

Nigeria 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.9 0.6 

Seychelles 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.9 0.6 

Singapore 4.0 3.7 0.9 0.0 1.5 

Switzerland 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 

UAE 1.3 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.4 

Uncertain 1.3 0.9 0.9 0.0 0.6 

USA 0.0 5.5 0.0 0.0 1.1 

Total 100.0% 100.0 100.0 100.0% 100.0% 

Page 134



 

31 
 

Annex 6: Proportion of no usual residents in output area on 2011 

Census day by London borough and type of owner 

  
% of 

unoccupied 

% unoccupied 
homes in 

output areas of 
new build 

homes 

% of 
unoccupied 

homes in 
areas of new 

build 
properties 
owned by 
overseas 
investors 

Difference in % 
unoccupied in 
locations of 
all new build 
and overseas 
owners’ new 
build homes 

City of London 20.7 25.5 27.5 2 

Croydon 2.6 9.3 21.7 12.3 

Westminster 11.9 19 17.9 -1.1 

Newham 2 10.2 16.2 5.9 

Kensington and 
Chelsea 

10.5 14.4 13.7 -0.7 

Tower Hamlets 4.6 8.6 13.1 4.5 

Bromley 3.4 9.9 10.2 0.4 

Wandsworth 4 8.9 9.9 1 

Southwark 3 5.4 8.1 2.7 

Ealing 3.2 6 7.4 1.4 

Hackney 2.6 4.2 7 2.8 

Islington 4.7 5.7 6.6 0.9 

Lambeth 3.1 4.2 6.4 2.2 

Harrow 2.8 7.1 5.8 -1.2 

Barking and 
Dagenham 

2.1 6.4 5 -1.4 

Hammersmith 
and Fulham 

4.3 4.6 4.9 0.3 

Hillingdon 3.6 8.1 4.6 -3.5 

Camden 5 4.3 4.3 0 

Richmond upon 
Thames 

3.6 4.8 4.1 -0.7 

Kingston upon 
Thames 

3.1 4.4 4 -0.4 

Barnet 3 4.8 3.9 -0.9 

Greenwich 2.7 3.3 3.4 0.1 

Redbridge 2.4 2.7 3.4 0.7 

Brent 2.7 2.7 3 0.3 

Bexley 2.6 4.1 2.9 -1.1 

Hounslow 2.4 3.1 2.6 -0.5 

Merton 3 3.3 2.5 -0.8 

Lewisham 2.1 2.4 2.3 -0.1 

Waltham Forest 1.9 1.9 2.3 0.4 

Haringey 3.9 3.2 1.9 -1.3 

Enfield 2 2.6 1.9 -0.6 

Sutton 2.2 3 0 -3 

Havering 2.1 2.2 0 -2.2 

Source: Census 2011; Land Registry 

 

 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Homes for Londoners Board 

Date of meeting: 13 June 2017 

Title of paper: Skills and Capacity of the Construction Industry: Homes 
for Londoners Sub-Group Update 
 

To be presented by: Mayor Sir Steve Bullock, Member of the Construction 
Skills Sub-Group 
 

Cleared by: 
 

James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and 
Residential Development and  
Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director –Programme, Policy 
and Services (on behalf of David Lunts, Executive 
Director of Housing & Land) 
 

Classification: Public 
 

1 Executive Summary  

1.1 The Homes for Londoners Board has commissioned three task and finish sub-
groups to consider specific housing and development issues in detail. This 
report provides an update on progress with the work of the Skills and Capacity 
of the Construction Industry sub-group. 

 
2 Recommendations 

2.1 The Board is asked to note: 

a) The  update on the work of the Skills and Capacity of the Construction 
Industry sub-group set out in this report; and 

b) Any verbal update from Mayor Sir Steve Bullock following the sub-group 
meeting scheduled for 6 June 2017. 
 

3 Introduction and Background 

3.1 The Homes for Londoners Skills and Capacity of the Construction Industry sub-
group is chaired by Cllr Peter John OBE and its membership is drawn from the 
construction industry, housing associations, local government and training 
providers. The terms and reference and full membership of the sub-group are 
outlined in Appendix 1. 
 

3.2 The sub-group has met twice and is due to have two more meetings before 
reporting to the Board with its findings and recommendations in September 
2017. 

 

 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 8c



 

 
 

4 Update on the Work of the Sub-Group 

4.1 In advance of its first meeting, sub-group members were provided with a 
comprehensive briefing outlining the scale and nature of the challenge 
regarding construction skills in London. This briefing ensured that all members 
shared an understanding of the challenge, and enabled them to move onto 
productive discussions as soon as possible. 
 

4.2 The sub-group has discussed the following key issues at its two meetings so far: 

 Overall vision for the work of the sub-group, including how to support an 
increase in the proportion of new homes built in London with a higher level 
of pre-manufactured value; 

 The scale and nature of the challenge in relation to construction skills, in 
particular in relation to the impacts of Brexit and an ageing workforce, as 
well as the need to deliver a step-change in housing delivery; 

 The implications for London of the findings of the Farmer Review; 

 The range of industry initiatives already in place to promote a career in 
construction and how they can be better linked up and improved; 

 The skills requirements for a move to the increased use of precision-
manufactured housing; and 

 The need for a more effective way of forecasting and planning for future 
housing demand and the skills needed to build this housing. 

 
4.3 The sub-group is due to consider the following issues at its remaining meetings: 

 Local labour requirements and section 106; 

 The Mayor’s Construction Academy Scheme; and 

 The image of construction. 

 
4.4 While the sub-group is still to consider a number of key issues and discuss and 

agree its final recommendations, it is likely that its final report will focus on the 
following areas: 

 How to improve London’s skills and training model to support construction 
skills, including the Mayor’s Construction Academy Scheme and a new 
approach to planning for skills; 

 Local labour requirements and Section 106; and 

 Leadership and image of the industry 

 An overall target for the proportion of new homes to be built with a higher 
proportion of pre-manufactured value and how this will be supported by an 
improved approach  to skills provision 
 

5 Equality Comments 

5.1 The work of the Skills and Capacity of the Construction Industry sub-group aims 
to increase the supply of housing in London by addressing challenges around 
skills shortages and the supply of labour in the construction industry, as well as 

Page 138



 

 
 

how to promote a move to less labour-intensive forms of construction.  An 
increase in the supply of housing will help to address problems such as 
overcrowding and homelessness, which evidence indicates disproportionately 
affect specific groups, including Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups1 and 
women2. The delivery of high-quality housing will also promote improved health 
and wellbeing, given evidence of an association between poor housing 
conditions and poor health.3 Increasing the supply of affordable housing will 
help to alleviate poverty. Specific protected groups are more likely to experience 
poverty, including households headed by minority ethnic individuals, young 
people and disabled people, refugee and asylum seekers, travellers and gypsy 
groups, and workless households.4 
 

5.2 In addition, the promotion of construction as a positive career should enable a 
more diverse group of people to participate in the construction industry and 
contribute to building London’s future homes and infrastructure. It should also 
ensure that opportunities for a meaningful and well-paid career are available to 
all in London, especially those most at risk of poverty and social exclusion. At 
present women make up only 13% of London’s construction workforce, 
compared to 44% of all workers in the capital and London’s construction 
workforce is older than the city’s overall workforce, with 14% aged 55 or over. 
In addition, only 18% of London’s construction workforce is from a BAME 
background, compared to 27% of London’s workforce overall. A campaign 
targeted at increasing the participation of young people, women and those from 
a BAME background in construction should have a positive impact on levels of 
representation within the construction industry. 

 
5.3 The Mayor’s policies for housing will be published in the draft London Housing 

Strategy and draft London Plan, both of which will be subject to equality impact 
assessment.   

 

6 Next steps 

6.1 The next steps in the work of the sub-groups are summarised below: 

Activity Timeline 

Next two meetings of sub-group June – July 2017 

Production of final report for HfL Board  
 

September 2017 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 -  Terms of reference and membership for HfL Skills and Capacity of the 
Construction Industry sub-group 
 
 

                                                 
1 DCLG (2016): statutory data on homelessness,  
2 ibid 
3 Shelter (2013): People living in bad housing; Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2004): the impact of 
overcrowding on health and education;  
4 Equality and Human Rights Commission (2016): Is England fair: the state of equalities and human rights 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

 

 

Membership: Homes for Londoners Board sub-group - construction 

skills  
1. Cllr Peter John OBE (Leader, Southwark Council and Executive Member for business, 

skills and Brexit, London Councils) (Chair) 

2. Mayor Sir Steve Bullock (Mayor of Lewisham and Executive Member for Housing, 

London Councils) 

3. Cllr Ravi Govindia CBE (Leader, Wandsworth Council) 

4. Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor, Planning, Regeneration and Skills, GLA) 

5. Jo Negrini (Chief Executive, Croydon Council) 

6. Mark Mitchener (Managing Director, Rydon)  

7. Steve Trusler (Accommodation Sector Leader (Europe), Laing O’Rourke)  

8. Victoria Whittle (Head of Ready2Work, Affinity Sutton) 

9. Andy Carson (Operations Director, Berkeley Homes) 

10. Suzannah Nichol MBE (Chief Executive, Build UK) 

11. Brian Berry (CEO, Federation of Master Builders) 

12. Mark Farmer (CEO, CAST) 

13. David Montague CBE, (Chair, g15 and Chief Executive, L&Q) 

14. Gemma Bourne, (Head of Social Sustainability and Lendlease Foundation, Lendlease) 

15. Yvonne Kelly (Principal & CEO, Barking & Dagenham College) 

16. Robbie Erbmann (Head of Housing Strategy, TfL) 

 
 

Terms of reference: Homes for Londoners Board sub-group - 
construction skills 
 
Context 
The construction sector is a major employer in the capital, but 90,000 skilled workers are 
expected to retire from their construction jobs in London between 2012 and 2022, with 
total demand for new skilled workers in the capital reaching 133,000 during this period. 
The result of the referendum on membership of the European Union is expected to 
increase pressure on labour availability in a sector which heavily relies on non-British 
workers. 

Whilst there may be a temporary slow-down in commercial development which could 
create some slack in the labour market, the need to approximately double housing 
delivery is potentially constrained by labour availability. The Farmer Review1 reports that 
pressure on labour availability is already having an impact on housing delivery in the UK, 
leading to capacity-induced cost inflation for construction and so endangering project 

                                                 
1 An independent review of the UK’s construction labour model by Mark Farmer, commissioned 
by BEIS and CLG: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/construction-labour-market-
in-the-uk-farmer-review 

Page 141



 

 
 

viability in some cases. This suggests that there is a need to not only address skills 
shortages and the supply of labour, but also to move to new, less labour intensive 
methods of housing construction (e.g. pre-manufacturing homes offsite) in order to 
underpin the step-change in housing delivery required in London. 

In the March 2015 Budget government announced that it would be “devolving further 
powers to the Mayor of London, including over skills… which will allow the Mayor to… 
tailor decisions over skills provision to London’s needs”.   No formal devolution deal has 
been signed yet, but London government is revisiting a broader set of asks around skills 
devolution including devolving 16-19 skills funding, retention of unspent revenue by 
London’s Apprenticeship Levy-paying employers to create more apprenticeships, and 
devolution and management of careers information, advice and guidance activity.  

The Mayor has a manifesto commitment to create a Construction Academy and the 
Deputy Mayor for Housing & Residential Development is keen to explore how we can 
best support approaches to pre-manufacturing homes.  

Issues for consideration by the sub-group 

 How can the supply of skills training better meet the needs of construction 

employers throughout their supply chains and how can these needs be better and 

more consistently articulated? 

 What needs to happen in order for more young people, and women in particular, 

to choose to enter the construction industry? 

 How can construction become more attractive as a career? 

 How can new the planning system and new housing developments better support 

the provision of training and apprenticeship opportunities? 

 What developer-led models of skills provision already exist in the UK and 

elsewhere that can be replicated? 

 How can skills devolution and the Apprenticeship Levy be utilised as an 

opportunity to deliver the construction sector’s priorities? 

 How can the sub-group help to inform the development of the proposals for the 
Mayor’s Construction Academy Scheme? 

 What are the likely impacts of the EU referendum decision on overseas labour in 

London’s construction industry?  

 What are the implications for the supply of skills of a shift to pre-manufacturing 

of homes? 

Outputs 
The sub-group should prepare a report for the Homes for Londoners Board highlighting 
their findings, with a particular focus on any proposals to improve skills provision and 
promote industry capacity, along with any recommendations on change or devolution 
required from central government. This report should also be shared with the Skills for 
Londoners Taskforce. 

Format/research methods 
This project will not require any new primary research. The main focus of study will be 
interviews, roundtables or other engagement with organisations providing skills and, 
even more importantly, employers with a need for skilled workers. The Board will be 
supported by a briefing document prepared by London Councils and the GLA. 

 

 

Page 142



Homes for Londoners Board 

Date of meeting: 13 June 2017 

Title of paper: New Homes for Londoners Sub-Groups 

To be presented by: James Clark, Housing Policy Manager 

Cleared by: 
 

James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and 
Residential Development and  
Jamie Ratcliff, Assistant Director –Programme, Policy 
and Services (on behalf of David Lunts, Executive 
Director of Housing & Land) 
 

Classification: Public  
 

 

1 Executive Summary  

1.1 This paper asks the Board to consider whether it wishes to commission any new 
sub-groups. It identifies two potential areas of focus for any such group or groups 
and invites members to share any further suggestions with the Chair before the 
meeting. 
 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 That the Board agrees whether or not it wishes to commission new sub-groups. 
 

3 Introduction and Background 

3.1 The terms of reference for the Homes for Londoners Board state that it will 
“…commission task and finish working groups as appropriate to investigate and 
develop proposals to boost housing delivery.” To date, the Board has 
commissioned three such groups, to investigate and develop proposals relating to 
new models of delivery, overseas investment and construction skills. 
 

3.2 The groups investigating new models of delivery and overseas investment have 
prepared reports and recommendations, which will be discussed at this meeting. 
This means that the Board could, if it chooses, commission one or two new groups. 
 

3.3 Through previous Board meetings and informal discussion with members, potential 
areas of focus for any new groups have been identified as follows: 

 the provision of social infrastructure to support housing supply; and 

 the quality of new homes and management of any defects. 
 

3.4 Any group considering the former issue should be led by the boroughs, given that 
their remit encompasses the provision of a good deal of social infrastructure. 
 
 

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



3.5 Any group considering the latter issue should primarily involve developers and 
housing associations, as the issues of construction quality and defect management 
pertain to all new homes.  
 

3.6 Board members may wish to suggest alternative areas of focus for any further 
group or groups. If so, they are asked to share these with the Chair of the Board in 
advance of the meeting.  Any suggestions received in advance of the meeting will 
be shared and reviewed as part of this agenda item. 
 

3.7 If the Board wishes to commission a further group or groups at this point in time, 
GLA and London Councils officers will draft proposed terms of reference and 
suggest membership. These will be circulated to the Board, so that members can 
review them before any new group or groups are convened. 
 

4 Objectives & Expected Outcomes 

4.1 Any new group or groups the Board commissions will investigate the subjects 
agreed over coming months and prepare recommendations for the consideration 
of the Board. 
 

5 Equality Comments 

5.1 Not applicable at this stage. 
 

6 Financial Comments 

6.1 Not applicable at this stage. 
 

7 Legal Comments  

7.1 Not applicable at this stage. 
 

8 Next steps 

8.1 The next steps, should the Board decide to commission a new group or groups, are 
proposed as:  

Activity Timeline 

Terms of reference and membership to be drafted June 2017 

Terms of reference and membership to be agreed July 2017 

Group(s) convened Summer 2017 

Group(s) carry out investigations Summer and 
autumn 2017 

Group(s) share findings and recommendations with the Board Late autumn 2017 

Board agrees next steps December 2017 

 
Appendices: 
None. 

Page 144


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 28 March 2017 (Part reserved)
	03b - HfL-Minutes-28-March-17-(private)

	4 Actions Arising
	5 Engagement with the New Government
	6 London Housing Strategy (Part reserved)
	06b London Housing Strategy appendix 1

	7 Homes for Londoners Affordable Homes Programme 2016-21: 2017 Bidding Round
	8a New Delivery Models: Homes for Londoners Sub-Group Report
	08a1 New models of delivery membership and ToR
	08a2 Case studies

	8b Overseas Investment: Homes for Londoners Sub-Group Report
	08b1 Overseas buyers - Membership and ToR
	08b2 Consolidated reseach note
	08b2a Overseas Buyers project brief
	08b2b LSE Overseas Investment report
	08b2c University of York data report

	8c Skills and Capacity of the Construction Industry: Homes for Londoners Sub-Group Update
	08c1 Construction Skills Membership

	9 New Homes for Londoners Sub-Groups

